

2014

REPORT TO CITES:

CITES-Listed Species at Risk from Illegal Trafficking in Bushmeat; Results of a 2012 Study in Switzerland's International Airports







Kathy L. Wood and Bruno Tenger Tengwood Organization Nadja V. Morf and Adelgunde Kratzer Zürich Institute for Forensic Medicine, University of Zürich, Forensic Genetics

REPORT TO CITES:

CITES-Listed Species at Risk from Illegal Trafficking in Bushmeat; Results of a 2012 Study in Switzerland's International Airports

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Wood, K.L.^a, B. Tenger^a, N.V. Morf^b, A. Kratzer^b

^a Tengwood Organization

Postfach Hertistrasse 26 8304 Wallisellen Switzerland <u>www.tengwood.org</u>

^b Zürich Institute of Forensic Medicine, University of Zürich, Forensic Genetics

University of Zürich Winterthurerstrasse 190 8057 Zürich Switzerland <u>www.irm.uzh.ch</u> © Tengwood Organization • Postfach Hertistrasse 26 • 8304 Wallisellen • Switzerland • <u>www.tengwood.org</u> • All rights reserved

Cover Photos and Design: K.L. Wood and B. Tenger/©Tengwood Organization

Photos Credits: All photos included in this report were taken during the study period from confiscations that occurred in Swiss airports (Flughafen Zürich or Genève Aéroport). Photo credits are copyright K.L. Wood and B. Tenger/©Tengwood Organization; some photos were provided for use in the study by Rudolf Müller of the Swiss Federal Veterinary office/BLV and by Swiss Customs Administration/EZV.

Suggested Citation: Wood KL, Tenger B, Morf NV, Kratzer A (2014) Report to CITES: CITES-Listed Species at Risk from the Illegal Trafficking of Bushmeat; Results of a 2012 study in Switzerland's International Airports. An Unpublished Report to CITES, Switzerland, 127 pages.

Table of Contents

TABLES.	6
ADSTRACT	/
	0
	. 10
Bushmeat: An Underestimated Aspect of the Illegal Trade in Wildlife Products	.10
Cause for Concern: The Overexploitation of Vulnerable Species	12
Cause for Concern: The Spread of Disease Pathogens	13
The Bushmeat Trade in Europe: Previous Studies and this Study	. 14
METHODS	17
I. Data Collection during the Study	. 17
Swiss Airports - Confiscation and Search Protocols	17
Bushmeat Metrics; Defining Measures	.17
Confiscation Scenarios in this Study	. 18
Supplementary Data - Swiss Customs Records of All Meat and Milk Confiscations	. 19
II. Objectives of the Study	. 19
1.) Characterizing the Illegal Bushmeat Arriving in Switzerland	. 19
Regions of Meat Origin and Flights Carrying Bushmeat into Switzerland	. 19
Identifying Unique Physical Characteristics of Bushmeat	. 19
The Size of Bushmeat Confiscations	.20
2.) DNA analysis of suspect meats; Identifying Species at Risk from the Bushmeat trade	. 20
DNA Methodology	. 20
Morphological Identifications	.21
Determining an Overall Quantity for Species at Risk from the Bushmeat Trade in Switzerland	.21
3) Determining the Quantity of Bushmeat Arriving in Switzerland	. 22
Targeted Flights	. 22
Search Effort; Proportion of Targeted Passengers Searched	. 22
The Total Number of Passengers Searched in Switzerland's Airports	.23
Average Size of Buchmeat Confiscations	.23 22
Determining How Much Bushmeat Arrives in Switzerland: Estimating Smugglers and Amounts	.23
	.25
RESULIS:	.25
1. Overall businneat confiscations in this study	
1.) Opportunistic Collection of Suspected Bushmeat in 2012	. 25
Determining Species at Risk from the Bushmeat Trade in Switzerland	.25
2.) CITES/BVET Control Day Exercises	.26
Determining the Proportion of Meat vs. Bushmeat coming into Switzerland	.26
II. Smuggling Regions; Bushmeat Arrival into Switzerland	. 29
Bushmeat Smuggling – Africa as a Region of Concern for Switzerland	. 29
Customs Records of Meat Confiscations from Africa	. 29
Airlines Carrying Bushmeat into Switzerland.	. 30
Departure Point of Bushmeat; Origin of Flights Carrying Bushmeat into Switzerland	. 30
III. Identifying Characteristics of Bushmeat	.3/

Bushmeat Preparation, Preservation, Presentation and Packaging for Switzerland IV. The Size of Bushmeat Confiscations – Trends in This Study	37 48
Illegal Meat and Bushmeat Confiscations over the Past 5 Years – How Big are They? Bushmeat is Heavier than All Other Types of Meat Confiscations V. DNA Analysis of Bushmeat for Species Identification	48 48 53
Identification of Species: Success of the DNA Analysis Genus Level and Morphological Identifications DNA Analysis Did Not Proceed – Commercially Processed Meats Animals Groups at Risk from the Bushmeat Trade in Switzerland CITES-Listed Species at Risk from the Bushmeat Trade Species Specific Results Primates Pangolins Duikers Other Ungulates Reptiles Carnivores	53 53 54 55 55 56 56 56 57 57 57
Other Wild Species at Risk from the Bushmeat Trade in Switzerland Rodents Invertebrates Birds	57 57 58 58
Fish and Domestic Species Found as Smuggled Meats Fish Domestic Species	58 58 59
VI. A Model for Determining an Annual Amount of Bushmeat into Switzerland	65
 Components of the Model	65 65 66 66 66 67 67 67 68
Model Summary and Results Model of Meat Origin vs. Flight Origin A More Sophisticated Model of the Amount of Bushmeat Smuggled into Switzerland is in Progres	70 70 ss 71
VII. Rate of Increase – Is More Bushmeat Coming?	76
Number/Kilograms of Bushmeat Confiscations in the Airport Confiscation Databases DISCUSSION:	76 79
The Problem of Bushmeat Smuggling into Switzerland	79
I. THE PATH OF BUSHMEAT; FROM AFRICA TO EUROPE	79

Bushmeat is Being Imported into Many European and Other Developed World Ports of Entry	79
Africa as a Region of Concern in Regard to Bushmeat Imports	80
West and Central African Airports; Cameroon and Brussels Belgium as Hubs for Bushmeat Expo	ort 80
The Consumption of Wild Meat – A 'Taste of Home' or a New Trend toward Eating 'Exotic Mea	ts' 81
Ease of Transport and Ports of Entry – How Does Bushmeat Travel to Switzerland?	82
Wildlife Trafficking – Monetary Gains Drive the Trade into Europe	83
Economics of the Bushmeat Trade - A Lucrative Market and Organized Sales	84
II. THE CONSERVATION OF SPECIES	85
Species at Risk from the Bushmeat Trade in Switzerland	85
The Smuggling of CITES-Listed Species	86
Of Primates, Pangolins, and other Protected Fauna	86
Primates	86
Pangolins	87
Duikers	87
Carnivores and Reptiles	88
Non-CITES Species Found as Bushmeat during this Study	88
III. FOOD SECURITY AND PUBLIC HEALTH	90
Illegal Meat Smuggling and Disease	90
Summary Conclusions	92
RECOMMENDATIONS:	94
An Overview of Recommendations from this Study	94
 I. CHANGING POLICIES Switzerland as an Example for Europe – Curbing the Bushmeat Problem on our soil National Policies; Changes in Penalties and Prosecutions Airline and Trans-border Responsibilities Changes in CITES Regulations at the International Level 	94 94 94 94 95 96
II. FINDING THE BUSHMEAT: TOOLS TO FIGHT THE TRADE	97
DNA Testing as a Tool to Fight Bushmeat Smuggling	97
DNA Testing of Meats to Determine a More Accurate Quantity of Bushmeat	97
On the Frontlines in Finding Bushmeat – Support for Customs	98
III. COOPERATION BETWEEN ALL PARTIES IN REGARD TO BUSHMEAT SMUGGLING	101
Trafficking of Bushmeat – A Global Problem	101
Bushmeat Arriving in European Airports	101
Cooperation with Africa – An Important Step in a Global Problem	102
Political Cooperation with Africa:	103
IV. FURTHER STUDY OF THE BUSHMEAT TRADE BY CONSERVATIONISTS	104
Further Study of the Bushmeat Issue inside Africa	104
Further Study in Switzerland	105
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	106
BIBLIOGRAPHY	108

TABLES

TABLE 1: The total number of confiscations and their weight in kilograms and the total number of
samples collected for all confiscations27
TABLE 2: The total number of samples and kilograms after identification of samples into meat types27
TABLE 3: The number of confiscations, samples, and kilograms for all confiscations containing bushmeat,
collected under the two different confiscation scenarios
TABLE 4: The total number of samples and kilograms for the types of meats identified in this study,
collected under the two different confiscation scenarios
TABLE 5: Regions and countries of illegal bushmeat imports
TABLE 6: The number of confiscations containing bushmeat and total kilograms for all airlines and flights
carrying bushmeat into Switzerland during this study
TABLE 7: The type of presentation for all bushmeat samples and kilograms arriving in Swiss airports
during this study
TABLE 8: The type of preparation for all bushmeat samples and kilograms arriving in Swiss airports
during this study
TABLE 9: A combination of preparation and presentation for bushmeat samples and kilograms
TABLE 10: A two Sample Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test - Results from <i>this study</i> for confiscations containing
bushmeat vs. those containing no bushmeat
TABLE 11: A Two Sample Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test – Results from the 2012 Swiss Customs records for
confiscations recognized by Customs agents in 2012 as bushmeat or wild meat vs. all other meat
confiscations
TABLE 12: Success rate of DNA identifications for samples analyzed during the study60
TABLE 13: Wild animal groups found as bushmeat in Swiss Airports in 2012
TABLE 14: A Two Sample Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test – Results from comparison of presence or absence of
CITES-listed species for all bushmeat confiscations from this study
TABLE 15: Wild species found as bushmeat in our study. 62
TABLE 16: Domestic and fish species found during this study 63
TABLE 17: Summary of Control Days at Zürich Flughafen and Genève Aéroport: search effort for targeted
flights, overall airport passenger volumes, and the amounts and proportion of illegal meat confiscations
in this study73
TABLE 18: The Two Models for determining how much bushmeat may be arriving in Switzerland
annually; Meat Origin vs. Flight Origin74

FIGURES

FIGURE 1: Countries from which bushmeat was smuggled into Switzerland during this study	31
FIGURE 2: Regional Confiscations and Kilograms 2012.	32
FIGURE 3: Region of Origin for Kilograms Described by Customs Agents as Bushmeat or Wild Meat in t	the
Customs Records for 2008-2012	33
FIGURE 4: Airlines which carried bushmeat confiscations into Switzerland in 2012	34
FIGURE 5: Meat Origin vs. Flight Origin	35
FIGURE 6: Bushmeat preparation	40
FIGURE 7: Identifying Bushmeat - whole carcasses:	41
FIGURE 8: Identifying Bushmeat - Partial Carcasses: Partial carcasses:	42
FIGURE 9: Pieced Bushmeat - examples of cryptic/pieced bushmeat:	42
FIGURE 10: Characteristic Features of Bushmeat; HEADS	43
FIGURE 11: Characteristic Features of Bushmeat: APPENDAGES (paws/hands/feet/ hooves)	44
FIGURE 12: Characteristic Features of Bushmeat: BONES (ribs/vertebrae)	44
FIGURE 13: Characteristic Features of Bushmeat: BONES (long bones of the limbs)	45
FIGURE 14: Characteristic Features of Bushmeat: PELT/HAIR or SKIN/HIDE	45
FIGURE 15: Characteristic Features of Bushmeat: MOLD or DISTRESS/DISCOLORATION	45
FIGURE 16: Bushmeat packaging;	46
FIGURE 17: The Total Amount of Meat (in kg) for all meat confiscations smuggled by passengers into	
Swiss airports in 2012	49
FIGURE 18: Confiscations of bushmeat vs. non-bushmeat in this study; Bushmeat confiscations were	
significantly heavier than other types of meat confiscations	49
FIGURE 19: A boxplot of the mean amount of meat (in kg) from this study for confiscations containing	S
bushmeat vs. those confiscations which contained no bushmeat	50
FIGURE 20: A boxplot of the mean for confiscations recognized by Swiss Customs as bushmeat or wild	1
animal meat vs. all other meat confiscations from Customs Records of all meat confiscations in 2012	51
FIGURE 21: The Estimated Amount (in kg) for all species collected during the study	60
FIGURE 22: All Bushmeat confiscations; a comparison of the weight of all bushmeat confiscations with	nin
which CITES-listed species are present vs. those with no CITES-listed species present	61
FIGURE 23: The Proportion of the Total Meat Confiscations and Kilograms in Swiss Airports Recognize	d
as Bushmeat for 2008-2012	72
FIGURE 24: Differences in Bushmeat Proportions at Swiss Airports; the proportion of the total	
confiscations and meat kilograms that were described by Swiss Customs agents as bushmeat or wild	
meat in the Customs records in 2008-2012 for Flughafen Zürich vs. Genève Aéroport	72
FIGURE 25: The amount (in kg) of confiscations recognized/recorded by Swiss Customs agents as	
bushmeat or wild animal meat in passenger luggage arriving in Zürich Flughafen and in Genève Aérop	ort
from 2008-2012	77
FIGURE 26:Exponential Rate of Increase; the amount (in kg) of all confiscations recognized/recorded k	бу
Swiss customs agents as bushmeat or wild animal meat arriving in passenger luggage in Swiss Airport	S
from 2008-2012, fit to an exponential trend line in Microsoft Excel	77

ABSTRACT

Illegal meats arrive daily in Europe's airports and some of this includes meat from wild species. The trade in wild meat or "bushmeat" for human consumption is an often overlooked, but no less harmful aspect of the illegal trade in wildlife products. Due to the black market nature of the trade, the smuggling of wild meats is difficult to track and deter, but can have a devastating impact on animal populations of trafficked species. It also has serious implications for human public health by increasing the risk of emergent disease introduction to naïve populations.

This study describes the illegal trade in bushmeat arriving at the two largest international airports in Switzerland; Flughafen Zürich and Genève Aéroport over a one year period in 2012. Our study is the first of its kind to characterize and quantify confiscations of bushmeat smuggled into Switzerland for human consumption. The majority of bushmeat arriving in Switzerland originates in West or Central African countries, with Cameroon being the most frequent country of origin. While the meat originates in Africa, most arrives on transit flights departing from within Europe. Confiscations of bushmeat were significantly larger than other types of meat confiscations. Bushmeat sometimes arrives as whole or partial carcasses, but was most often pieced, making species recognition difficult. The use of mitochondrial DNA techniques allowed us to identify those species at risk from the trade. Over *one-third* of the species we found arriving as bushmeat in Swiss airports were CITES-listed species, and included pangolins (*Manis* spp.), primates (*Cercopithecus* spp.), duikers (*Philantomba monticola* and *Cephalophus dorsalis*), tortoises (*Kinixys erosa*), and small carnivores (*Aonyx capensis*). A number of other species arrived as bushmeat, including rodents, wild pigs and other ungulates, reptiles, birds and invertebrates.

The international movement of wild meat is not well documented or quantified. Information from airport searches by Swiss Customs agents during controlled exercises meant to monitor illegal trafficking were used to provide a rough estimate of the scale of the bushmeat problem in Switzerland, suggesting that even in this one, small European country, at least 40 tonnes are arriving annually and likely more - a model of bushmeat smuggling created with University of Bern is currently in progress that suggests between 500 and 1500 tonnes may be arriving yearly. Illegal bushmeat imports are known to occur in most developed world ports of entry, and are likely to be contributing to the problems of species conservation in source countries. However, illegal meats coming into European ports of entry are routinely destroyed to reduce the risk of disease introduction and important information about species at risk from the trade is being lost in this process.

The trade in wild meat is occurring on a global scale, and is likely to be on the increase as it provides lucrative profits for smugglers with very few consequences for being caught. More effective policies and penalties for bushmeat smuggling in Switzerland, as well as in source countries, are a necessity. We discuss the issues in regard to bushmeat smuggling into developed world ports and outline a number of possible avenues for strengthening detection, deterrence and prosecution of bushmeat smugglers.

Key words: bushmeat, wild meat, species identification, mitochondrial DNA, wildlife trafficking, meat imports, smuggling, Customs, airports, Switzerland, Africa, emergent disease, policy, primate, pangolin, duiker, tortoise, small carnivore

INTRODUCTION:



INTRODUCTION

Bushmeat: An Underestimated Aspect of the Illegal Trade in Wildlife Products

In this report, we consider the often overlooked problem of the bushmeat trade – or more specifically, the international, illegal trafficking of wild meat for consumption. The term 'bushmeat' was first used to describe meat originating from Africa, where the forest is referred to as 'bush', and hence 'bushmeat' describes the meat of any wild species coming from an African forest. This term has since been adopted for *any non-domestic (i.e. wild) species harvested for food* (Nasi et al 2008), and the expressions 'wild meat' or 'exotic meat' are often used synonymously, as they are thought to be less region-specific (Milner-Gulland et al 2003). For this study, we defined bushmeat as *any type of wild meat for consumption (excluding fish), and coming from any region*. This included wild species of mammals, birds, reptiles, and invertebrates that were illegally smuggled as food items in passenger luggage, cargo and mail arriving in Switzerland via two ports of entry; Flughafen Zürich and Genève Aéroport.

Wild meat can come from a number of regions; but in particular, Sub-Saharan Africa and South-East Asia are known to be the major supply regions (UNODC 2010; Haken 2011). Both Africa and Asia still have large, undisturbed tracts of forest where some of the world's most unique biodiversity remains (Myers et al 2000; Groombridge and Jenkins/UNEP-WCMC 2002). Wildlife coming from these regions is therefore at the greatest risk from illegal trade, including the use of wild animals as meat for human consumption. The direction of flow in legal and illegal wildlife trafficking is from biodiverse areas to more developed nations, most notably, China, USA, and the EU are the largest consumers of wildlife products (IFAW 2013; Haken 2011; Engler and Parry-Jones 2007; Ellis and Turner 2007; Milieu 2006; TRAFFIC 2013a).

The trade in wild meat was first documented by investigative journalist and photographer, Karl Ammann (Ammann 2013), who is credited with bringing the issue to the attention of the scientific community in the 1990s through photographs of 'bushmeat' in Africa (Ammann and Pierce 1995; Rose 1996; Ape Alliance 1998; Ammann 2000; Rose et al 2003; Furniss 2005; Faris 2007). His work featured the Great Apes (Ammann 1995; Peterson and Ammann 2004) and inspired bushmeat awareness campaigns in zoos in Europe (EAZA 2013; Carroll 2002, 2009; EAZA 2010) and the U.S. via the Bushmeat Crisis Task Force (AZA 2013; Rose 1999; Bailey 2000; Kohn and Eves 2006; Eves et al 2008; BCTF 2009). In the past 10 years, however, there has been decreasing attention to the bushmeat issue and little effort to investigate the trade in wild meat in the majority of the developed world¹. Most studies of the bushmeat trade occur in Africa (Redmond et al 2006), with very little information available about *illegal bushmeat exports out of Africa*, and *their subsequent import into European and other developed world countries*. However, illegal wildlife confiscations, including bushmeat, are a known entity at many major airports and other ports of entry in Europe and other developed world countries and internal statistics on these confiscations of wild meat do exist. But these records are not typically opened to the public

¹ Ongoing efforts to monitor the bushmeat trade in Europe include the Zoological Society of London's (ZSL) Institute of Zoology Bushmeat Researche Programme (ZSL 2013a) and the U.K. Bushmeat Working Group (UKBMWG), which holds annual meetings of U.K. government officials and other interested parties to discuss the trade in bushmeat (ZSL 2013b; UKBMWG 2013). In the U.S., the Bushmeat Crisis Taskforce disbanded in 2009 (BCTF 2009), but a program by Brasheres (2013) at UC Berkeley has been compiling information on the dynamics of bushmeat black-markets in North America and Europe over the past several years. The Convention on Biological Diversity's Liaison Group on Bushmeat is an international effort by UNEP to develop policy recommendations for sustainable use and conservation of bushmeat species inside Africa (Nasi et al 2008; CITES 2011a; CITES 2011b). Besides these efforts, there is little attention to the bushmeat issue in Europe and other developed world countries.

and are therefore under-utilized by conservationists and policy-makers, and there have been few attempts at scientific study of the bushmeat trade inside Europe.

The only systematic study of the scale and quantity of bushmeat coming into a major European port is by Chaber et al (2010), which look at bushmeat arriving at the Charles De Gaulle Airport in France in 2008. The focus of the Chaber study was on *direct Air France flights from West and Central Africa* and results showed that 8 to 16% (on average 7%) of passengers on these flights were smuggling bushmeat in their luggage (Chaber 2009, 2010). Chaber's study found a range of species, including many of the same species found in the study described in this report, and including a number that are protected under the Convention for the International Trade in Endangered Species (CITES). Chaber estimated that approximately 5 tonnes of bushmeat *per week* is smuggled into France via Paris' Roissy-Charles de Gaulle airport in personal baggage alone. The extrapolation from this – of 270 tonnes of bushmeat smuggled *per year* into this one airport in France - is a staggering but very real figure for threatened and endangered species. Studies of the international trade in bushmeat such as Chaber's, which described and quantified the amount of illegally trafficked bushmeat, are rare, but are a necessity in today's world of rapid, global movement of goods. Our study describes the bushmeat trade in Swiss Airports and was modeled after the Chaber study, with the aim to compare results and to encourage similar studies in other developed ports in Europe and worldwide.

The Existing Framework for the Trade in Wild Meats

The global trade in vulnerable, threatened and endangered animal products, including game meats, is regulated by the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES). CITES is an international agreement between governments, conceived of in the 1960s, when the threat to wildlife from illegal trafficking was first recognized, and put in place in 1973 to regulate this trade. CITES currently has 178 member states (CITES 2013a), and the treaty's stated aim is *"to ensure that international trade in specimens of wild animals and plants does not threaten their survival"* (CITES 2013b). CITES-listed species are those species of animals and plants that are protected against over-exploitation in international trade. Protection comes via the CITES appendices (I, II and III), which include approximately 5,000 species of mammals, birds, reptiles, invertebrates, and fish. A CITES Appendix I listing is the most restrictive and bans trade entirely, whereas Appendix listings II and III allow some trade, with proper documentation and permits issued from the credible, government authority of a CITES member state (CITES 2013c).

Despite the well-intentioned goals of CITES and national policies, protection for vulnerable species is not always adequate within the existing framework. CITES regulations result in protection for species *via limiting the numbers of legal imports or exports, within the context of trade*. National laws within CITES member countries must exist that protect animals against over-exploitation, and must also be enforced by that member state, which is not always the case. In regard to animal exports from wildlife range countries in Africa, corruption or mismanagement by policy makers, government officials, and others often undermines the best intentions of national and international laws and the CITES regulations aimed at protecting species in trade. The result is often inadequate protection of vulnerable species within the existing framework. And in the case of illegal smuggling of wildlife, which occurs outside of existing laws or CITES regulations, protection becomes non-existent.

In Switzerland, the Federal Veterinary Office (*Bundesamt für Veterinärwesen, FVO/BVET*) was responsible for the regulation of animal imports through January of 2014, when it merged with the

Department of Food Safety (Bundesamt für Gesundheit/BAG) to become the Federal Food Safety and Veterinary Office (Das Bundesamt für Lebensmittelsicherheit und Veterinärwesen, FSVO/BLV)². The Federal Veterinary Authorities in Switzerland work closely with Swiss Customs (Eidgenössische Zollverwaltung /EZV) to prevent illegal smuggling of animal and plant products across national borders and protect humans, local livestock and wildlife from the threat posed by illegally smuggled animal products. Swiss Customs agents are on the frontline of the bushmeat issue and routinely carry out searches of passenger luggage, cargo and mail, during which all meat and milk products from outside the EU are confiscated (Swiss Customs Administration 2013). The disease risks inherent in imported animal products are the primary reason for the prohibition of meat and milk products arriving in Switzerland and the EU from third countries (EU Commission 2004; Commission Regulation (EC) No 745/2004 of 16 April 2004 laying down measures with regard to imports of products of animal origin for personal consumption) (European Commission 2010, 2013). An agreement between Switzerland and the EU harmonized Swiss food laws with existing EU regulations to strengthen border controls in regard to the import of agricultural products and food of animal origin (Swiss Confederation/Schweizerische Eidgenossenschaft 2002; BAG/Bundesamt für Gesundheit 2010) and a number of additional amendments to EU Regulations and Swiss laws pertaining to imports from third countries for all products of animal origin, including meat, exist (FVO/BVET 2007, 2008, 2009, 2013a, 2013b; UNEP-WCMC 2013a). However, even in developed world countries such as Switzerland, protection of species is not always adequate within these regulations, such as is the case with bushmeat. For example, national policies in place to protect humans from the potential disease risks inherent in meat imports do not necessarily protect those species vulnerable to the bushmeat trade.

Cause for Concern: The Overexploitation of Vulnerable Species

The international trade in bushmeat and other animal products is of concern because it is contributing to the overexploitation of species from source regions. Unique species and ecosystems are vulnerable to this trade, especially the forests of West and Central Africa which is currently the most heavily exploited region in regard to wild meat consumption (Fa et al 2002). This includes the Congo basin of Central Africa (Fa et al 2003; CBFP 2010), the Guinean Forests of West Africa (Oates et al 2004), the Cross-Sanaga forest region of Nigeria and Cameroon (Fa et al 2006), and the island of Bioko (Hearn and Morra 2001). These regions are made more vulnerable by also having growing human populations which rely on bushmeat as a protein source, use unsustainable hunting practices and have limited farming cultures. An intercontinental comparison of bushmeat consumption by Fa et al (2002) estimated that over 5 million tons of mammals feeds millions in the tropics, with 4.9 million tons of this coming from Afrotropical forests. The forests of the Amazon Basin in South America encompass another large region of tropical forest also known to be exploited for their wildlife, including wild meat for consumption (Fa et al 2002; Rushton 2005; Altherr 2007; Giovanni 2006; Renctas 2001). However, it was estimated that while 60% of mammalian species in the Congo basin forests were harvested unsustainably for their meat, few in the Amazon basin were (Fa et al 2002). Livestock farming may provide alternative protein sources in the Amazonian region, alleviating a dependence on wild meat, although still degrading habitat (Rushton 2005).

² In January of 2014, the Federal Veterinary Office/Bundesamt für Veterinärwesen (FVO/BVET) and the Department of Food Safety/Bundesamt für Gesundheit (BAG) were merged into a new Federal Office of Food Safety and Veterinary (FSVO)/ Bundesamt für Lebensmittelsicherheit und Veterinärwesen (BLV). The FSVO/BLV is the new governing body for all matters pertaining to food safety, nutrition, animal health, animal welfare and protection of species in international trade within Switzerland (FSVO/BLV 2014). During 2012, the period in which this study occurred, the Federal Veterinary Office/Bundesamt für Veterinärwesen (FVO/BVET) was still in place.

Primates were used as indicator species in this study as they are some of the most vulnerable species to the bushmeat trade. Large-bodied, long-lived animals which give birth to few offspring in which they invest time and energy have slow growth rates and are therefore at higher risk from over-exploitation for their meat (Purvis 2001; Brashares 2003). Primates are of particular concern when considering lifehistory characteristics; they are some of the largest animals in African forests, with long periods to maturity and very low reproductive rates, typically giving birth to one offspring in which mothers must invest substantial time and energy (Gage 1998; Ross 1998; Chapman et al 1999; Kappeler and Pereira 2003; Alberts and Altmann 2003). Great apes in particular are very large-bodied and nurse offspring for a period of years, making them especially vulnerable to the dynamics of the bushmeat trade (Bowen-Jones 1998, 2002; Cowlishaw and Dunbar 2000; Isaac and Cowlishaw 2004). Despite this, the three most common animal groups found as bushmeat in most African markets are rodents, ungulates, and primates (Falconer 1990; Ntiamoa-Baidu 1997; Wilkie and Carpenter 1999; Fa et al 2005; Nasi et al 2011). Primates are sometimes even a preferred meat and hunting is known to have depleted populations in many areas and is one of the most immediate threats to primate populations (Bowen-Jones and Pendry 1999; Oates 1999; Hearn and Morra 2001; Barnes 2002; Bowen-Jones et al 2002, 2003; Grubb et al 2003; Chapman et al 2006). Close to half of the 634 known species of primates are considered endangered or threatened by the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN 2013a) and all primates are listed in either CITES Appendices I or II. Finding them in Swiss airports would indicate that the international component of the bushmeat trade could be having a substantial impact on these and other vulnerable species.

Cause for Concern: The Spread of Disease Pathogens

In addition to depleting endangered wild animal populations, one of the most serious issues in regard to the import of bushmeat is the health risk it poses to humans and also to domestic and wild animal populations in the importing country through the introduction of disease pathogens. Concern about the introduction of disease is one of the primary motivators for trade restrictions (Kimball 2006; Brown 2010). Most existing regulations in regard to meat imports have to do with known diseases of domestic animals that, if accidentally imported in animal products, have the potential to threaten food security, such as the 2001 outbreak of Foot and Mouth Disease in the U.K. (Scudamore and Harris 2002; Thomson et al 2002, 2003; Wooldridge 2006). Of particular concern are zoonoses (i.e. diseases that can be passed between animals and humans); of the 1415 known human pathogens, 61% are zoonotic (Taylor 2001; in Cunningham 2005). In addition to known pathogens, illegal wild meat products have the potential to contain new or emerging zoonotic diseases. Emerging infectious diseases have been defined as "infectious diseases that have recently increased in incidence or geographical range, recently been discovered, are caused by newly evolved pathogens (Lederberg et al 1992), or have recently moved into new species" (Daszak et al 2000). Because they are new, emerging zoonoses are not well-known and not yet fully studied. Therefore, the protective measures (via national health programs) to keep human and animal populations safe may not yet be in place.

Of the pathogens that cause new emerging infectious diseases, it has been shown that wildlife are the most likely source of infection (Cunningham 2005); the majority of emergent disease events (>70%) originate in wildlife (Jones et al 2008). In everyday sub-Saharan Africa and other third world countries, local people come into contact with viruses via hunting and consumption of bushmeat (Peeters et al 2002). The butchering process of wild animals for their meat is a route for transmission to occur; it exposes hunters and consumers to blood and body fluids from potentially infected wild animals where zoonotic transfer becomes possible (Wolfe et al 2004, 2005; Nayar 2009). Primates and rodents in particular are known to carry a number of viruses which can be transmitted to humans (Smith 2011). Cases have been documented of highly virulent diseases imported in live monkeys and rodents and

resulting in outbreaks and human fatalities (Marburg virus in Germany; Jahrling et al 1990; CDC 2010a; Monkeypox in the U.S.; Guarner et al 2004). Of particular concern is the Ebola virus, which erupts regularly in Africa (CDC 2010b; CDC 2014; WHO 2014) and can live for 3-4 days in infected animal carcasses (Leroy 2004b). Handling and consumption of dead infected primates has been linked to outbreaks of the disease in Africa (Le Guenno et al 1995; Formenty et al 1999a, 1999b; Leroy et al 2004a, 2004b; Rouquet et al 2005; Bermejo et al 2006; Rizkalla et al 2007; IRIN 2012; Richardson 2012; CDC 2014). Also of concern in regard to primates are the Simian Immunodeficiency Viruses (SIV), which are related to HIV and have been shown to be present in primate bushmeat (Peeters et al 2002; Aghokeng 2010). A recent study by Smith et al (2011) was the first of its kind to search for viruses arriving in bushmeat in JFK airport in the United States. The study looked specifically at primate and rodent bushmeat imports and found diseases such as Simian Foamy Virus (SFV, a retrovirus similar to SIV) and primate herpes viruses to be present, and concluded that, especially in the case of non-human primates, bushmeat can be a route for pathogen transmission. Illegally smuggled bushmeat is unlikely to have been butchered or transported under the strict veterinary standards used by more developed countries and is therefore more likely to carry disease, with the potential to expose local plants, animals and humans in Switzerland to these diseases.

Airlines are a main mode of transport in modern society, and provide a vector for the rapid, international spread of diseases. One study found human movement of pathogens via trade and travel to be the most important factor driving disease emergence (Cunningham et al 2003). There are a number of examples of diseases which are known to have been spread via airlines (Pavia 2007; Mangili and Gendreau 2005) including the 2003 outbreak of severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS), which spread across 4 continents within 3 days via global air traffic (Gaber et al 2009), the pandemic influenzas (swine flu and bird flu-H5N1; Hufnagel et al 2004) and more recently, Ebola (CDC 2014). The importation of wild animal carcasses and pieced wild meat into more developed countries such as Switzerland on a daily basis should be of serious concern. While endemic African populations may have some resistance to harmful pathogens, native populations of humans and animals in other regions may not.

The Bushmeat Trade in Europe; Previous Studies and this Study

Because of the disease risks inherent in all meat products, confiscations of bushmeat and domestic meats in Switzerland are treated similarly; all confiscated meats are considered biological waste and are disposed of through incineration at a bio-safe facility. When bushmeat or other types of meat are confiscated, especially in the case of pieced meat, it is often difficult for customs officials to recognize species. Meat is often cut into pieces for ease of transport, and in the case of bushmeat, smoked as a means of preservation, obscuring recognizable features. As a result, meat from wild animals may be difficult to distinguish from meats originating from domesticated species, and also especially difficult to identify to species. In the current framework, upon arrival in Swiss airports, if not recognized as such, an endangered or CITES-listed species could be immediately disposed of along with all other, non-descript and domestic meats and meat products. Switzerland may be, in essence, throwing out the monkeys with the meat; disposing of endangered and vulnerable species as generic, bio-hazardous waste, while information valuable to the conservation of these species is being lost in the process.

The purpose of our study was to first identify what species are at risk from bushmeat smuggling into Swiss airports and, second, to quantify how much bushmeat may be coming into Switzerland annually. This report presents the complete results of the study. To identify species, we extracted tissue samples from confiscated meat products for DNA analysis. In the Chaber study in Paris (2010), species were identified by their morphology (i.e. identifications were based on the appearance of whole carcasses or a later examination of bones present in carcasses or pieces). This means that only grossly recognizable carcasses and/or bones were identified. The use of mitochondrial DNA is currently the gold standard for species identification (Hsieh et al 2001; Tsai et al 2007; Tobe et al 2010). In this study, we utilized the most accurate standardized DNA wildlife forensic techniques to identify species (Morf et al 2013) and this report includes the species results from tissue samples opportunistically collected from all bushmeat confiscations seized from passenger luggage from September of 2011 through January of 2013 in Swiss airports. Additional information came from tissue samples collected from all confiscations of meat and meat products on 'control day' exercises carried out during 2011 and 2012, in cooperation with CITES, the Swiss Federal Veterinary Authority (FVO/BVET) and Swiss customs officials at the Zürich and Geneva International Airports. These exercises allowed us to collect data that could be used to create a model to estimate the amount of bushmeat coming into Switzerland annually. In addition to data collected during the study, the Swiss Customs Administration gave us access to Customs Records of all illegal meat and milk products confiscated from airline passenger luggage at Zürich and Geneva's International Airports from 2008 through 2012, including those confiscations identified or suspected of being bushmeat. These records were used to support the results of this study.

METHODS: Bushmeat Metrics



METHODS

I. Data Collection during the Study

A number of data sources were utilized in this study, including data opportunistically collected from September 2011 through January of 2013 from confiscations suspected of being bushmeat by Swiss Customs, data collected during five 'control days' exercises to monitor illegal wildlife imports of interest to CITES and FVO officials, and finally, data provided by Swiss Customs for the period of 2008 through 2012 of all meat and milk products confiscated in two Swiss Airports; Zürich Flughafen and Genève Aéroport.

Swiss Airports - Confiscation and Search Protocols

In this study, confiscations of illegal meat products came from passengers on flights arriving at either Flughafen Zürich or Genève Aéroport. On any given day, customs agents in these two airports conduct searches of passenger luggage and confiscate *all* meat (and milk) items, of which some proportion is bushmeat. For searches, passengers are picked randomly, or according to confidential customs agents search criteria, as they exit the airport. Meat and milk items are not confiscated from passengers travelling *within* European Union countries; official documents, health permits or veterinary inspections are not required for food imports of animal origin from *within the EU* in personal luggage, although the origin of the products must be clearly documented (FVO/BVET 2013e). However, some flights within Europe have known connections to third countries so that passengers from these flights are sometimes searched, and all meat and milk products arriving from outside the European Union are seized when found. In both airports, when a passenger is selected by a Customs agent for a search, typically all bags are searched and any meat or milk items found and coming from outside the EU are confiscated. In Geneva, the bags of passengers were typically x-rayed first, and based on x-ray results, some passengers were selected for a manual search. In Zürich, the volume of exiting passengers is higher, and some passenger's bags were x-rayed, while other passengers were chosen for a search without x-raying.

When making a confiscation, customs agents routinely weigh each confiscation in its entirety before disposal in a bio-safe container for later destruction as biological waste. In both Zürich and Geneva, all confiscations are recorded daily in a Microsoft Excel© database, including a brief description of the confiscated items. During a confiscation, Customs agents request information from passengers as to the type of meat or milk product. Confiscations recognized as wild meat by customs agents are typically given a generic 'bushmeat' description in their records (i.e. 'Buschfleisch' (*German*) or 'viande de brousse' (*French*)) or are described as some type of wild species (for example, 'Antilopenfleisch'/ antelope meat or 'Buschratten'/forest rats). If wild meats are not recognized, they are treated the same as all other meat products and are given a generic meat descriptor and disposed of upon confiscation. The total weight of the confiscation (in kilograms), the international country code, the flight number of the meat/passenger origin, and any actions in regard to the confiscation (i.e. fines and/or prosecution) is also recorded in the database. All of this information was made available for this study.

Bushmeat Metrics; Defining Measures

The measurement of bushmeat presents a number of difficulties. Bushmeat can arrive in many forms; as a whole carcass, a partial carcass, or as pieces, which can vary in size. Whole or partial carcasses are often recognizable as some type of wild (non-domestic) species by customs. However, in many cases, bushmeat is pieced for convenience, to better preserve it before travel, or to disguise it from customs agents. Therefore, each confiscation contained some number of items and/or some number of meat

products or distinct 'pieces', from which tissues samples were collected for DNA analysis. To avoid confusion between different aspects of sample collection and measurement in this study, the various bushmeat 'units' are defined as follows;

Confiscation - A 'confiscation' describes all of the illegal meats removed from *one* passenger's luggage or from *one* cargo or mail shipment. Confiscations could contain multiple packages, containers, bags and/or pieces of meat or meat products in multiple forms. Confiscations were routinely weighed by airport customs agents to get a total weight of the confiscation to the nearest 0.1 kilograms.

Piece - Multiple items were often present within one confiscation; each of these was defined as a 'piece'. However, in some cases, *multiple 'pieces'* could be present within each item (i.e. packages, containers, etc. could contain multiple pieces of meat). Each distinct meat item in a given confiscation, be it a whole carcass, a single 'steak'/filet, or a small chunk of meat within a mixed stew, was defined as a 'piece'.

Sample – The term 'sample' refers to the tissue samples taken from pieces within a confiscation for DNA analysis. In most cases, tissue samples were collected from each individual 'piece' in a confiscation. Our DNA samples are therefore analogous to pieces in a confiscation. However, in the case of a large confiscation with multiple items or pieces, DNA extraction and analysis costs became prohibitive. In such cases, meat pieces were divided into morphologically similar groupings and samples were collected from 1 to 3 pieces in each grouping (depending on the total number of pieces present). While this could mean that large confiscations may be underrepresented in our study, we attempted to collect samples based on the proportional number of pieces present in a confiscation. As an example, our largest confiscation of bushmeat contained approximately 75-100 individual pieces, many of which were not morphologically identifiable - the largest number of samples was also collected from this confiscation (n=33).

Confiscation Scenarios in this Study

The collection of tissue samples for DNA analysis from meats confiscated at Zürich Flughafen and Genève Aéroport.was carried out under two different collection scenarios. These confiscation scenarios are as follows;

SCENARIO 1: Opportunistic Collection of Suspected Bushmeat in 2012

Tengwood Organization worked cooperatively with Customs from December of 2011 through January of 2013 to obtain tissue samples for DNA analysis, from which we identified wild species being smuggled into Switzerland. Customs agents at Zürich Flughafen and Genève Aéroport targeted confiscations of *known or suspected bushmeat*. These confiscations were then sent to the Border Veterinarians of the Federal Veterinary Office (Grenztierarzt (GTU) / Bundesamt für Veterinärwesen (BVET)) where tissue samples, photos, and other information about the confiscation were collected. These tissue samples were then transported by Tengwood Organization to the University of Zürich's Institut für Rechtsmedizin, Forensische Genetik for DNA analysis. The Swiss Customs Administration (Eidgenössische Zollverwaltung/EZV) and the Customs Offices of Zürich Flughafen (Zollstelle Zürich-Flughafen) and Genève Aéroport (Inspection de douane Genève-Aéroport) provided supporting information about each confiscation from which tissue samples were collected from Customs records maintained at each airport. The majority of confiscations came from passenger luggage, but several came from opportunistically targeted cargo shipments and mail.

SCENARIO 2: Control Day Exercises in 2011-2012

In addition to our collection of samples from suspected bushmeat in 2012, scheduled exercises, known as 'Control Days' or 'Actions', took place at Flughafen Zürich and Genève Aéroport in 2011 and in 2012. These exercises are an infrequent, but cooperative effort carried out at each airport by Swiss Customs agents, Veterinary border staff (Grenztierarzt/GTU), Swiss Veterinary Authorities from the Federal Veterinary Office (FVO/BVET), and CITES, and with a goal of obtaining information on illegally smuggled animal and plant products. Tengwood Organization participated in 5 exercises which took place during the

period of September 2011 to December 2012; this included two control days at Flughafen Zürich (September 29th 2011 and December 20th 2012) and three control days at Genève Aéroport (October 13th 2011, December 23rd 2011, and October 4th 2012). Tissue samples were collected by Tengwood Organization from *all* meat items on these days in order to determine the proportion of the total confiscations which were identified as bushmeat. Confiscations on control days came only from passenger luggage, as cargo shipments and mail were not a part of these exercises.

Supplementary Data - Swiss Customs Records of All Meat and Milk Confiscations

Customs records of *all meat and milk confiscations occurring during the period from 2008-2012* at both Zürich Flughafen and Genève Aéroport were made available for this study by Swiss Customs Administration. Information from these records was analyzed to substantiate and support results from this study, including 1.) Determining the regional proportions of meat confiscations that were described/recognized by customs agents as bushmeat from 2008-2012, 2.) Determining the number and an average amount (in kg) for bushmeat confiscations in 2012 for use in a model created to quantify the amount of bushmeat smuggled annually, and 3.) Determining a rate of increase for confiscations recognized as bushmeat by customs agents from 2008-2012.

II. Objectives of the Study

The goal of this study was to characterize the illegal bushmeat trade into Switzerland by 1.) describing some of the characteristics of bushmeat arriving in Switzerland, 2.) identifying species at risk via DNA analysis of suspect meats, and 3.) quantifying the amount of bushmeat that is likely to be arriving in Switzerland from information on known confiscations.

1.) Characterizing the Illegal Bushmeat Arriving in Switzerland

We examined a number of characteristics which can aid Customs agents and other parties in finding bushmeat confiscations. A number of features of bushmeat were described, including 1.) The regions of origin and flight departure points for smugglers carrying bushmeat into Swiss airports, 2.) The physical characteristics that can be useful in distinguishing bushmeat or wild meats, and 3.) The average size of bushmeat confiscations.

Regions of Meat Origin and Flights Carrying Bushmeat into Switzerland

During a confiscation, Customs agents routinely collect information about what flight a passenger is arriving on and the country of origin of any meats confiscated. This information is entered into the customs confiscation records, allowing us to determine the regions/countries from which bushmeat originates, as well as those departure points and flights on which bushmeat is being illegally smuggled.

Identifying Unique Physical Characteristics of Bushmeat

We identified a number of categorical descriptors which can be used as predictor variables for bushmeat. Meat was first identified as either bushmeat or non-bushmeat (domestic, fish, or not identified). The following categorical descriptors were then used to describe bushmeat; 1.) The type of piece (whole carcass, partial carcass or piece), 2.) They presence or absence of certain physical features (i.e. head/ appendages, bones, skin/pelt, and mold/aging), 3.) The type of preparation (fresh/raw, smoked/dried, or cooked/spiced), and 4.) The type of packaging (commercial vs. non-commercial).

The Size of Bushmeat Confiscations

We used the data from this study, as well as the Customs Record data of all bushmeat confiscations over the past 5 years (2007-2012) to examine the size of bushmeat confiscations in comparison to all other types of meats confiscated.

2.) DNA analysis of suspect meats; Identifying Species at Risk from the Bushmeat trade

DNA testing was selected as the method of choice to identify species at risk from the bushmeat trade in Switzerland. Our study utilized an established forensic facility (Zurich Institute of Forensic Medicine, University of Zurich, Forensic Genetics) and standardized techniques in species identification (Morf et al 2013). The use of mitochondrial DNA methodologies for species identification allows for sound legal cases upon later prosecution of criminal offenders.

DNA Methodology

Samples typically consisted of a small piece of muscle tissue collected from each piece of bushmeat and placed in a secure container. After collection, tissue samples were transported to the Zurich Institute of Forensic Medicine, University of Zurich, Forensic Genetics, and stored at -20°C. The methodology used to identify the species of origin of illegally smuggled meats imported into Switzerland consisted of a multiplex-PCR-setup with 8 primers varying in their specificity to amplify a region of the mitochondrial cytochrome b (*cytb*) gene in different animal classes (mammals, fishes, birds and cephalopods). This mtDNA based species identification method was first validated before its application to species identifications (Morf et al 2013). Sequences were then compared to reference sequences in an online gene database (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov) to determine species identifications (Benson et al 2010). Details of the DNA methodology are not presented here, but are available in Morf et al (2013).

The results of the DNA identifications for samples in our study fell into one of the following categories; 1.) Positive species identification (showed a sequence homology of \geq 98% to a reference sequence from the database), 2.) Identification to the genus level (sequences showed <98% of sequence homology to those in the database), 3.) No identification possible, due to no DNA or too little DNA, 4.) No identification possible, due to a mixture of DNA, and finally, 5.) No DNA analysis was attempted – species were visually identified to some level based on morphology.

Although DNA samples identified to the genus level (<98%) were considered ambiguous in the sense that the analysis did not identify the DNA sequence to the species level, for our purposes, the genus level result is still valid and also valuable for determining the broader categories of animals that are at risk. Those items identified visually were also included in our results, where appropriate. Photos were taken of all bushmeat confiscations and of all pieces from which samples were collected. For samples that were identified only to the genus level in DNA analysis, visual identification to the species level was sometimes possible with the aid of the supporting photographic and morphological evidence. For example, many of the pangolins identified only to the genus level (*Manis* spp.) in the DNA analyses came in as whole carcasses; photos of these were sent to the IUCN pangolin specialist group and used to identify them to the species level (see page 56).

Morphological Identifications

DNA analysis was attempted for 89% of the total samples (250 of 280 samples/data points in this study). In some cases (n=30 of 280, or 11% of the total samples), samples were not collected or not analyzed for one of the following reasons;

The item was visually identified as a fish species: Passengers arriving in Switzerland from countries outside the European Union may carry fresh, eviscerated fish or fishery products (fresh, dried, cooked, smoked, cured), including certain shellfish (prawns, lobsters, dead mussels, dead oysters) up to a maximum weight of 20 kg or the weight of a single fish that exceeds 20 kg for personal consumption (FVO/BVET 2013a). Therefore, DNA analysis was not attempted for fish found in confiscations in this study. However, our DNA analyses did identify 5 different fish species from sampled, unrecognizable meat pieces (9 samples from 4 confiscations were identified in the DNA analysis as 5 different fish species). Visual identifications of fish species included 2 confiscations of large amounts of shrimp accompanying other confiscated meats from Brazil and Nigeria (identified as likely to be 2 different species from the family *Penaeidae*, which includes the majority of species of commercially utilized shrimp).

The item was visually identified as an invertebrate species: Passengers arriving in Switzerland from countries outside the European Union with invertebrate species such as insects and molluscs/snails must have the proper import paperwork accompanying them. The TRAde Control and Expert System (TRACES) is a trans-European network for veterinary health which notifies, monitors and certifies imports, exports and trade in animals and animal products, including invertebrates (FVO/BVET 2013c, 2013d; EC 2009). Without the proper paperwork, invertebrate species known to be CITES-listed, or those that may pose a threat (such as introduced pest species) are routinely confiscated by Customs. DNA analysis were not attempted for any of the invertebrates found in confiscations in this study (5 confiscations of at least 4 different species). These included 3 confiscations containing 3 different insect species (suspected to be butterfly and honeybee larvae, but identified only to *Class Insecta*).

The item was visually identified as a non-meat animal product: We did not attempt analysis for confiscations that did not include meat; this included 1 confiscation of bird's nest soup from Thailand (a soup known to be made from the nest/saliva of the cave swift, genus *Aerodramus*), and 1 confiscation of crocodile skin phone covers from South Africa (identified as family *Crocodylidae*).

When visual identification was possible based on DNA analysis of identical specimens in a single confiscation: In the case of multiple *identical* whole carcasses in a single confiscation, a sample was collected from only one of the carcasses. There were 15 whole carcasses that were not sampled in our study because they were *morphologically identical* to other carcasses within the confiscation that *were* sampled for DNA analysis; 8 carcasses were identified to species level (*Atherurus africanus*), and 7 carcasses were identified to genus level (*Manis* spp.), based on corresponding DNA results for identical carcasses.

Determining an Overall Quantity for Species at Risk from the Bushmeat Trade in Switzerland

Whenever possible, pieces from which tissue samples were taken were individually weighed to the nearest 0.1 kilograms and these *piece weights* were recorded. However, it was not always possible to weigh all pieces due to time constraints (i.e. control days) and in cases where there were a large numbers of pieces in a confiscation. For certain species of interest, such as primates, pieces identified morphologically or from which a sample was collected, were weighed. Pieces were weighed for approximately 40% of our total samples (n=115 out of 280) and 44% of our bushmeat samples (n=78 out of 179).

In cases where confiscations contained too many pieces for all pieces to be weighed, the weights of pieces from which we extracted samples were estimated in order to determine an overall amount (in kg) for each at risk species in the study. Estimated piece weights were calculated by subtracting the weight of known pieces in a confiscation from the overall weight of the confiscation. The remaining kilograms in the confiscations were then divided equally between the pieces of unknown weight. In this way, weights for all pieces in a confiscation were either measured directly, or estimated based on the total kilograms present in the confiscation. This method of distributing the remaining weight of a confiscation equally between unknown pieces may over or underestimate the overall weight for some pieces/species. However, the majority of large pieces (i.e. whole and partial carcasses) were weighed, and the smaller chopped pieces in a given confiscation tended to be of a similar size.

The following formula describes our estimate for unknown piece weights:

 $Weight of unknown piece = \frac{total weight of confiscation - total weight of known pieces}{total number of pieces of unknown weight}$

We then determined representation of species (i.e. a total weight for each species in this study) by taking the weight of each piece (in kg) identified as a given species, and summing these weights to determine a total weight (in kilograms) for each species found during the study.

3) Determining the Quantity of Bushmeat Arriving in Switzerland

We determined an estimate for the quantity of bushmeat arriving in Switzerland by creating a model which took into account the proportion of passengers searched from targeted flights on control days, the proportion of searched passengers that smuggled bushmeat, the average amount of bushmeat that smugglers carry into Switzerland, and the regions from which bushmeat is smuggled. Information in regard to how these parameters were determined and utilized is described below;

Targeted Flights

CITES 'control days' were exercises to look at one or more focal points of CITES-listed concern, such as 'caviar', 'bushmeat', 'Chinese medicine', 'rare plants', 'corals', etc. Depending upon the focus of a control day, airport customs personnel targeted flights for the control day beforehand by choosing those with connections to regions from which items of CITES interest originate; these flights were placed on a priority list, and an effort was made to search passengers from these flights. The control days in which we participated involved customs officers searching multiple passengers from a number of *targeted* flights (n=67). Once all targeted flights on the priority list were searched, additional fights of interest were chosen and searched. Information from targeted flights was used to determine search effort.

Search Effort; Proportion of Targeted Passengers Searched

Information on the total number of passengers on each targeted flight, the proportion of passengers searched, and the total number of meat confiscations for each control day was compiled. This information was used to determine the proportion of passengers carrying illegal meats of all types, and provided us with the means to estimate the proportion and quantity of confiscations that included bushmeat. In cases where information on the total number of passengers on a targeted plane was not known (n=14), the type of plane flown by that airline for that flight was obtained from a number of online references and flights were estimated to be at 70% capacity (in the Chaber study (2010), flights were estimated at 90% capacity, but an exploratory analysis of the flights in our study showed that only

12% of flights were at or above 90% capacity and that on average flights were at 62% capacity). All control day confiscations came only from passenger luggage, as cargo shipments and mail were not a part of these exercises.

Using the data outlined above, we determined search effort using the following formula:

 $Proportion of targeted passengers searched = \frac{Total number of passengers searched from control day targeted flights}{Total number of passengers on targeted flights}$

The Total Number of Passengers Searched in Switzerland's Airports

The total number of passengers moving through the airport per hour was obtained from each airport's 2012 annual statistics (2012 Statistiksbericht, Flughafen Zürich, <u>http://www.zurich-airport.com</u>; Statistics of the Traffic Report 2012, Genève Aéroport, <u>http://www.gva.ch</u>). Based on a 365 day calendar year and a 24 hour day, we used the total annual volumes to estimate the proportion of the total arriving passengers searched by using the following formula:

 $Proportion of overall passengers searched = \frac{Estimated number of passengers arriving at airport during control day search hours}{Total number of passengers searched from targeted flights}$

Proportion of Passengers Smuggling Bushmeat

Tissue samples for DNA analysis were collected from *all* meat items on control days in order to determine the proportion of total meats that was bushmeat. Using the total number of meat confiscations and kilograms vs. the total number of bushmeat confiscations and kilograms from our control days, we estimated the proportion of smuggled meats that were identified as bushmeat in our DNA or morphological analyses. All information in our sample database was collated with the Customs records collected on confiscations, which included information on flight number, country origin, and information from the passenger in regard to meat origin and other details.

Average Size of Bushmeat Confiscations

Using the data from all bushmeat confiscations collected during this study, combined with any additional bushmeat or wild meat confiscations found in the Customs database records for 2012, we estimated an average weight (in kg) for confiscations containing bushmeat.

Determining How Much Bushmeat Arrives in Switzerland; Estimating Smugglers and Amounts

After identifying those regions which smuggle bushmeat into Switzerland, a model was created, which used the search parameters from our control days and airport data on total passenger volumes (modified/weighted by the proportion of bushmeat from each smuggling region) to estimate an overall number of smugglers for each region. This number of smugglers for each smuggling region was then multiplied by the average amount of bushmeat smuggled to estimate a total amount of bushmeat for each smuggling region. Summing these amounts allowed us to estimate the total amount of bushmeat that was likely to have arrived in Switzerland in 2012. More details of the methodology are presented with the model.

RESULTS: Overview of Bushmeat in Swiss Airports



RESULTS:

I. Overall Bushmeat Confiscations in this Study

A total of N=280 tissue samples from 58 confiscations, weighing a total of 296.16 kg, were collected during the course of this study. The majority of confiscations occurred in 2012, although sampling started in September of 2011 and continued through the end of January 2013. Our DNA results showed that 27 of the 58 confiscations smuggled into Switzerland during the study period, weighing a total of 225.45 kg, contained bushmeat. Some bushmeat confiscations included small amounts of domestic meats or fish, mixed in with wild species, but 91% of the total kilograms in these confiscations were identified as wild species (204.17 of 225.5 total kilograms). Results from tissue samples collected from these confiscations showed that 64% of samples (n=179 of 280 samples) were some type of bushmeat or wild meat. The remaining 36% (n=101) of the samples were identified as follows; 1.) meat from a domestic species (n=68 of 280 samples, 24%), 2.) meat from a fish species (n=24 of 280 samples, 3%), or 3.) an unidentified meat sample for which DNA results were inconclusive (n=24 of 280 samples, 9%; these were meats for which species was not able to be identified, either visually or in our DNA analysis). Results are summarized in **TABLE 1** and **TABLE 2**.

Confiscations occurred under two different scenarios; either during scheduled control day exercises or via opportunistic collection of suspected bushmeat by customs agents. Because the opportunistic samples were collected by customs agents from meats that were *already suspected* of being bushmeat, the proportion of samples that would be identified as bushmeat was likewise expected to be high; for this reason, we examined the *opportunistic collection of suspect bushmeat* and our *control day confiscations* of all meats separately for some analyses. To determine the proportion of overall meat confiscations that were bushmeat, we used only control day data, where all meat confiscations were sampled. In the case of identifying species at risk from the bushmeat trade, we used all samples, from both opportunistic bushmeat collection and those bushmeat confiscations occurring on control days.

1.) Opportunistic Collection of Suspected Bushmeat in 2012

Determining Species at Risk from the Bushmeat Trade in Switzerland

During opportunistic collection of samples in 2012, a total of N=25 confiscations were recognized or suspected by Customs agents of being bushmeat, and N=186 tissue samples were collected from these confiscations. The results show that customs agents were largely correct in their identification of confiscations as containing bushmeat; 84% of the **confiscations** they selected (n=21 out of 25, weighing a total of 206.65 kilograms or 95% of the total kilograms) contained bushmeat, while only 16% (n=4 confiscations, 10.72 kilograms) contained no bushmeat. Several bushmeat confiscations included a very small amount (<1%) of domestic or fish species, but after species identification of samples, the majority (204.17 of the 206.65 kg) were identified as wild meat. Results are summarized in **TABLE 3**. Results for the **samples** collected from opportunistic confiscations were similar; 84% of the total samples collected (n=157, 188.4 kg) were identified as a wild species. The remainder of the samples (16%) were identified as either a domestic species (n=21, 22.87 kg), a fish species (n=6, 4.95 kg), or were not identified (n=2 and 1.2 kg). Results are summarized in **TABLE 4**. Meats identified as wild species on control days were also included in our analyses for determining species at risk from the bushmeat trade in Switzerland, but are discussed in detail in the next section.

Opportunistic confiscations of suspected bushmeat were collected from 3 different sources: 1) **passenger luggage**, 2) **cargo shipments**, and 3) **mail**. The majority of opportunistic samples (n=146)

came from passenger confiscations carried in personal luggage (n=18), and contained 79% of the total kilograms (172.56 of 217.37 kg). Of those opportunistic samples collected from passenger luggage, 88% were identified as some type of bushmeat. Customs agents also collected suspected bushmeat confiscations from 6 cargo shipments (n=37 samples), representing 19% of the total kilograms in this study (41.99 kg); 80% of the kilograms in these cargo confiscations were identified as some type of bushmeat. One cargo confiscation contained bushmeat that was pieced, bagged and hidden inside a sack of peanuts within a larger consignment of food from Cameroon for Swiss markets (SDA 2011), demonstrating that bushmeat smugglers are aware the meat is not allowed and are using methods to escape detection. One confiscation of suspected bushmeat arrived in a mail shipment from Nigeria (n=3 samples), containing 1% of the total kilograms (2.82 kg) and identified as domestic donkey (*Equus asinus*) and an unidentified meat.

Of note, our opportunistic sampling did not include every confiscation of bushmeat that is recorded in the 2012 Custom's records for Zürich Flughafen and Genève Aéroport. In Zürich, bushmeat confiscations sampled for this study represent only 44.4% of the total confiscations that customs agents described in their 2012 records as bushmeat or some type of wild meat (we collected samples from 79% of confiscations carrying a generic 'bushmeat label in the records, and from 8% of those labeled by customs as some type of wild species). Sample collection was more intensive at Zürich Flughafen than at Genève Aéroport; only 15% of the total bushmeat and wild meat confiscations recorded in the 2012 Genève Aéroport customs confiscation database were sampled for the study (20% of those labeled as 'bushmeat', and 7% of those labeled as some type of wild species were sampled for the study).

2.) CITES/BVET Control Day Exercises

Determining the Proportion of Meat vs. Bushmeat coming into Switzerland

Control day confiscations were taken from passenger luggage during searches that occurred on planned control day exercises to monitor the illegal smuggling of wild fauna and flora. During **control days**, we collected 94 total samples from 33 confiscations weighing a total of 78.79 kilograms. The majority (73%) of the control day confiscations came from 2 control days at Zürich Flughafen (n=24), with the remaining 27% from 3 control days at Genève Aéroport (n=9). These results reflect differences in the total volume of air traffic moving through these two airports and consequently, the number of confiscations occurring on a daily basis; Zürich Flughafen total passenger volumes are roughly double that of Geneva. The total number of meat confiscations coming into Zürich vs. Genève is likewise higher per year; in 2012 there were a total of 4183 confiscations containing 5871.72 kg of meat confiscated at Zürich Flughafen, and 408 confiscations containing 1257.98 kg of meat at Genève Aéroport (Swiss Customs/Eidgenössische Zollverwaltung *unpublished record data*).

Control day confiscations were taken only from passengers, during searches of their personal luggage. All meats confiscated on control days were sampled for two reasons; 1.) to determine the proportion of confiscated meats that were bushmeat, and 2.) to identify species at risk. As expected, the majority of control day confiscations (82%) contained no bushmeat - only domestic meats, fish, and/or unidentified meat products (n=27), and representing 76% of the total kilograms collected on control days (59.99 kg). However, it is interesting that some type of bushmeat or wild meat was identified on every control day; 18% of control day confiscations (n=6) contained some type of wild meat product and DNA results from samples taken from these confiscations showed that 20% of the total kilograms of meat collected on control days (15.82 kg) were definitively identified as originating from a wild species. Results for both opportunistic collection of bushmeat in 2012 and the control day meat collection are summarized in **TABLE 3** and **TABLE 4**. **TABLE 1:** The total number of confiscations and their weight in kilograms for all confiscations in this study, and the total number of samples collected from these confiscations.

Type of Confiscation	Total number of confiscations Total number of samples collected from confiscation		Total weight of confiscations in Kilograms
Confiscation contained bushmeat	27	204	225.45
No bushmeat was present in confiscation	31	76	70.71
Grand Total	58	280	296.16

TABLE 2: Results after identification of samples into meat types; the total number of samples and their weight in kilograms for each meat type (Note that some confiscations containing bushmeat also contained a small amount of other types of meats; of the 225.45 kg in confiscations that contained bushmeat, 204.17 kg were identified as wild meats and 21.28 kg were fish or domestic meats).

Meat sample identified as	TOTAL NUMBER OF SAMPLES	TOTAL KILOGRAMS
Bushmeat	179	204.17
Domestic	68	68.32
Fish	9	5.89
Unidentified meat	24	17.79
Grand Total	280	296.16

TABLE 3: The number of confiscations, samples, and total kilograms for all confiscations containing bushmeat and those without bushmeat present, collected under the two different confiscation scenarios.

Types of Meat in	2012 Opportunistic Collection of Suspected Bushmeat			Control Day Collection		
Confiscation	Number of Confiscations	Number of samples	Total Kilograms	Number of Confiscations	Number of samples	Total Kilograms
Confiscation contained bushmeat	21	177	206.65	6	27	18.80
Confiscation contained only domestic, fish, and/or unidentified species	4	9	10.72	27	67	59.99
Grand Total	25	186	217.37	33	94	78.79

TABLE 4: The total number of samples and weight in kilograms for the types of meats identified in this study, collected under the two different confiscation scenarios.

Most comple identified as	2012 Opportunist Suspected B	ic Collection of Sushmeat	Control Day Collection		
meat sample identified as	Number of samples	Total Kilograms	Number of samples	Total Kilograms	
Bushmeat	157	188.35	22	15.82	
Domestic	21	22.87	47	45.44	
Fish	6	4.95	3	0.94	
Unidentified meat	2	1.20	22	16.59	
Grand Total	186	217.37	94	78.79	

RESULTS: Regions from which Bushmeat Arrives in Switzerland



II. Smuggling Regions; Bushmeat Arrival into Switzerland

Confiscations of meats were collected from flights originating in 24 countries during the study, and bushmeat was confiscated from 10 of these countries. Of the 14 countries which smuggled no bushmeat, the majority of these were confiscations occurring during control day exercises, where passengers arrived with some type of meat that was determined to be from a domestic species, a fish species, or a species which was not identified in the analyses (most often a commercially processed meat, see page 54).

Bushmeat Smuggling – Africa as a Region of Concern for Switzerland

Our results show that passengers arriving from *African* countries carried the majority of bushmeat into Switzerland; 98.5% of the total kilograms of bushmeat (201.1 of the 204.2 total kg of bushmeat) came from African countries, with the region of *West/Central Africa* accounting for 91% of the total bushmeat kilograms found during this study (183.9 of 204.2 kg), marking this as a region of significant concern in regard to bushmeat imports. Even more surprisingly, *one* West/Central African country was responsible for importing the majority of this meat in this study; this country is *Cameroon*. Passengers or cargo arriving from the country of Cameroon were responsible for a substantial 79% of the total kilograms of bushmeat identified in this study. Other West/Central African countries that smuggled amounts of bushmeat into Switzerland during this study included the Ivory Coast (4%), Nigeria (3%), the Democratic Republic of Congo (2%), Togo (1%), and one unknown West/Central African country (2%).

Kenya was the only East African country in our study from which bushmeat originated. The country of Kenya smuggled the second highest amount of bushmeat kilograms after Cameroon; however, this was one passenger who arrived in Switzerland carrying the second highest amount of bushmeat of any passenger in this study (7% of the total bushmeat kilograms, or 13.8 of 204.2 kg). It must also be noted that this passenger traveled to Zürich via a connecting flight originating in Cameroon, making it possible that the meat was purchased there. The country of South Africa carried only 0.5% of the total kilograms (1.0 of 204.2 kg) during this study. Other regions smuggling wild meats during the study included the Far East and the Middle East, but together, these were responsible for a very small proportion of the total kilograms of bushmeat or wild meat (3kg or 1.5% of the total kilograms). Overall, African countries carried 98.5% of the bushmeat into Switzerland during our study. Results are presented in **TABLE 5** and **FIGURE 1**.

Customs Records of Meat Confiscations from Africa

The result that Africa, and especially the West/Central African region, is of concern regarding bushmeat imports is also supported by an examination of Customs records. We looked at *all meat confiscations* occurring in 2012 and found that the proportion of the total meat confiscations *described by Customs agents as bushmeat or wild meat* was higher for Africa than for all other regions from which meats were smuggled; 17% of the meat confiscations arriving in Zürich from Africa, and 14% of those arriving in Geneva from Africa, were identified by customs agents as bushmeat or wild meat. The proportion of the total kilograms of meat from Africa that these confiscations represent was even higher; in Zürich, 40% of the total kilograms arriving in Geneva from Africa; this result is explained by another important finding of this study; bushmeat confiscations tend to be larger than all other types of meat confiscations (see our results on pages 47-51). The proportion of total confiscations and kilograms that were recognized as bushmeat or wild meat in the Customs records was ≤10% for all other regions. Passengers from Africa were more likely than passengers from any other region to be carrying bushmeat confiscations, and

these confiscations tended to be heavier than other type of meat confiscations. These results are demonstrated in **FIGURE 2a and 2b**.

We also examined *confiscations described as bushmeat or wild meat* by Customs Agents in the Customs Records for the past 5 years (the period of 2008-2012) for Zurich and Geneva considered together. During this period, African countries smuggled 91% of the total kilograms described in the records as bushmeat or wild meat, with West and Central African countries smuggling the majority of this (81% of the total bushmeat/wild meat kilograms). Again, the country of Cameroon smuggled the highest amount; Cameroon was alone responsible for 58% of the total confiscated kilograms described as bushmeat or wild meats during this period. These results can be viewed in the maps presented in **FIGURE 3 (Map 1 and 2)**.

Airlines Carrying Bushmeat into Switzerland

A number of different airlines were found to carry bushmeat into Switzerland during the study; the majority of the total weight (in kg) of bushmeat arrived on passenger flights from SWISS (41%), Brussels Airlines (21%), and Air France (16%); together, 78% of the total kilograms of bushmeat came into Switzerland on these 3 airlines. Cargo flights from known and unknown carriers also brought a substantial amount of bushmeat into Switzerland; 17% of the total bushmeat kilograms came in on cargo flights from Africa. Considered together, these three passenger airlines (SWISS, Brussels Airlines, and Air France), together with cargo flights, carried 95% of the total kilograms of bushmeat into Switzerland. Results can be viewed in **TABLE 6** and **FIGURE 4**.

Departure Point of Bushmeat; Origin of Flights Carrying Bushmeat into Switzerland

While information about the region of origin of smuggled bushmeat and the airlines that carry it into Switzerland can be useful in predicting flights or airlines which may carry bushmeat, it is not the whole picture for the bushmeat arriving here; the *departure point* of flights carrying bushmeat into Switzerland also tells us something about how bushmeat travels. Chaber's study in Paris looked only at bushmeat that arrived at the Charles De Gaulle airport on *direct Air France flights from Africa*; however, Switzerland has very few direct flights from Africa; during the study period, these included 1 direct flight from South Africa (*LX 289, departing from Johannesburg*), 1 from East Africa (*LX 293 departing from Dar Es Salaam via Nairobi*) and 1 from Central Africa (*LX 275, departing from Douala, Cameroon to Zürich*) – this latter flight from Cameroon (LX 275) was discontinued during the study, but during the period it was still running (through March of 2012), it was responsible for 19% of the total bushmeat kilograms carried into Switzerland during this study, direct from Cameroon. Interestingly, after the discontinuation of the direct flight from Cameroon to Zürich, the flight most often found to be carrying bushmeat into Switzerland was a codeshare flight of SWISS and Brussels Airlines (*the LX 771/SN 5101, departing from Brussels, Belgium to Zürich*). This flight was also responsible for 19% of the total bushmeat kilograms carried into Switzerland during the study, all of which came originally, but indirectly, from Cameroon.

While it is clear that most bushmeat *originates* in West and Central African countries, the majority of the bushmeat actually arrived in Switzerland on flights with *departure points inside Europe*; in fact, these flights were found to be carrying the majority (60%) of the bushmeat kilograms into Switzerland. Most of the flights that landed with bushmeat in Zürich or Geneva and came from either Brussels Airport in Belgium (43%) or from the Charles De Gaulle Airport in Paris, France (16%). The fact that the departure point of most flights carrying bushmeat into Switzerland is *inside Europe* can complicate the search for bushmeat and is one of the most important findings of this study. Because there are very few direct flights from Africa to Switzerland, most bushmeat arrives in Switzerland *cryptically*, on *flights from within the EU*. A comparison of meat origin vs. flight origin can be viewed in **FIGURE 5**.

TABLE 5: Regions and countries of illegal bushmeat imports into Switzerland: Results for the number of confiscations, the number of samples, and the proportion of the total kilograms from each region smuggling bushmeat into Switzerland during the study.

REGION	Number of confiscations	Number of samples	Regional Proportion of Kilograms	Proportion of bushmeat kilograms by Country
AFRICA	25	177	98.5%	
West/Central Africa	23	145	91.3%	Cameroon (79.2%) Ivory Coast (3.6%) Nigeria (3.2%) Democratic Republic of Congo (2.3%) Togo (1.2%) Unknown West/Central African (1.8%)
East Africa	1	31	6.8%	Kenya (6.8%)
South Africa	1	1	0.5%	South Africa (0.5%)
ALL OTHER REGIONS	2	2	1.5%	
Middle East	1	1	1.2%	Israel (1.2%)
South East Asia	1	1	0.3%	Singapore (0.3%)

FIGURE 1: Countries from which bushmeat was smuggled into Switzerland during this study; the proportion of the total kilograms of bushmeat carried into Switzerland during the study for each country is indicated on the chart. Numbers next to each country in the legend are the kilograms of bushmeat smuggled by each country.



FIGURE 2 a and b: Regional Confiscations and Kilograms of Bushmeat in 2012; For each region, the proportion of the total meat confiscations that were described by Customs agents as bushmeat or as some type of wild meat in the 2012 Customs Records for Zürich Flughafen and Genève Aéroport.





*Bushmeat confiscations are larger than all other types of meat confiscations – see results on pages 47-51.

FIGURE 3: Region of Origin of Confiscated Meat Kilograms Described by Customs Agents as Bushmeat or Wild Meat in the Customs Records for 2008-2012; **MAP 1:** World map of the proportion of the total confiscated kilograms that were described by Customs agents as bushmeat or wild meat in the 2008-2012 Customs Records for Zurich and Geneva Airports combined, and **MAP 2:** For African countries only; the proportion of the total meat kilograms described as bushmeat or wild meat from each African country for the period of 2008-2012 (Note that Africa smuggled 91% of the total bushmeat kilograms during this period).



Region of Origin for Confiscations Arriving in Swiss Airports and Described by Customs Agents as Bushmeat or Wild Meat (2008-2012)

The proportion of the total kilograms of meat arriving from Africa in Swiss airports and described by Customs agents as bushmeat or wild meat (2008-2012)



	Number of	proportion of	Total proportion		Flight ID, Total Kilograms, and Number			
Airline	confiscations	confiscations	kilograms of	of	of Samples of Bu	of Bushmeat in		
	conniscations	conniscations	bushmeat	kilograms	Confiscat	ions		
PASSENGER FLIGHTS								
					LX 771*	(39.0 kg, n=27)		
Swiss	7	0.26	83.7	0.41	LX 275	(37.9 kg, n=8)		
					LX 787*	(6.8 kg, n=2)		
					SN 2711	(16.8 kg, n=26)		
Duverale Aiulines	-	0.20	42.0	0.21	SN 372	(13.8 kg, n=31)		
Brussels Airlines	/	0.26	42.8	0.21	SN 5101*	(11.2 kg, n-11)		
					SN 2713	(1.0 kg, n=3)		
	2	0.11	22.0	0.16	AF 1614	(22.8 kg, n=9)		
Air France	5	0.11	32.9	0.16	AF 1642	(8.3 kg, n=17)		
					AF 5100	(1.8 kg, n=1)		
Royal Air Maroc	1	0.04	6.3	0.03	AT 930	(6.3 kg, n=11)		
Easy Jet Switzerland	1	0.04	2.4	0.01	EZS 1526	(2.4 kg, n=1)		
Lufthansa	1	0.04	1.7	0.01	LH 1184	(1.7 kg, n=3)		
Singapore Airlines	1	0.04	0.6	0.003	SQ 346	(0.6 kg, n=1)		
CARGO FLIGHTS								
Unknown Cargo	4	0.15	27.7	0.14	4 Cargo Flights	(27.7 kg, n=22)		
Flights					(unknown airline)	ι ο, γ		
Turkish Airlines (cargo flight)	1	0.04	3.0	0.01	TK 6324 (via Strategic Air Cargo Nigeria)	(3.0 kg, n=4)		
Aero Lines GMB (Zürich cargo flight)	1	0.04	3.1	0.02	AERO Lines GMB Zürich	(3.1 kg, n=2)		
TOTAL FLIGHTS	27	1.00	204.2	1.00				

TABLE 6: Airlines and Bushmeat: The number and proportion of confiscations containing bushmeat and the total kilograms of bushmeat carried for all airlines and flights that carried bushmeat into Switzerland during the study.

* The LX 771 and SN5101 and the LX787 and SN5103 are codeshare flights of SWISS and Brussels Airlines.

FIGURE 4: Bushmeat kilograms by Airline; Airlines which carried bushmeat confiscations into Switzerland in 2012.



FIGURE 5: Meat Origin vs. Flight Origin; A comparison of the meat origin and flight origin (i.e. departure point) for all bushmeat arriving in Switzerland during this study; While the majority of kilograms identified as bushmeat in this study came from West and Central African countries, most of this bushmeat arrived in Switzerland on transit flights from within Europe (with the majority carried on flights arriving from Brussels, Belgium).



MEAT ORIGIN
RESULTS: Identifying Characteristics of Bushmeat



III. Identifying Characteristics of Bushmeat

One of the main problems for Customs agents is that meats arriving in the airports are often processed in some way that makes them unrecognizable to the species level. This study showed that a number of characteristics are typical of bushmeat arriving in Swiss airports and that furthermore these characteristics can be used by customs agents to help identify these meats. Identification of meat at the time of confiscation allows for collection of additional information and more effective subsequent prosecution of offenders. The identifying characteristics of bushmeat described in this section are illustrated in **FIGURE 6** through **FIGURE 16**.

Bushmeat Preparation, Preservation, Presentation and Packaging for Switzerland

In Africa, bushmeat is often found as whole, fresh carcasses, but once animals must be carried some distance, the carcass is often cut into more manageable pieces; carcasses may be pieced by hunters in the forest for ease of transport, by sellers in African markets to better preserve the meat for longer periods, or in the case of bushmeat smuggling, to disguise it from customs agents. Although bushmeat can and did arrive in Swiss airports as fresh/raw whole carcasses, much of it arrived in pieces. Some type of preservation typically occurs before bushmeat begins to travel, such as smoking, drying, or cooking (Heinz and Hautzinger 2007). Preservation techniques in Africa are limited, and smoking or drying meats are the two most common types of preservation; in West/Central Africa, smoking meat is the preferred method. In the smoking process, organs are first removed and the carcass is cut down the middle and stretched on a rack with arms and legs pinned to support carcass weight (Peterson and Ammann 2004). Smoking techniques place the animal over a wood fire for some time period; short periods over a hot fire will burn off the hair/pelt while the meat inside remains fresh. A blowtorch is sometimes used to remove hair instead and washing carcasses after the smoking process can also remove hair. With longer periods over a fire the meat becomes partially or fully cooked and/or dried. Fully dried meats can be reconstituted in water before consumption. Smoking techniques use wood, wood that has been mixed with oil, or even other materials such as plastics, refuse, or old tires in place of wood. Environmental contaminants such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) are associated with the smoking process and unsanitary conditions during preservation and travel can result in microbiological contamination of the meat (Glawogger 2006; Akpambang et al 2009; Chaber 2009; Abdul et al 2013; Sartore 2013).

Bushmeat arrived in Swiss Airports as *whole carcasses*, as *partial carcasses*, and as *pieces* (which varied in size). Whole carcasses were often recognizable as a wild (or non-domestic) animal, although not always recognizable to species because of hair removal and features being obscured during the smoking process; whole carcasses represented 21% of the total bushmeat samples (n= 38, 86.4 kilograms) and partial carcasses were 8% of the total bushmeat samples (n=14, 17.4 kilograms). In contrast to wild species, the smuggling of whole or partial carcasses is rare for domestic species; only 1 incidence of a whole domestic pig carcass from Togo was recorded during the study. By far, however, the majority of bushmeat coming into Switzerland was pieced; 71% of the bushmeat samples came from bushmeat arriving in the airport already pieced and therefore more difficult to visually identify to species. But because whole and partial carcasses tend to weigh more than pieces, approximately half (51%) of the total kilograms of bushmeat collected from confiscations were whole or partial carcasses, with the remainder being pieced bushmeat. These results can be seen in **TABLE 7** and in the photos in **FIGURE 7** through **FIGURE 9**.

In regard to the types of preparation for bushmeat arriving in Swiss airports, most bushmeat in this study arrived as either fresh (i.e. raw) meat (52%) or as smoked meats (45%). The remainder was cooked and/or spiced meats. These results are presented in **TABLE 8** and in the photos in **FIGURE 6**. When

considering presentation (i.e. whether bushmeat was pieced or whole/partial carcasses) and preparation type (fresh/raw, smoked, or cooked/spiced) together, whole and partial carcasses most often came fresh (48%) or smoked (44%), while pieces were more likely to be smoked (65%) than fresh (31%). Close to half of the sampled bushmeat in the study (47%) arrived as *smoked pieces*, and a substantial portion of the remainder (35%) was from *fresh* bushmeat carcasses or pieces. The combination of presentation and preparation is presented in **TABLE 9**.

In regard to packaging, bushmeat was most often found 'bagged'; typical packaging included wrapping bushmeat items in brown paper, newspaper, other types of paper, or in aluminum foil, and placing this wrapped bushmeat in non-descript plastic bags. Plastic bagging items was the most common way to smuggle bushmeat; 97% of our 2012 collections of suspected bushmeat were non-commercially bagged in plastic, with the remainder in other types of wrapping or in non-commercial, plastic containers. Types of packaging for bushmeat can be viewed in the photos in **FIGURE 16**. Commercially packaged meat items (i.e. meats that have undergone commercial processing and had adequate company information on the packaging) were found only on control days; of the total 94 control day samples, 33% (31 of 94) were commercially packaged and *only 1 of these commercially packaged items was found to be wild meat*; a can labeled as chicken luncheon meat from China, but identified in the DNA analysis as mallard duck (*Anas platyrhynchos*).

Obviously, whole carcasses are the most easy to recognize as wild or non-domesticated animals. In this study, we also identified characteristic features of *pieces* that can be indicative of bushmeat. As obvious examples, 1.) intact and recognizable *heads*, and/or 2.) *appendages* (arms/legs, and paws/hands/feet/ hooves) may still be attached to pieces. Other recognizable characteristics of pieced bushmeat includes; 3.) visible *bones* in pieces, especially the long bones of the arms/legs, and bones of the ribcage and/or vertebrae, 4.) the *pelt/hair* or *hide/skin* is often still present on pieces as this is thought to add flavor to soups or stews (especially for antelope and other hooved stock), and finally, 5.) a characteristic *foul odor* and/or *discoloration* and/or *mold* is sometimes visible on the meat (Pavel 2012). This is due to the limitations in preservation techniques available in tropical Africa and the time it takes for the bushmeat to travel from the African forest to Switzerland. The photos in FIGURE 10 through FIGURE 15 illustrate some of these identifying characteristics.

In response to this study, a bushmeat identification booklet featuring some of the identifying characteristics of bushmeat was created by Tengwood Organization and BLV (BLV and Tengwood Organization 2014³). It is hoped that this guide will be useful to Customs and other agencies responsible for bushmeat identification in ports of entry.

³A brochure was created by Tengwood Organization and the Federal Food Safety and Veterinary Office (Bundesamt für Lebensmittelsicherheit und Veterinärwesen / BLV) in order to provide Customs Agents, Veterinary Authorities, and other agencies responsible for identification of bushmeat, with some of the typical characteristics of bushmeat arriving in developed world ports of entry. This brochure is available in German, English, French and Italian on the Federal Food Safety and Veterinary Office website at <u>www.blv.org</u> and on the Tengwood Organization website at <u>www.tengwood.org</u>.



TABLE 7: The type of presentation for all bushmeat samples and kilograms arriving in Swiss airports during this study.

Type of	Number of	Weight (in	Proportion of	Proportion of
Presentation	Samples	kilograms)	samples	kilograms
Pieces	127	100.4	0.71	0.49
Whole carcasses	38	86.4	0.21	0.42
Partial Carcasses	14	17.4	0.08	0.09
TOTALS	179	204.2	1.00	1.00

TABLE 8: The type of preparation for all bushmeat samples and kilograms arriving in Swiss airports during this study.

Type of Presentation	Number of Samples	Weight (in kilograms)	Proportion of samples	Proportion of kilograms
Smoked/Dried	107	90.9	0.60	0.45
Fresh/Raw	64	106.3	0.36	0.52
Cooked/Spiced	8	7.0	0.04	0.03
TOTALS	179	204.2	1.00	1.00

TABLE 9: A combination of Preparation and Presentation for Bushmeat Samples and Kilograms; when combined, the type of preparation and presentation for sampled bushmeat shows that close to half the bushmeat samples (47%) arrived as smoked bushmeat pieces, and a substantial proportion (35%) was found as fresh carcasses or pieces.

Preparation and Presentation	Smoke	d/Dried	Fresh	n/Raw	Cooked	l/spiced	TO	TAL
SAMPLES	Number of samples	Proportion of samples	Number of samples	Proportion of samples	Number of samples	Proportion of samples	Number of samples	Proportion of samples
Pieces	84	0.47	39	0.22	4	0.02	127	0.71
Whole carcasses	15	0.08	23	0.13	0	0.00	38	0.21
Partial carcasses	8	0.04	2	0.01	4	0.02	14	0.08
TOTAL	107	0.60	64	0.36	8	0.04	179	1.00

Preparation and Presentation	Smoked/Dried		Dried Fresh/Raw		Cooked/spiced		TOTAL	
KILOGRAMS	Kilograms	Proportion of kilograms	Kilograms	Proportion of kilograms	Kilograms	Proportion of kilograms	Kilograms	Proportion of kilograms
Pieces	44.1	0.22	50.9	0.25	5.4	0.03	100.4	0.49
Whole carcasses	36.4	0.18	50.0	0.25	0.0	0.00	86.4	0.42
Partial carcasses	10.5	0.05	5.4	0.03	1.6	0.01	17.4	0.09
TOTAL	90.9	0.45	106.3	0.52	7.0	0.03	204.2	1.00

FIGURE 6: Identifying Bushmeat preparation; Bushmeat most often arrives as either smoked or fresh/raw meat. **ROW 1: Left:** A smoked monkey head (*Cercopithecus* spp.) and multiple pieces from a confiscation that included >75 bushmeat pieces and had 4 wild species present (3 of which were CITES-listed). Smoked preparations typically have a 'blackened' look to the skin as seen in this photo, while the meat inside is cooked to varying degrees, depending upon the heat of the fire and the length of cooking time. **Right:** A *Cercopithecus* monkey carcass that has been pieced; the skin has been smoked (to remove the hair) but the meat inside is fresh/raw. **ROW 2: Left:** Whole fresh/raw carcasses of African brush-tailed porcupines (*Atherurus africanus*) vs. **Right:** Smoked African brush-tailed porcupine carcasses that have been halved and opened to support the weight of the carcass during the smoking process, which has also dried the meat. This type of smoked meat is then made palatable by later reconstituting it in water inside a stew type preparation. **ROW 3:** A comparison of raw (left), cooked (center), and smoked (right) cane rat (*Thryonomys swinderianus*).



All photos in this report were taken from bushmeat confiscated in Swiss Airports during this study

FIGURE 7: Identifying Bushmeat - whole carcasses may sometimes be recognizable to species: Examples of whole bushmeat carcasses found during the study; **ROW 1:** A confiscation of 7 whole, fresh carcasses; identified with DNA as 1 pangolin (*Manis* spp.; 1st on left), 1 African palm civet (*Nandinia binotata;* 2nd from right) and 5 African brush-tailed porcupines (*Atherurus africanus*). **ROW 2:** A confiscation of CITES-listed fresh pangolins (*Manis* spp.), a smoked African Guenon carcass (*Cercopithecus* spp., far right), and bagged, pieced African brush-tailed porcupine (*A. africanus*). **ROW 3:** Two CITES-listed whole, smoked pangolin carcasses (*Manis* spp.). **ROW 4:** Non-CITES species carcasses: From **Left to Right:** a small carnivore, the African Palm Civet (*Nandinia binotata*), and 4 rodents; a fresh cane rat carcass (*Thryonomys swinderianus*), and 3 photos featuring African brush-tailed porcupine carcasses (*A. Africanus*); rodents were the most common Non-CITES animal group in the study.



All photos in this report were taken from bushmeat confiscated in Swiss Airports during this study

FIGURE 8: Identifying Bushmeat - Partial Carcasses: Partial carcasses are less easily recognized, but still retain some identifying features. **ROW 1: Left:** Partial carcass of a smoked, CITES-listed African clawless otter (*Aonyx capensis*), and **Center** and **Right:** Fresh and smoked African brush-tailed porcupines. **ROW 2: Left** and **Center:** Partial, smoked pangolin carcasses, and **Right:** A dried/smoked partial carcass of an African Brush-tailed porcupine.



FIGURE 9: Pieced Bushmeat - examples of cryptic/pieced bushmeat: Bushmeat arriving in Switzerland is most often in pieces that vary in appearance and size and cannot be recognized to species. Pictured here are CITES-listed species found as pieced bushmeat. **ROW 1: Left:** Fresh Guenon monkey torso (*Cercopithecus* spp.) **Center:** Cooked Blue duiker (*Philantomba monticola*), and **Right:** Cooked, spiced Bay duiker (*Cephalophus dorsalis*). **ROW 2: Left** and **Center:** Pieced, spiced pangolin meat (*Manis* spp.), and **Right:** Fresh Blue duiker (*Philantomba monticola*).



All photos in this report were taken from bushmeat confiscated in Swiss Airports during this study

FIGURE 10: Characteristic Features of Bushmeat; Pieced bushmeat often includes features such as heads, appendages (paws/hands/feet/hooves), the presence of bones in the meat (especially ribs/vertebrae and long bones in the legs/arms), the presence of a pelt or skin, and a foul odor, mold or discoloration due to poor preservation. All are indicators of bushmeat. ROW 1: HEADS of CITES-listed species; Left and Center (left): Cercopithecus spp. fresh and smoked heads, Center (right): Blue duiker head (Philantomba monticola), and Right: African forest hinge-back tortoise head (Kinixys erosa). ROW 2: HEADS: Left: CITES-listed pangolin head rubbed with spices, and 3 examples from non-CITES species; Center (left): A smoked Cane rat head and torso, Center (right): A halved, smoked/dried African brush-tailed porcupine head and Right: a smoked whole porcupine head. ROW 3: Left: a Cercopithecus monkey head and arms, smoked, and Right: A pile of fresh/raw African forest hingeback tortoise heads and legs (Kinixys erosa). The two photos featured in ROW 3 represent only a portion of the largest bushmeat confiscation found during this study, which included multiple (>75) pieces, and from which at least 3 CITES-listed species were identified, including the following pieces; 1 head, at least 4 appendages and misc. pieces from Cercopithecus monkeys, 2 heads and at least 10 legs from forest hinge-back tortoises (K. erosa), and 1 head and multiple pieces from Blue duiker (P. monticola). Non-CITES species were also present, including at least 6 pieces from Sitatunga (Tragelaphus spekii) - while 33 pieces were sampled, the majority of the pieces in this confiscation were not sampled, so that the presence of other species is possible.



All photos in this report were taken from bushmeat confiscated in Swiss Airports during this study

FIGURE 11: Characteristic Features of Bushmeat: APPENDAGES (paws/hands/feet/ hooves) are often present; **ROW 1: Left** and **Center:** Smoked *Cercopithecus* monkey arm and hand (with opposable thumb visible), and **Right:** the paws of a smoked African Clawless Otter (*A. capensis*), which resemble a primate's hands. **ROW 2: Left** and **Center:** African forest hinge-back tortoise (*K. erosa*) front and back leg detail, and **Right:** The tail and back foot of an African brush-tailed porcupine (*A. Africanus*).



FIGURE 12: Characteristic Features of Bushmeat: BONES are often present in bushmeat – especially the RIBS and VERTEBRAE of the torso. ROW 1: Left: a *Cercopithecus* ribcage, **Center**: Ribs and vertebrae from Red-flanked duikers (*Cephalophus rufilatus*) and Right: Ribs from a Red river hog (*Potamochoerus porcus*). ROW 2: Left: Red river hog ribs, **Center**: From left to right, Red river hog ribs, a Peter's duiker (*C. callipygus*) ribcage/leg, and Blue duiker (*P. monticola*) ribs, and Right: Walter's duiker (*P. walteri*) ribcage and pieces.



All photos in this report were taken from bushmeat confiscated in Swiss Airports during this study

FIGURE 13: Characteristic Features of Bushmeat: BONES are often present in bushmeat - especially the LONG BONES IN THE LIMBS. ROW 1: various duiker legs; Left and Center (left): Red-flanked duiker legs (*Cephalophus rufilatus*), Center: a Blue duiker leg, and Center (right) and Right: Long bones of the legs from Red river hogs (*Potamochoerus porcus*).



FIGURE 14: Characteristic Features of Bushmeat: The presence of a **PELT/HAIR** or **SKIN/HIDE** attached to the meat often indicates bushmeat: **ROW 1: Left:** Red river hog smoked meat with pelt (note the typical cane rope handle attached for hanging the meat at a roadside stand or market), **Center:** Fresh Blue duiker (*P. monticola*) meat with the pelt still present, and **Right:** Common duiker (*Sylvicapra grimmia*) legs, with pelt present.



FIGURE 15: Characteristic Features of Bushmeat: MOLD or DISTRESS/DISCOLORATION is often present on bushmeat due to poor preservation techniques; ROW 1: Left: Mold spots on an African brush-tailed porcupine, Center: Mold on smoked cane rat pieces and Right: Smoked dried Cane rats with mold spots. ROW 2: Left and Center: Cane rat pieces with mold visible, and Right: Discoloration and mold on smoked/dried porcupine pieces.



All photos in this report were taken from bushmeat confiscated in Swiss Airports during this study

FIGURE 16: Bushmeat packaging; Bushmeat most often arrives in *non-commercial packaging* - it is typically wrapped in plastic bags, wax paper, newspaper or other types of paper, or in aluminum foil, or is carried in non-commercial plastic containers. ROW 1: Bushmeat in plastic bags, the most common type of presentation; Left and Center (left): African brush-tailed porcupines, Center (right): Giant African Land Snails (*Achatina or Archachatina* spp.), and Right: Gaboon Viper (*Bitis gabonicus*) wrapped in plastic bags. ROW 2: Left and Center: A bushmeat confiscation wrapped in wax paper and plastic; this was concealed inside a bag of peanuts within a large consignment of food legally imported from Cameroon (SDA 2011), and Right: a whole, smoked cane rat, wrapped in brown paper. ROW 3: Smoked fish and Cane Rat pieces wrapped in newspaper and cloth, and ROW 4: Left: pieced Pangolin (*Manis* spp.) in aluminum foil and plastic, Center: African snails in aluminum foil and plastic, and Right: Non-commercial plastic containers are also used: Porcupine pieces in a pepe 'soup'; bushmeat is often pieced and put into a soup or stew type preparation containing greens and spices, and carried in non-commercial plastic containers. [*Note: in some photos, bushmeat has been placed on black plastic or aluminum foil for sanitary reasons during sample collection*]



All photos in this report were taken from bushmeat confiscated in Swiss Airports during this study

RESULTS: The Size of Bushmeat Confiscations in Switzerland



IV. The Size of Bushmeat Confiscations – Trends in This Study

Illegal Meat and Bushmeat Confiscations over the Past 5 Years – How Big are They?

The customs records for all meat and milk confiscations for 2008-2012 were provided for use in this study. A prior examination and analysis of these records before the current study (from Customs records through 2011) allowed us to look at trends in illegal meat smuggling by passengers for a large sample size. A study of illegal meat and bushmeat imports from these earlier records was also published by Vetsuisse at the University of Bern (Falk et al 2013).

The amount of meat (in kilograms) that passengers smuggle into Zürich and Geneva airports in their luggage is not normally distributed; instead, the data shows that the majority of passengers tend to smuggle small amounts of meat (between 1.0 and 3.0 kilograms) with rarer incidences of passengers carrying large amounts. In 2012, over 80% of the total meat confiscations were <4 kg and the average size for all meat confiscations in the 2012 Customs records was **2.77 kg ± 0.06 kg**. This trend in the amount of meat smuggled by passengers into Swiss airports is illustrated in **FIGURE 17**.

Bushmeat is Heavier than All Other Types of Meat Confiscations

We compared the distribution of meat kilograms from all bushmeat confiscations collected during this study to those confiscations collected during the study that contained no bushmeat (using data from both control days and from the 2012 suspected bushmeat). Overall, *confiscations that contained bushmeat were larger than those confiscations that did not contain bushmeat*. Confiscations containing bushmeat weighed on average significantly more (**7.69 kg ± 1.62 kg**, n=27 confiscations) than confiscations which contained no bushmeat (**2.55 kg ± 0.49 kg**, n=31 confiscations). A Kolmogorov-Smirnov two-sample test, used due to heterogeneity of variances between these two groups, showed that this difference was highly significant (*K-S Z* = 1.956, p=0.001), meaning that passengers who were smuggling bushmeat into Switzerland tended to carry larger amounts of meat than those passengers smuggling non-bushmeat types of meats. Results are presented in **FIGURE 18** and in **TABLE 10** and **FIGURE 19**.

This trend was also evident in an examination of combined 2012 Customs records from Zürich and Geneva Airports. The average amount of meat in confiscations described as bushmeat or wild meat when these two airports were considered together was significantly higher (**6.05** kg \pm **1.17** kg) than the average size for all other meat confiscations (**2.71** kg \pm **0.05** kg) (*K*-*S Z* = 1.822, p=0.003). Results are presented in **TABLE 11** and **FIGURE 20**.

These results show that bushmeat smugglers tend to carry larger amounts of meat into Switzerland than those passengers smuggling other types of meats. The fact that bushmeat confiscations tend to be larger suggests that bushmeat smuggling may not be only for personal consumption, but could also include some amount of meats for others, or meats for sale.



FIGURE 17: The total amount of meat (in kg) for all meat confiscations smuggled by passengers into Swiss airports in 2012 from Swiss Customs Records. Most passengers smuggle small amounts of meat (between 1-3 kg).

FIGURE 18: Confiscations of bushmeat *vs.* non-bushmeat in this study. Bushmeat confiscations were significantly heavier than other types of meat confiscations.





Confiscations Containing Bushmeat

TABLE 10: *RESULTS FROM THIS STUDY* - Two Sample Kolmogorov-Smirnov test results from *this study* for confiscations containing bushmeat *vs.* those that contained no bushmeat.

Descriptives

	N	Mean (in kg)	Std. Error
Confiscation contains BUSHMEAT	31	7.685	1.622
Confiscation contains NO bushmeat	27	2.545	0.479
TOTAL	58		

Test Statistics (a)

		Amount of Meat (in kg)
Maat Eutranaa	Absolute	.515
Differences	Positive	.515
	Negative	.000
Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z		1.956
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)		.001

(a) Grouping Variable: This Study; Confiscations containing bushmeat vs. Meat confiscations with no bushmeat

FIGURE 19: A boxplot of the mean amount of meat (in kg) from *this study* for confiscations containing bushmeat *vs.* those confiscations which contained no bushmeat.



Confiscation Contains Bushmeat Confiscation Contains No Bushmeat

TABLE 11: CUSTOMS RECORDS 2012 - Two Sample Kolmogorov-Smirnov from the 2012 Swiss Customs records; Test results for confiscations recognized by Swiss Customs agents in 2012 as bushmeat or wild meat vs. all other meat confiscations.

Descriptives

	N	Mean (in kg)	Std. Error
Confiscation recognized as containing BUSHMEAT or WILD meat	49	6.049	1.169
All Other Meat Confiscations	2687	2.709	0.052
TOTAL	2736		

Test Statistics (a)

		Amount of Meat (in kg)
Most Extreme Differences	Absolute	.263
	Positive	.263
	Negative	060
Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z		1.822
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)		.003

(a) Grouping Variable: Customs Records 2012; Bushmeat Confiscations vs. All Other Meat Confiscations

FIGURE 20: A boxplot of the mean amount of meat for confiscations recognized by Swiss Customs as bushmeat or wild animal meat *vs.* all other meat confiscations from the Customs Records of meat confiscations in 2012.



RESULTS: DNA Identification of Species at Risk from the Bushmeat Trade in Switzerland



V. DNA Analysis of Bushmeat for Species Identification

Identification of Species: Success of the DNA Analysis

Using the DNA methodologies described in Morf et al (2013), we were able to successfully identify the majority of our bushmeat samples; 90% of the meat samples (224 of the 250) were identified to either the species or genus level. Meat samples from confiscations were identified to the species level (samples showed a sequence homology of ≥98% to a reference sequence from the database) for the majority of the DNA tested meats (76%, or 190 of 250 samples) and for 14% of the samples (34 of the 250), DNA analysis identified samples to the genus level (sequences showed <98% of sequence homology to those in the database). The DNA failed to identify species for only 10% of samples, and the majority of these were from commercially processed meats on control days. The DNA technique utilized appears to be highly robust; identifications were possible even with degraded samples and long storage periods, marking this as a powerful tool to identify bushmeat, especially those CITES- listed species being smuggled as bushmeat. **TABLE 12** summarizes the various categories of outcomes for the DNA analyses.

Genus Level and Morphological Identifications

Some samples were identified in the DNA analyses only to the genus level because of inadequate representation of species in the online sequence database; there are a number of little-studied species for which the online database has no DNA sequences, or DNA sequences for only a small number of individuals. This results in less certainty in the identification because the full genetic variation in the species is not present in the database, and was true of samples identified only to genus level in this study.

The majority of samples identified only to the genus level in this study were either pangolins (*Manis* spp.; 13 samples), for which few individuals are present in the online database, or Guenon monkeys (*Cercopithecus* spp.; 12 samples), a species-rich genus that is also not well represented as many of the species are not present in the online database. All of the *Manis* spp. identified in the DNA analysis came from whole or partial carcasses, or multiple pieces for which heads or other identifying structures were present, so that identification could be confirmed as *Manis* morphologically. Photos were taken of all bushmeat sampled for this study, and photos from those samples identified as *Manis* spp. were sent to the IUCN Pangolin specialist group for possible identification to the species level (results of photo examinations are discussed on page 56). The primates in the study were identified only to the genus level in the DNA analysis as *Cercopithecus* spp. and the smoking process had removed hair and other features which would allow for visual identification to the species level. However, all were morphologically identifiable as a species of long-tailed monkey, weighing between 2-6 kilograms, and originating from a West or Central African country (for 1 case, it was also possible the specimen had originated in East Africa).

The remaining genus level identifications in the DNA analysis were from pieces that had no identifying features present, including 5 samples which were identified as *Atherurus* spp., but did not match with *Atherurus africanus* in the online DNA database. We included these 5 samples with results for *Atherurus africanus* for this report as this is the only species of *Atherurus* porcupine known to exist in West/Central Africa (the region this meat arrived from) and samples did not match the Crested Porcupine (*Hystrix cristata*), the only other genus of porcupine occurring in this region. However, it must be noted that these 5 samples, identified only as *Atherurus* spp., were genetically distinct from *Atherurus africanus*. There were also 3 samples from Africa identified in the DNA analyses as either *Bos taurus* (the domestic

cow) or *Bos indicus* (an African breed of domestic cow), and 1 sample identified only as *Himantura* spp. (a species of Stingray from Asia).

DNA Analysis Did Not Proceed – Commercially Processed Meats

Meats for which DNA testing did not proceed included those for which too little DNA was present in the sample, or a mixture of DNA was present in the sample (26 samples, totaling 16.74 kg). However, 4 of these samples (1.73 kg) were identified as red river hog (*Potamochoerus porcus*) based on morphological similarities of the pelt to other pieces within the same confiscation that were identified in the DNA analysis. The remainder of the samples that were not identified in the DNA analyses came from meat pieces that contained no identifying features, so that species identifications could also not be determined morphologically (n=22, 15.01 kilograms from 17 different confiscations).

Commercially processed and packaged meats were the most likely to fail DNA analysis. The majority of samples for which DNA was unable to be extracted in this study, or those for which a mix of DNA was present, were commercially processed items collected on control days (18 of 26, or 70% of the unidentified meats). All of the cases described as 'commercially processed' involved cooked and/or dried meats or a mixture of different meats in one package, and sometimes in sauces or heavily spiced. Examples of commercially processed meats that were not identified in the study include canned meats, dried commercial jerky-type meat products, commercial soup or pasta preparations with dried meat pieces, and wursts. These types of products or processing may make DNA extraction difficult. **TABLE 12** demonstrates that DNA analyses were less successful identifying a number of commercially processed meats from the control days, but succeeded with the majority of bushmeat samples.

Animals Groups at Risk from the Bushmeat Trade in Switzerland

There were at least 37 different species (domestic, fish and wild) found being smuggled into Switzerland during this study and confiscated by Customs. Because some meat was identified only to the level of class, family or genus, it is possible there were as many as 45 different species found during the study.

DNA results identified 16 different wild species, and 2 wild genera (with anywhere from 2-6 species present in these genera). Identifications based on morphology added 5 to 7 more species. This means that at least 23 wild species were identified during this study, although as many as 29 different wild species are possible. Mammals were the most plentiful wild animal group found as bushmeat in Swiss airports, making up 92% of the wild meat kilograms. The most common mammal group were rodents (55% of the total wild meat), followed by pangolins (14%), duikers (12%), and primates (6%). Other mammals found smuggled in lesser amounts included wild pigs (2%), small carnivores (2%), and other antelope (1%). Additional animal groups found and considered bushmeat in this study included reptiles (4% of total wild meat), invertebrates (snails and insects, 3%) and birds (1%). Results are presented in TABLE 13 and in FIGURE 21. The majority of the wild species identified in this study came from Africa. In total, 15-20 mammalian species, 3 reptile species, and 3-5 invertebrate species from Africa were identified as arriving as bushmeat in Swiss airports. All bushmeat confiscations from the ongoing collection of suspected bushmeat by Customs agents in 2012 originated in Africa. Control day confiscations of bushmeat included two of the more frequently found bushmeat species in this study (the African Giant Land Snail and the African brush-tailed porcupine), as well as the only wild species from outside of Africa (2 bird species from Asia). All wild species identified during the study can be viewed in TABLE 15.

A number of wild fish species were also identified in the study, but were not considered bushmeat, as up to 20 kg of wild fish can be carried by passengers. Domestic species were also identified in our DNA analysis, and those wild fish and domestic species found during the study, including their regions of origin, can be viewed in **TABLE 16**.

CITES-Listed Species at Risk from the Bushmeat Trade

Using the CITES searchable database (CITES 2013c)⁴ and the region of origin of the sample, we determined CITES listings for all wild species identified in our samples. We also determined the IUCN Red Data Listing for all species (IUCN 2013a). There were 3 cases of note for which the CITES-listing of the species could not be determined; 1 confiscation of a smoked carcass was identified in our DNA analysis as the Walter's duiker (*Philantomba walteri*) – this duiker was only recently discovered (Colyn 2010) and therefore has not yet been evaluated by the IUCN or CITES. The second case was a confiscation of crocodile skin phone covers, which were identified only to the family level (*Crocodylidae*) as samples were not able to be collected. The third were the 3 species of invertebrates found during the study, which were not sampled and were identified only as Class *Insecta*.

CITES listings were able to be determined for 170 of the 179 bushmeat samples; 61 of these samples, originating from 6-10 different species, came from *species that are listed in the CITES Appendices*. This means that *over one-third (35%) of the samples identified as bushmeat in this study and 30% of the total kilograms identified as bushmeat came from CITES-listed species*. A listing of the species found in Swiss airports, including those CITES-listed species found during the study, can be viewed in **TABLE 16**.

Because the presence of CITES-listed species arriving as illegally smuggled bushmeat in Switzerland was alarming, we examined this result further. We compared all confiscations in our study which contained bushmeat and for which the CITES-listing of wild species present in the confiscations was known. Two confiscations were dropped from this analysis (i.e. those already mentioned above – 1 confiscation of the recently discovered Walter's duiker, which has not been evaluated by IUCN/CITES, and 1 confiscation identified only as *Crocodylidae*, for which CITES-listing could not be determined). We divided these bushmeat confiscations into two categories; 1.) *CITES-listed species were present* in the confiscation or 2.) *No CITES-listed species were present* in the confiscations in these two categories yielded a surprising result; while sample size is small, confiscations within which CITES-listed species were present weighed on average significantly more (16.3 kg ± 3.7 kg, n=9 confiscations) than confiscations in which no CITES-listed species were present (4.8 kg ± 0.6 kg, n=16 confiscations). A non-parametric Kolmogorov-Smirnov two-sample test showed that this difference was significant (*K-S Z* = 1.6, p=0.012); *passengers smuggling bushmeat that included CITES-listed species tended to carry more meat*. This surprising result can be viewed in TABLE 14 and in FIGURE 22.

Species Specific Results

Below is a brief summary of the results specific to those species which were identified as at risk from the bushmeat trade into Switzerland, including those listed in the CITES appendices, which we consider to be at highest risk. **TABLE 15** includes the list of all wild species found during the study, including the

⁴ The CITES searchable database of species (formerly http://www.cites.org/eng/resources/species.html) was recently replaced by Species+ (<u>http://www.speciesplus.net</u>), a new online resource through UNEP-WCMC (CITES 2013e). Species+ provides comprehensive information on globally protected species, including all species covered by the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES), the Convention on the Conservation of Migratory Species of Wild Animals (CMS), and those species included in EU Wildlife Trade Regulations (UNEP-WCMC 2013b, 2013c).

number of confiscations within which each species was found, the total weight (in kg) for each species, and the regions from which the meat originated.

Primates

As noted in our introduction, primates were considered an indicator species in this study because all primates are listed in the CITES appendices and are known to be especially vulnerable to the wildlife trade in Africa. For this reason, we expected the arrival of primate bushmeat in Swiss Airports to be a rare occurrence. Instead, primates were found in 3 separate confiscations in 2012, and ranked 4th highest in total kilograms (12.02 kg), representing 6% of the total bushmeat kilograms found in this study. All of the primates found during the study were species of *Cercopithecus* monkeys (Oates et al 2008), identified only to the genus level in the DNA analyses, but representing at least 1 and possibly 3 species. Of these confiscations of primates, 1 monkey arrived as a complete/intact smoked carcass, 1 as a fresh, pieced carcass, with head, limbs, torso, and tail present, and the third as a smoked, pieced carcass, including a head, at least 4 appendages, a ribcage, and several pieces, of which one may have been a fifth appendage. This third monkey arrived in our largest confiscation (>75 pieces), from which 10 of 33 sampled pieces (30%) were identified as *Cercopithecus* spp. and many pieces were not sampled, so it becomes possible there was more than one monkey present in the confiscation.

Pangolins

Pangolins were the most at-risk CITES-listed animal group identified in this study. At least 8-9 whole and partial pangolin carcasses were confiscated, and several pieced carcasses representing at least at least 7 more pangolins were confiscated; this represents at least 16 pangolins with an estimated total weight of 28.08 kilograms. While our samples were identified only to the genus level in the DNA analysis, the origin of all flights carrying smuggled pangolins was Cameroon. We can therefore conclude that the pangolins found in this study were most likely to be 1 of 3 species that occurs in West/Central Africa; the tree pangolin (*M. tricuspis*), the long-tailed pangolin (*M. tetradactyla*), or the giant pangolin (*M. gigantea*) (Hoffmann 2008b, 2008c, 2008e). Pangolins have very distinctive morphological features and photos of all pangolin specimans were submitted to the IUCN Pangolin Specialist Group (IUCN-SSC PangolinSG 2013). Identifications from these photos were based on a number of morphological characteristics, including the body size of the specimens, the size and patterning of the scales, the lack of scales on the lower section of the forelimbs, and the length of the tail, and suggested that all of the specimens found during our study were likely to be the African Tree pangolin (*Manis tricuspis*) (IUCN Pangolin Specialist Group/Challender and Pietersen, *pers. comm.*), also known as the White-Bellied Pangolin or *Phataginus tricuspis* (Gaudin 2009).

Duikers

Duikers are a small African forest antelope (IUCN SSC Antelope Specialist Group 2008a, 2008b, 2008c) and were the third most at risk type of mammal from the bushmeat trade in Switzerland. Species from *all three duiker subfamilies* were found (*Cephalophus, Philantomba* and *Sylvicapra*) and more species of duiker were found during this study than any other mammal species; 7 species of duiker were identified in the DNA analyses, including 2 species listed in CITES Appendix II, and 5 of their sister taxa. The blue duiker (*Philantomba monticola*) and the bay duiker (*Cephalophus dorsalis*) are both CITES-listed species. These two species, along with the Red-flanked duiker, (*Cephalophus rufilatus*), were among the top ten most frequently found species in this study. Another sister taxa to the bay duiker, the Peter's duiker (*Cephalophus callipygus*), was also found. Other duiker species included 2 sister taxa to the blue duiker; the Maxwell's duiker (*Philantomba maxwelli*), and the Walter's duiker (*Philantomba walteri*). The Walter's duiker is a recently discovered species that occurs in Togo, Benin and Nigeria (Colyn et al 2010) and was identified as the most frequently hunted bushmeat species in Southwestern Nigeria in a study

using the same DNA techniques utilized in this study (Olayemi 2011). The third duiker subfamily represented in this study was a Common duiker (*Sylvicapra grimmia*), found in a confiscation from the Democratic Republic of Congo.

Other Ungulates

Other ungulates found in this study included two types of artiodactyla; the Red River Hog (*Potamochoerus porcus*) and the Sitatunga (*Tragelaphus spekii*). The Red river hog is a species of wild pig from West and Central Africa rainforests (Querouil and Leus 2008; IUCN SSC Wild Pig Specialist Group 2013) and was found in 2 separate confiscations in this study. One antelope species, the Sitatunga (*Tragelaphus spekii*), also known as the Marshbuck or Bushbuck, comes from lowland forest or swamp/savanna areas of Africa (IUCN Antelope Specialist Group 2008d), and was present in 1 confiscation.

Reptiles

Three species of reptiles were found during this study, a species of tortoise, a species of snake, and a species of crocodile. All tortoises (family *Testudinidae*) are listed in either CITES Appendix I or II. A confiscation from Kenya (via a Cameroon flight) contained pieced tortoise meat of least 3 or more specimens (2 heads, at least 10 appendages, and various pieces were present – see photo on page 43). Our DNA results identified these as the Forest hinge-back tortoise (*Kinixys erosa*), a CITES Appendix II species of tortoise from African forests (Tortoise & Freshwater Turtle Specialist Group 1996). Two non-CITES species of reptiles were also found. The Gaboon viper (*Bitis gabonica*) is a savanna and forest dwelling venomous snake from Africa that was found in a passenger's luggage as 2 bags of chopped snake meat. Also discovered being smuggled into Swiss airports were a number of crocodile skin phone covers in a confiscation from South Africa (both real and counterfeit), visually evaluated as belonging to the family *Crocodylidae*.

Carnivores

Carnivores found in this study are represented by 2 species, one of which is CITES-listed; the African Clawless Otter (*Aonyx capensis*), included in CITES Appendix II. One subspecies of *Aonyx (Aonyx capensis microdon* (also considered under the taxonomic names of *Aonyx capensis congicus* or *Aonyx congica*), is found in a limited region and therefore rare, and is considered a CITES Appendix I animal (Hoffmann 2008a; Jacques et al 2009; IUCN Otter Specialist Group 2013a). The partial otter carcass found during this study arrived with pieced red river hog (*P. porcus*) and originated from an unknown West/Central African country. However, while our analyses did not identify bushmeat to the subspecies level, the Appendix I subspecies *Aonyx capensis microdon* is found in the Cameroon/ Nigeria/Congo region - the known origin of most bushmeat in this study and the suspected origin of this confiscation - making it possible this specimen could be an Appendix I CITES-listed species. The second carnivore in this study was the smoked carcass of an African palm civet (*Nandinia binotata*), a small, tree-dwelling carnivore that is currently undergoing local population declines due to habitat loss and hunting (Van Rompaey et al 2008).

Other Wild Species at Risk from the Bushmeat Trade in Switzerland

Rodents

Rodents were the most frequently found type of bushmeat in this study (55% of the total bushmeat). Our samples identified two different species being smuggled into Swiss airports; the African brush-tailed porcupine (*Atherurus africanus*) and the Greater Cane Rat (*Thryonomys swinderianus*) (Hoffmann and Cox 2008, Hoffmann 2008c). The African Brush-tailed Porcupine was by far the most frequently found species during the study and was identified in more confiscations than any other bushmeat species (n=16 confiscations). The porcupine also had the highest total estimated kilograms (81.85 kg or 44% of the total wild meat kilograms in this study). If one considers that the brush-tailed porcupine weighs on average 2.75 kg (Amori and Gippoliti 2002; Mainka and Trivedi 2002), the meat in this study represents at least 30 individuals. The Cane rat ranked 2nd overall, being present in 8 confiscations (n=28 samples), with a total weight of 30.48 kilograms. These two rodent species were found on both our control days and during the 2012 collection of suspected bushmeat. Only one other species accomplished this; the Giant African Land Snail (*Achatina or Archachatina* spp.).

Invertebrates

Three to five species of wild invertebrates were collected during this study, including three confiscations containing Giant African Land Snails (*Achatina or Archachatina* spp.), a popular and commonly eaten wild snail species, collected from the forests in West and Central Africa (Herz 2013; Liess 2007). Species of insects are also known to be collected from the wild for human consumption and were found being smuggled into Swiss airports as food items in two confiscations in this study. Three bags of insect larvae from 2-3 unidentified species were considered only as Class *Insecta*. Confiscations of invertebrates are under the discretion of customs agents and TRACES (TRAde Control and Expert System 2013); if the necessary import paperwork is not in place, they are confiscated. In the customs confiscations records for 2008-2012, invertebrates were one of the more frequently found types of wild meat; close to 30% of confiscations were described by customs agents as invertebrates, or confiscations of other types of meat or bushmeat (i.e. mammalian, reptile, etc.) which also included invertebrates.

Birds

Birds were not common in this study, and the only wild bird confiscations during the study were also our only non-African wild species. Two confiscations of wild birds of Asian origin occurred during the study period; one was a confiscation of bird's nest soup, a soup made from the nests/saliva of the cave swift (*Aerodramus* spp.) (Bird Life International 2012a); this was considered bushmeat because it is an animal product for consumption, although it is not a meat item. The second bird species arrived as the only commercially packaged item considered in the study to be bushmeat; a can of meat from China (via a Middle Eastern flight) labeled 'chicken luncheon meat', but identified in the DNA analysis as a mallard duck (*Anas platyrhynchos*) (Bird Life International 2012b). While mallard ducks are sometimes captive-raised or farmed, we considered any species that occurs in the wild in the country in which the meat originated to have the potential to be bushmeat.

Fish and Domestic Species Found as Smuggled Meats

Fish

Wild fish were not considered bushmeat in this study; up to 20 kilograms of dried or eviscerated fresh fish is allowed in passenger luggage for personal consumption. Because of this, it was difficult to evaluate the threat to fish. While amounts larger than 20 kg are confiscated, species recognition is complicated because a large variety of species exist, and some fish species may be farmed rather than wild. However, the authors observed a number of passengers on control days, especially from flights of Asian and African origin, carrying suitcases filled with fish or fish products. While we did not collect samples from fish during the study, some of our sampled 'meat' pieces were later identified in the DNA analysis as coming from fish and in total, 5 different fish species were identified from confiscations that contained unrecognizable fish pieces mixed with other types of meats. Fish species identified during the

study included 2 African catfish species (*Clarias gariepinus* from an Ethiopian confiscation and *Clarias pachynema* from a Cameroon confiscation), 2 fish species from the North Atlantic ocean that were confiscated from Nigeria (*Brosme brosme* and *Molva molva*), and 1 species of stingray from Singapore (*Himantura* spp.). Visual identifications from confiscations that were over 20kg added 1-2 more species of commercially fished shrimp (family *Penaeidae*) confiscated from Brazil and Nigeria. Overall, 7 confiscations contained fish species and 9 samples were identified as fish. The confiscation from Singapore that was identified only to the genus level as a species of stingray (*Himantura* spp.) is notable because the genus *Himantura* includes a number of vulnerable and endangered species (IUCN 2013b). While this species was not included as bushmeat, it could well be an at risk species of fish. Results for fish species, including the region of origin of the meat, can be viewed in **TABLE 16**.

Domestic Species

DNA analyses also identified at least 7, and up to 8, different domesticated species being illegally smuggled as meats into Switzerland. The most common domestic animal meat found in our study was the cow (*Bos Taurus*), which was found in 18 confiscations, followed by the domestic pig (*Sus scrofa*), which ranked as the 2nd most frequent type of domestic meat and the chicken ranked 3rd (*Gallus gallus*). Interestingly, the water buffalo (*Bubalus bubalis*) ranked as the 4th most frequently found domestic species being illegally carried into Switzerland. While populations of wild water buffalo do exist in parts of Asia, the smuggled meats originated in Turkey and Morocco, where this species is farmed, but is not found in the wild, and these meats were therefore considered to have originated from a domestic species. Other domesticated species found illegally smuggled included the turkey (*Meleagris gallopavo*), the donkey (*Equus asinus*), and the goat (*Capra hircus*). Results for domestic species, including the region of origin for the meat, can be viewed in **TABLE 16**.

 TABLE 12: Success rate of DNA identification; Results for samples which were analyzed in the DNA analyses (n=250), and for samples that were not included in the DNA analyses, but were visually identified (n=30).

 2012 ongoing bushmeat
 Control Days
 Grand Total

Success of DNA Analysis	collection		Control Days		Grand Total	
Success of DIVA Analysis	Number of samples	Weight (in kilograms)	Number of samples	Weight (in kilograms)	Number of samples	Weight (in kilograms)
DNA ID to species or gopus lovel	163	189.6	61	56.14	224	245.74
DIVA ID to species of genus level	(96%)	(99%)	(75%)	(79%)	(90%)	(94%)
DNA failed –	6	2.13	20	14.61	26	16.74
(No DNA or mix of DNA)	(4%)	(1%)	(25%)	(21%)	(10%)	(6%)
SUBTOTAL	169	<i>191.73</i>	81	70.75	250	262.48
DNA analyses not attempted (visual identification only)	17	25.65	13	8.04	30	33.68
GRAND TOTAL	186	217.37	94	78.79	280	296.16

TABLE 13: Wild animal groups found as bushmeat in Swiss airports in 2012; 92% of samples were from mammals, 4% from reptiles, 3% from invertebrates, and 1% from birds.

Type of Animal	Number of	Proportion of	Estimated	Proportion of
Type of Allina	Samples	Samples	Kilograms	Kilograms
Rodents (2-3 species)	72	0.40	112.33	0.55
Pangolins (1-3 species)	20	0.11	28.08	0.14
Duikers (7 species)	34	0.19	24.95	0.12
Monkeys (2-3 species)	12	0.07	12.12	0.06
Reptiles (3 species)	13	0.07	7.50	0.04
Wild pigs (1 species)	14	0.08	4.78	0.02
Small carnivores (2 species)	3	0.02	3.91	0.02
Insects (2-3 species)	3	0.02	3.76	0.02
Birds (2 species)	2	0.01	3.03	0.01
Snails (1-2 species)	5	0.03	2.70	0.01
Other antelope (1 species)	1	0.01	1.00	0.005
TOTAL	179	1.00	204.16	1.00

FIGURE 21: The estimated amount (in kg) for all animal groups/species identified during the study.



TABLE 14: All Bushmeat Confiscations: A comparison of the presence or absence of CITES-listed species in all bushmeat confiscations for which CITES-listings were known.

Descriptives

All Confiscations Containing Bushmeat	N	Mean (in kg)	Std. Error
Confiscation contained CITES-listed species	9	16.249	3.692
Confiscation contained no CITES-listed species	16	4.776	0.615
TOTAL	25		

Test Statistics (a)

		Amount of Meat (in kg)
	Absolute	.667
Most Extreme Differences	Positive	.667
	Negative	.000
Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z		1.600
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)		.012

(a) Grouping Variable: This Study; Presence vs. Absence of CITES-listed species for all bushmeat confiscations

FIGURE 22: All Bushmeat confiscations; a comparison of the weight of all bushmeat confiscations within which **CITES-listed species are present** *vs.* those with **no CITES-listed species present**. Confiscations containing CITES-listed species weighed significantly more than those bushmeat confiscations with only non-CITES species present.



COMMON NAME	SPECIES	Number of samples	Number of confiscations	Weight in kilograms	CITES LISTING	Countries of Origin (listed from highest to lowest kg)
CITES-LISTED SPECIES						
African pangolin	<i>Manis</i> spp. (1-3 species*)	20	5	28.08	CITES Appendix II	Cameroon
Blue duiker	Philantomba monticola	13	3	12.20	CITES Appendix II	Kenya, Cameroon
Guenons	Cercopithecus spp. (1-3 species**)	12	3	12.12	CITES Appendix II	Cameroon, Kenya
Bay duiker	Cephalophus dorsalis	4	2	2.89	CITES Appendix II	Cameroon
Forest hinge-back tortoise	Kinixys erosa	10	1	2.40	CITES Appendix II	Kenya
African clawless otter	Aonyx capensis	2	1	1.85	CITES Appendix II	unknown African country
SPECIES NOT CURREN	TLY LISTED IN CITES AP	PENDICES				
African brush-tailed porcupine	Atherurus africanus (1-2 species***)	44	16	81.85	not listed	Cameroon, Democratic Republic of Congo, Nigeria
Greater cane rat	Thryonomys swinderianus	28	8	30.48	not listed	Cameroon, Ivory Coast, Nigeria, Togo
Red river hog	Potamochoerus porcus****	14	2	4.78	not listed	Cameroon, unknown African country
Gaboon viper	Bitis gabonica	2	1	4.10	not listed	Cameroon
Red-flanked duiker	Cephalophus rufilatus	8	1	3.91	not listed	Cameroon
Insects	CLASS Insecta + (2-3 species)	3	2	3.76	unknown species/listing	Cameroon
Giant African land snail	Achatina or Archachatina spp. †	5	3	2.70	not listed	Ivory Coast, Cameroon
Mallard duck	Anas platyrhynchos	1	1	2.40	not listed	Israel (via China)
Common duiker	Sylvicapra grimmia	2	1	2.35	not listed	Democratic Republic of Congo
African palm civet	Nandinia binotata	1	1	2.06	not listed	Cameroon
Walter's duiker	Philantomba walteri	1	1	1.80	not evaluated - new species	Nigeria
Maxwell's duiker	Philantomba maxwelli	5	1	1.31	not listed	Cameroon
Sitatunga	Tragelaphus spekii	1	1	1.00	not listed	Кепуа
Crocodile	FAMILY Crocodylidae +	1	1	1.00	unknown species/listing	South Africa
Cave swift	Aerodramus spp. +	1	1	0.63	not listed	Singapore
Peter's duiker	Cephalophus callipygus	1	1	0.49	not listed	Cameroon
TOTALS		179		204.16		

TABLE 15: Wild species found as bushmeat during our study, including the countries of origin of the meat.

* *Manis* spp. originated in Africa where 3 species are present, although evaluation of photo evidence makes it likely that all Manis spp. in this study were African Tree Pangolins (*Manis tetradactyla*). Eight *Manis* carcasses were identified based on DNA results for an identical carcass within the confiscation.

***Cercopithecus* spp. were identified only to the genus level because of underrepresentation in the DNA databank, and include from 1 to 3 species, based on their presence in 3 separate confiscations.

*** Eight Atherurus africanus carcasses were identified based on DNA results for an identical carcass within a confiscation. Atherurus africanus also contains 5 samples (1.41 kilograms) which were identified only to the genus level in DNA analysis (as Atherurus spp.); because the confiscation containing these samples came from Africa, and there is only one Atherurus species present there, we included these kilograms in Atherurus africanus. However, samples did not match with either Atherurus africanus or Hystrix cristata, the 2 species of porcupines from this region that are present in the online genetic databank. ****Potamochoerus porcus contains 4 samples (0.93 kilograms) which were visually identified based on pelt similarity to other pieces in the confiscation that were identified with DNA analysis.

+ Identification was determined morphologically; DNA was not analyzed for this identification.

TABLE 16: Domestic and fish species found during the study, including the countries where the meat originated. Countries of origin are listed from the country which had the highest amount of meat (in kilograms) to the country with the lowest amount of meat found during the study.

COMMON NAME	SPECIES	Number of samples	Number of confiscations	Weight in kilograms	Countries of Origin of Meats (listed from highest to lowest kg)		
DOMESTIC SPECIES							
Cow	Bos taurus *	35	18	37.46	Kosovo, Cameroon, Kenya, Ivory Coast, Senegal, Thailand, Brazil, Nigeria, Singapore, South Africa, Canada		
Pig	Sus scrofa	16	8	16.57	Korea, Egypt, Togo, Ukraine, Singapore, China, Kosovo		
Chicken	Gallus gallus	9	5	4.34	Cameroon, Egypt, Thailand, Singapore, China		
Water Buffalo	Bubalus bubalis	2	2	4.24	Turkey, Morocco		
Turkey	Meleagris gallopavo	2	1	2.67	Turkey		
Donkey	Equus asinus	2	1	1.88	Nigeria		
Goat	Capra hircus	2	2	1.16	Turkey, Cameroon		
FISH SPECIES							
African catfish	Clarias pachynema	2	1	2.40	Nigeria		
Shrimp	FAMILY Penaeidae † (1-2 species)	3	2	1.47	Nigeria, Brazil		
African sharp-tooth catfish	Clarias gariepinus	1	1	1.20	Ethiopia		
Whipray	Himantura spp.	1	1	0.48	Singapore		
Nordic fish	Brosme brosme	1	1	0.20	Nigeria		
Nordic fish	Molva molva	1	1	0.15	Nigeria		
UNIDENTIFIED SPECIES							
Unidentified meat pieces	unidentified species	24	17	17.79	Russia, Turkey, China, Korea, Egypt, Kosovo, Nigeria, Thailand, Qatar, Singapore, Cameroon, Brazil		
TOTAL		101		92.01			

*Bos taurus includes 3 samples (1.73 kg) which were identified in DNA analyses as either Bos taurus or Bos indicus; Bos indicus is a species of domesticated cattle originating in Africa, and the ambiguous samples originated from confiscations arriving from Senegal and Thailand.

+ Identification was determined morphologically; DNA was not analyzed for this identification.

RESULTS: How Much Bushmeat is coming into Switzerland?



VI. A Model for Determining an Annual Amount of Bushmeat into Switzerland

Components of the Model

Several components were used to create a model that would estimate the amount of bushmeat smuggled into Switzerland. Most data for the model was collected during control day searches of targeted planes. The number of passengers searched and the number and weight of meat confiscations from the searched passengers was recorded. DNA or visual species identifications gave us the proportion of the smuggled meats that were bushmeat. The total number of passengers moving through the airport during the search hours was obtained from airport statistics to estimate overall volumes. The model methodology is described in detail in this section.

1.) Targeted Flights; Control Day Searches for Bushmeat

A number of flights were targeted for searches on 5 control days. These flights were chosen beforehand, based on internal criteria for searches in each of the airports. From these targeted flights, we collected data on the total number of passengers on each flight, the number of passengers searched, and the number of passengers carrying meat and/or bushmeat.

In some cases, passengers picked for a search were discovered to be from flights other than those targeted; in cases where a confiscation occurred from these flights, the flight was added to our control day database of flights searched. Only those flights targeted by customs, or those flights added to the targeted list during the control day (once all targeted flights were searched), were considered for our analysis of search effort (n=67 flights). Information on the total number of people on a given flight was collected for 85% of the targeted flights (n=57). For some flights (n=14), the total number of passengers was not known; in these cases, the type of plane flown by that airline for that flight was obtained from online references, and flights were estimated to be at 70% capacity (in regard to total passengers). While the search area was sometimes quite busy, we counted the number of passengers that were controlled (i.e. searched) from targeted flights; however, for the first two control days, only the total number of passengers searched was available. For the last three control days, information on number of passengers searched from each targeted plane was collected.

2.) Search Effort: The Proportion of Targeted Passengers and Total Passengers Searched

The volume of passengers moving through the airports daily, coupled with present staffing levels for customs agents, and the responsibility of a myriad of contraband items to search for, means that customs agents are able to search only a small fraction of passengers arriving in Switzerland. Zürich Flughafen targeted 32 flights on 2 control days and approximately **3.5** - **5.3%** of the passengers from these targeted flights were searched. Genève Aéroport targeted 35 flights on 3 control days and approximately **6.7** - **13.5%** of these passengers were searched. When considering the two airports together, in regard to control days, Swiss customs agents were able to search an average of **7.4%** (**3.5-13.5%**) of the passengers arriving on the flights targeted for searches. Results are shown in **TABLE 17**.

Online airport statistics from Zürich (Zürich Flughafen 2012) and Geneva (Genève Aéroport 2012) provided the **total number of passengers** moving through each airport. In 2012, there were a total of *24,761,989 passengers* moving through Flughafen Zürich and a total of *13,899,422 passengers* moving through Genève Aéroport (Flughafen Zürich 2012; Genève Aéroport 2012). In comparison, Flughafen Zürich passenger volume is approximately double that of Genève Aéroport. In the Zürich Flughafen statistics, the annual number of passengers included arriving, departing and transit passengers, of which expert opinion estimated 1/3 to be *arriving passengers* (*Swiss Customs Administration, pers. comm.*).

Genève Aéroport statistics noted that transit passengers were removed, so that the total number of passengers was divided by 2 to obtain arriving passengers. From this annual number of passengers, we estimated the **total number of passengers arriving per search hour**, based on a 365 day year/24 hour day.

From this estimated number of passengers arriving during control day search hours, we determined that targeted flights contained approximately **20%** of the total passenger volume moving through the airport. Results showed that **1.0 - 1.7%** of the *total arriving passengers* into Zürich Flughafen were searched on control days, and in Genève Aéroport, **1.5 - 2.7%** of the *total arriving passengers* were searched. When considering the two airports together, the proportion of the total arriving passengers that were able to be searched upon arrival in Switzerland was on average **1.8%** (**1.0 - 2.7%**) of the total arriving passengers. Results for search effort can be viewed in **TABLE 17**.

3.) Proportion of Confiscated Meats Identified as Bushmeat on Control Days

Another important question is how much of the confiscated meat arriving in Switzerland is bushmeat? We looked at results from our control day searches to determine the proportion of confiscated meats that were identified as bushmeat, which was quite high, and although it must be noted that sample sizes for control days were small, the results were consistent. For the 3 control days in Geneva, on average 1 to 2 out of 3 passengers, or **33.3** - **66.7%** (average = **44%**) from whom meat items were confiscated, proved to be carrying some type of wild meat. In Zürich, the number of passengers from which items were confiscated was larger; 12 confiscations of meat occurred on each control day, of which 1 item per day was identified as originating from a wild species, so that on average **8.3%** of the Zürich meat confiscations were bushmeat or wild meat. When considering the two airports together, an average of **18%** (**8.3** - **66.7%**) of the total meat confiscations in Switzerland, and **20%** (**2.5** – **56.7%**) of the total kilograms of meat collected, were identified as bushmeat or wild meat or wild meat

4.) The Proportion of Meats Recognized as Bushmeat in Swiss Customs Records

Because the sample size on control days was relatively small, we also examined the Customs confiscation records for 2008 through 2012 to determine the proportion of the total meat confiscations in Swiss Customs record data that were described as bushmeat or wild meat. When considering the two airports separately, there is a marked difference in the amount of overall confiscations that are described as bushmeat or wild meat for Zürich Flughafen *vs.* Genève Aéroport. Geneva tends to have a higher proportion of overall meat confiscations and kilograms that are recognized as wild meats. In 2012, the period when this study was in progress, **6%** of meat confiscations and **10%** of the total meat confiscations and **3%** of the total kilograms of meat confiscated in Zürich were described thus. When the data is combined to reflect all of Switzerland for 2012, results show that **2%** of meat confiscations and **4%** of meat kilograms were described by Customs agents as some type of bushmeat or wild meat. Results of this exercise are presented in **FIGURE 23** and **FIGURE 24**.

5.) Proportion of Searched Passengers Smuggling Bushmeat

For our model, we determined *the proportion of the searched passengers that were smuggling meat or bushmeat confiscations* on control days. An average of **13%** of the passengers searched at Zürich Flughafen, and **2.4%** of the passengers searched at Genève Aéroport, were smuggling some type of meat. When the two airports were combined, an average of **5.9%** of the total passengers searched on arrival in Switzerland were smuggling some type of meat.

When considering only those meat confiscations from control days that were identified as some type of bushmeat or wild meat product, results were very similar for the two airports; on average, **1.1%** (range = **0.8 – 1.8%**) of the passengers searched upon arrival in Switzerland on our control days were carrying bushmeat. These results can be seen in **TABLE 17**.

6.) Bushmeat Smuggling Regions: Estimating a Number of Smugglers per Region

When considering passengers arriving in Swiss airports daily, it is of course true that not all passengers are equally likely to be smuggling meats. For example, we have already shown that passengers arriving from African regions are more likely to be carrying bushmeat than passengers from any other region (see **FIGURES 2** and **3**). Therefore, the calculations in our model included only those countries or regions which were found to have smuggled bushmeat in 2012 and *all non-bushmeat smuggling countries or regions were not included in the model presented in this report*. This is quite conservative, especially as an examination of the Customs confiscation records from 2008-2011 includes a number of bushmeat smuggling countries that were not included in our present model. Our model is also very conservative in that it weights the total number of passengers in each smuggling region by multiplying the *total number of annual passengers* arriving from that region. For example, if 1% of total bushmeat came on Asian flights, then only 1% of the total passengers arriving from Asia were considered as potential smugglers. While this is a very rough method of estimation, we considered this *weighted number of passengers* as representing the number of passengers from each region that had the *potential* to be smuggling bushmeat.

To estimate a number of smugglers for each region, the *number of potential smugglers* from each region was multiplied by the proportion of searched passengers found to be carrying bushmeat from our control days (this was determined to be *an average of* **1.1%** *of the total arriving passengers* - see **TABLE 17**). Again, this is very conservative, as Swiss Customs Records for 2012 describe **1.8%** of meat confiscations in 2012 to be bushmeat or wild meat (see **FIGURE 23**). It is especially conservative when considering a region such as Africa, for which on average, **15%** of confiscations were described as bushmeat or wild meat in the Swiss Customs Records for 2012 (see **FIGURE 2**). This calculation resulted in an *estimated number of smugglers* for each region, which is shown in **TABLE 18**.

7.) Amount of Bushmeat Smugglers Carry; The Average Size of Bushmeat Confiscations in 2012

It has already been noted that not all wild meat confiscations arriving in the airports in 2012 were sampled; bushmeat confiscations in this study were only a subset of the total bushmeat confiscations coming into Swiss Airports in 2012 (see page 26; 44.4% of Zürich Flughafen confiscations and 15% of Genève Aéroport confiscations described by Customs Agents as bushmeat or some type of wild meat in the 2012 Customs Record Data were sampled for this study). During our study, we collected samples from approximately 200 kg of bushmeat. According to Swiss Customs, the total amount of bushmeat confiscated in the Swiss Customs Records for 2012 was closer to 400 kilograms (381 kg; EFD/EZV 2013). To determine the average size of bushmeat confiscations, we therefore combined the data collected during the study with the record data provided by Customs in order to include all bushmeat confiscations from 2012 (confiscations from our study sampled in 2011 or 2013 were not included). Using this combined data, the average size of all known bushmeat confiscations in 2012 was determined to be **6.4 kg ± 1.1 kg**.

8.) Bushmeat Amounts by Smuggling Regions

Each region from which wild meat smuggling occurred was included in the model presented in this report. The *estimated number of smugglers* for each smuggling region was multiplied by the *average*

amount of bushmeat carried by passengers in 2012 to estimate an amount of meat (in kg) arriving from each smuggling region. These amounts were then summed to determine the amount of bushmeat smuggled into Switzerland in 2012. Results of the model can be viewed in **TABLE 18**.

Limitations and Biases within the Model

In any model or estimation, there are a number of uncertainties, biases, and assumptions; these are discussed below for the model presented in this report. Because of this, we consider the model presented here as a preliminary estimate only - a more sophisticated model, addressing some of the issues listed here, is currently in progress and will be presented at a later date.

The planes targeted on control days may have been more or less likely to carry bushmeat; In Zürich, control day foci included a diversity of wildlife products of concern (i.e. Chinese medicines, illegal plants such as *Orchidae*, caviar, and bushmeat). Because of this, a number of targeted flights (38%) were of *Asian, Russian,* or *Eastern European* origin. However, according to results from this study, *only 1% of bushmeat arriving in Switzerland comes from regions outside Africa*. Of the targeted flights on Zürich control days, only 25% had *known* African connections. In contrast, the three control days at Geneva included a more specific focus on bushmeat (and caviar), with the majority of targeted flights having *known* connections to Africa (80%), and the remainder Russian and Eastern European flights (6%). As a result, the likelihood of finding bushmeat on Zürich control days may have been lower.

Not all regions/passengers arriving in Switzerland are equally likely to be smuggling bushmeat: We decided which regions to include in the model by using only those that smuggled bushmeat into Switzerland in 2012, and we included numbers of arriving passengers from these regions only. Regions known to have smuggled wild meat in the Swiss Customs Records for 2008-2011 were not included in the model, as they did not smuggle bushmeat in 2012. Determining which regions/passengers to include in the model was complicated by the fact that while the majority of bushmeat originates in African countries, it arrives in Switzerland on transit flights from within Europe. Because of this, we created two separate models (a Meat Origin model and a Flight Origin model). For the Flight Origin model, European passengers were included, but only those passengers arriving from European countries which carried bushmeat into Switzerland. This left a large number of passengers from many European countries, and some have smuggled bushmeat into Switzerland in other years.

The number of passengers from a given smuggling region were weighted by the amount of bushmeat from each region to estimate some number of passengers with the potential to be smugglers: We weighted arriving passengers by the proportion of bushmeat arriving from their region – however, we consider this a very crude method of estimation. A more correct method is currently in progress in a more sophisticated model that will incorporate information in regard to the proportion of passengers arriving in Switzerland on flights from the various regions.

Differences between the two airport's flight profiles by region were not fully known as it was not a focus of this study: Differences in the proportion of overall meats recognized as bushmeat in Zürich Flughafen vs. Genève Aéroport may also reflect differences in the overall proportions of flights arriving into these airports from the various regions, which would affect the model. For example, there may be proportionally more flights of African origin, or more flights with connections to Africa arriving in Geneva, while Zürich may have a higher proportion of flights from Asian and Eastern European countries. There is some evidence of this, in that Zürich does have a number of direct Asian flights that are not present in Geneva, and also has flights from Eastern European countries that are not present in Geneva. Customs records for meat confiscations in 2012 show that *while the amount of confiscations and kilograms of bushmeat from Africa is similar for the two airports*, results for Zürich are offset by a large amount of meat confiscated from Asian and Eastern European countries. For example, in the Customs record data for Zürich, over 50% of the meats confiscated at Zürich Flughafen in 2012 were *wursts and/or other processed meats arriving from Eastern European countries*. In order to more accurately estimate the proportion of the total confiscated meats that are bushmeat, it would be necessary to have a more detailed profile of the proportions of overall flights, passengers, and meats arriving from each region.

Sample size for control days was small and some data points were missing or not included in the model: The sample size for meat confiscations on control days was small and therefore the model would be strengthened by a larger sample size of targeted planes and meat vs. bushmeat confiscations. Because of the small sample size, Customs Record data was used to augment control day results. However, there were several bushmeat confiscations in the 2012 records for which meat origin was not known (1.8% of confiscations) or flight origin was not known (9.1%) and these confiscations were therefore not included in the model. Their inclusion would likely have impacted the estimate, especially in the case of the Flight Origin model.

Cryptic bushmeat (i.e. pieces and cuts not recognized as bushmeat by customs agents) are not taken into account: The number of bushmeat confiscations and amounts in this study is based *only on those confiscations recognized or suspected by customs of being bushmeat*. This does not include bushmeat that was not found, but instead entered Switzerland. It is also highly likely that during 2012, some wild meats were not recognized, or not recorded in the Customs records, as bushmeat. Our study provides evidence of this. Some of the meats sampled during the study were identified in the DNA analysis as bushmeat, but during the Customs searches, were not recognized as bushmeat, and were entered in their records with a generic 'meat' descriptor. During this study, 17% of the total confiscations we tested and found to be bushmeat or wild meat were entered in the Customs records with a description that did not identify it as a wild meat, but rather gave it a generic 'meat' description, or identified it as some type of domestic or farmed animal meat. Because of this, the total amount of bushmeat used in the model is very likely to be an underestimation of the true amount.

Results are derived from data for Zürich and Geneva airports only: The model does not include passengers from other Swiss airports which also have international flights. It also does not include other means of entry, such as trains, cargo containers, and road traffic, all of which are known forms of entry into Switzerland (Läubli 2010; Fuss 2012; SDA 2014). A recent seizure by Customs in Basel Switzerland provides evidence of bushmeat smuggling over roads via other airports; 16 kg of bushmeat from Cameroon was being smuggled from St. Louis, France to Basel, Switzerland in the trunk of a car when it was seized by Customs, including crocodile, python and CITES-listed pangolins; the bushmeat was likely to have arrived at the nearby EuroAirport (Basel-Mulhouse-Freiburg) in Saint-Louis, France (SDA 2014). Confiscations from all points of entry would need to be included in order to estimate the true amount of bushmeat coming into Switzerland, and indicate that the model presented here is most likely to be an underestimation of the actual amount coming in.

Model Summary and Results

The current model was based on results of this study and Customs records of bushmeat confiscations in 2012. The model calculations were as follows;

$$BM_{est} = \left\{ \sum_{i=0}^{n} ((Npass_i \cdot bmp_i) \cdot (Smugg_{bm})) \cdot (BM_{avg}) \right\}$$

Where *Npass*_i is the *total number of arriving passengers* from each bushmeat smuggling region (regions *i* through *n*) and where *bmp*_i is the proportion of meat confiscations that were identified as bushmeat for each smuggling region. These were multiplied in order to weight the total number of arriving passengers from a given smuggling region as we considered not all passengers from a region to be equally likely to smuggle bushmeat. This calculation gives us a number of potential smugglers for each smuggling region. These potential smugglers were then multiplied by a constant (*Smugg_{bm}*) which is the proportion of passengers from our control days who were searched and found to be carrying bushmeat (1.1%). This calculation estimated a number of bushmeat smugglers for each smugglers for each smugglers for each region was then multiplied by another constant (BM_{avg}) or the average size of bushmeat confiscations in 2012 as determined from this study combined with 2012 Customs record data (6.4 ± 1.1 kg), giving us an estimated amount of bushmeat (in kg) for each smuggling region. These amounts were then converted to tonnes⁵ and summed to give us an estimated amount of bushmeat (in tonnes) for all of Switzerland.

Model of Meat Origin vs. Flight Origin

While the majority of bushmeat in 2012 came from African countries, most arrived on flights originating from within Europe (see **FIGURE 5**). In order to take into account the fact that bushmeat coming into Switzerland is more likely to arrive on a flight from within Europe than on a flight from which the meat originated, we created two different models; a *Meat Origin Model vs.* a *Flight Origin Model*. These models differed as follows; our **Meat Origin Model** used the total numbers of arriving passengers from the *regions of origin of the smuggled bushmeat*, and our **Flight Origin Model** used the total number of arriving passengers from the *regions of origin of departing flights which carried bushmeat into Switzerland*. The standard error of the average size of bushmeat confiscations and the differences between models were used to describe confidence intervals.

The current models suggest an amount approximating at least **40 tonnes of bushmeat** was smuggled into Switzerland in 2012. We considered the meat origin model, which included only those regions *outside of Europe* which were found to have smuggled bushmeat in 2012, as our base model, as it includes no passengers arriving from within Europe. This model estimated that **37.5 tonnes ± 6.3 tonnes of bushmeat** arrived in Switzerland in 2012. However, because the majority of bushmeat confiscations in this study were found to arrive on flights within Europe, we created our flight origin model, which included only passengers from those European countries from which flights departed carrying bushmeat into Switzerland. This model estimated that **41.9 tonnes ± 7.0 tonnes of bushmeat** were smuggled into Switzerland in 2012. Summary results of the models are presented in **TABLE 18**.

In the models presented in this report, we used a figure from our control days (i.e. *the overall proportion of the searched passengers that were carrying bushmeat confiscations* = **1.1%**) to estimate the number

⁵ The *tonne* is a metric system unit of mass equal to 1000 kilograms (2,204.6 pounds). In the United States, it is known as a *metric ton*.

of bushmeat smugglers. However, we also considered what would happen if the proportion of passengers carrying bushmeat was higher. Our examination of the Customs records of confiscations for 2012 showed that **1.8%** of all meats confiscated in 2012 were described by customs agents as some type of bushmeat or wild meat. We addressed this possibility by using 1.8% in the model as the proportion of passengers smuggling bushmeat (instead of the 1.1% of searched passengers carrying bushmeat from our control day data). When this higher proportion is used, the estimate increased to approximately **60** to **80** tonnes of bushmeat annually (Meat Origin Model = **63.56** tonnes \pm **10.65** tonnes, Flight Origin Model = **71.01** tonnes \pm **11.90** tonnes). While results for the meat and flight origin models presented here are similar, it must be noted that in our flight origin model, we considered only passengers from those European regions which smuggled bushmeat into Switzerland in 2012. Because a substantial portion of bushmeat found during this study (60%) of bushmeat came on flights from within Europe, and because it is likely that bushmeat could arrive from European regions that were not included in the model, we also created a model that considered *all European passengers* as having the potential to smuggle bushmeat. While these results are not presented here, when all European regions/passengers are included in the model, results show an order of magnitude difference.

Our current estimate of 40 tonnes is larger than a previous risk estimate by Vetsuisse presented in Falk et al (2013) of 8.6 tonnes of bushmeat per year for Switzerland. The Falk et al estimate, however, was based on Swiss Customs records of confiscations from 2008 through September of 2011 and the records for two of these years (2008 and 2011) were incomplete; data entry into Excel spreadsheets did not begin until May 2008 in Genève Aéroport and August 2008 in Zürich Flughafen. The records for 2011 were also obtained before the year 2011 ended, and were complete only through September 2011 in Zürich and October 2011 in Geneva. Also of note is that the amount of bushmeat recorded in Zürich in 2010 was very low; the reason for this is not known, but may reflect a focus on other contraband items/regions by customs agents. While the Falk et al estimate did take into account the skewed distribution of meat kilograms (this distribution can be viewed in **FIGURE 17**), it did not take into account the more recent findings from this study - that bushmeat confiscations are significantly larger than other types of meat confiscations. Finally, Falk's estimate also did not take into account that the amount of bushmeat is increasing each year (see next section, FIGURE 25 and FIGURE 26). It is relevant to our estimate that the amount of bushmeat found in 2012 is higher than in all other previous years (see next section); our current estimate is based only on results of bushmeat amounts smuggled in 2012. Confidence intervals around the Falk et al estimate do show that anywhere from 0.5 to 88.5 *tonnes* of bushmeat per year are possible in their model.

A More Sophisticated Model of the Amount of Bushmeat Smuggled into Switzerland is in Progress

While the model presented in this report is preliminary, it represents an interesting exercise in possibilities and so was included in this report. However, as were concerned with the limitations of the model, we joined into collaboration with statisticians in the bioinformatics department at the University of Bern and a more sophisticated and statistically robust version of our model is currently in progress. Results from this new model will be presented at a later date, but will include bootstrapping for confidence intervals as well as a more sophisticated methodology for estimating the number of smugglers (*Hauser, unpublished data*). The crude method used in this model (of removing passengers from a given region by weighting them by the proportion of bushmeat from that region, and not including some regions at all, is likely to have grossly underestimated the number of smugglers. As a result, the estimate presented here is very conservative. Preliminary results from the more statistically sophisticated model already suggest that the amount of bushmeat being smuggled into Switzerland may be much higher than the 40 tonnes presented here.




FIGURE 24: Differences in Bushmeat Proportions at Swiss Airports; the proportion of the *total meat confiscations and kilograms* that were described by Swiss Customs agents as bushmeat or wild meat in the Customs records in 2008-2012 for Flughafen Zürich vs. Genève Aéroport. Geneva typically has a higher proportion of the total meat confiscations that are described as bushmeat. However, the total amount of bushmeat (in kilograms) coming into each airport is similar.



all	u overa	an an por	l passei	iger voit	ines,	and the a	announts a	nu prope		megarn	leat con	inscations	sidentii	ieu as bu	siineat	ior the	5 00100	i uays ii	i tins st	uuy.
Control Day	A. Number of targeted planes	B. Total number of passengers on targeted planes	 C. Total number of passengers from targeted planes that were searched 	Proportion of targeted passengers searched (=C/B)	D. Number of search hours	E. Number of people arriving per hour (derived from 2012 airport stats)	F. Number of people arriving in airport during control day hours (=D*E)	Proportion of total arriving passengers on targeted planes (=B/F)	Proportion of total arriving passengers searched (=C/F)	G. Total number of searched passengers with meat confiscations	Proportion of searched passengers with meat confiscations (=G/C)	 H. Total number of searched passengers with bushmeat confiscations 	Proportion of searched passengers with bushmeat confiscations (=H/C)	Proportion of meat smugglers that were smuggling meats identified as bushmeat (=H/G)	I. Total amount of meat (in kg)	J. Total amount of bushmeat (in kg)	Proportion of confiscated meat kilograms that were bushmeat (=J/I)	K. Total number of samples collected	 L. Total number of samples identified as bushmeat 	Proportion of total samples identified as bushmeat (=L/K)
ZÜRICH																				
Control Day 1 – Zürich 29-Sep-11	18	2,392	127	5.31%	8	925.3	7,402.5	32.31%	1.72%	12	9.45%	1	0.79%	8.33%	25.7	0.63	2.45%	34	1	2.94%
Control Day 2 – Zürich 20-Dec-12	14	1,612	57	3.54%	6	925.3	5,551.9	29.04%	1.03%	12	21.05%	1	1.75%	8.33%	24.49	1.0	4.08%	26	1	3.85%
GENEVA																				
Control Day 1 – Geneva 13-Oct-11	14	1,186	149	12.56%	7	793.4	5,553.4	21.36%	2.68%	3	2.01%	1	0.67%	33.33%	4.3	1.0	23.26%	8	3	37.50%
Control Day 2 – Geneva 23-Dec-11	10	1,396	93	6.66%	8	793.4	6,346.8	22.00%	1.47%	3	3.23%	1	1.08%	33.33%	11.1	6.29	56.67%	16	11	68.75%
Control Day 3 – Geneva 4-Oct-12	11	984	133	13.52%	7	793.4	5,553.4	17.72%	2.39%	3	2.26%	2	1.50%	66.67%	13.2	6.9	52.27%	10	6	60.00%
TOTALS																				
Zürich Subtotal	32	4,004	184	4.60%	14	1,850.6	12,954.4	30.91%	1.42%	24	13.04%	2	1.09%	8.33%	50.19	1.63	3.25%	60	2	3.33%
Geneva Subtotal	35	3,566	375	10.52%	22	2,380.1	17,453.6	20.43%	2.15%	9	2.40%	4	1.07%	44.44%	28.6	14.2	49.62%	34	20	58.82%
TOTAL (Switzerland)	67	7,570	559	7.38%	36	4,230.7	30,408.0	24.89%	1.84%	33	5.90%	6	1.07%	18.18%	78.79	15.82	20.08%	94	22	23.40%
AVERAGE (Switzerland)	13.4	1,514.0	111.8	-	7.2	846.1	6,081.6	-	-	6.6	-	1.2	-		15.76	3.16	-	18.80	4.40	-

TABLE 17: Summary of Control Days at Zürich Flughafen and Genève Aéroport: the table includes number of targeted flights, search effort for targeted flights and overall airport passenger volumes, and the amounts and proportion of illegal meat confiscations identified as bushmeat for the 5 control days in this study.

TABLE 18: The two Models for determining how much bushmeat may be arriving in Switzerland annually; MODEL 1 uses the region of origin of the meat to estimate total kilograms of bushmeat, and MODEL 2 uses the departure point of flights carrying bushmeat into Switzerland. G.) the proportion of searched passengers smuggling bushmeat was determined from our control days to be 1.1%, and I.) the average size of bushmeat confiscations in 2012 was determined from all bushmeat confiscations recorded in this study, combined with Swiss Customs Records during 2012, to be 6.4 kg ± 1.1 kg.

MODEL 1: REGION OF ORIGIN OF THE BUSHMEAT	A. Number of Bushmeat Confiscations in 2012	B. TOTAL number of passengers in 2012	C. Number of Arriving Passengers in 2012	D. Proportion of overall bushmeat confiscations from region	E. Potential Smugglers (A * D)	F. Estimated number of smugglers (E * G [†])	H. Estimated kilograms of smuggled bushmeat (F * I ^{††})	J. Estimated smuggled bushmeat (in tonnes)
Africa	46	1,139,344	446,332	85.19%	380,208.9	4,068.2	26,004.0	26.0
Asia (Far East and Middle East)	6	3,263,003	1,187,552	11.11%	131,950.2	1,411.9	9,024.6	9.0
Americas (North, Central and South)	2	2,669,846	960,789	3.70%	35,584.8	380.8	2,433.8	2.4
Unknown origin	1	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Grand Total	55	7,072,193	2,594,673.5	1.0	547,743.9	5,860.9	37,462.4	37.5

MODEL 2: REGION OF ORIGIN OF THE FLIGHT CARRYING BUSHMEAT INTO SWITZERLAND (Departure point of bushmeat flights)	A. Number of Bushmeat Confiscations in 2012	B. TOTAL number of passengers in 2012	C. Number of Arriving Passengers in 2012	D. Proportion of overall bushmeat confiscations from region	E. Potential Smugglers (A * D)	F. Estimated number of smugglers (E * G [†])	H. Estimated kilograms of smuggled bushmeat (F*I ^{††})	J. Estimated smuggled bushmeat (in tonnes)
Africa	6	1,139,344	446,332.2	12.00%	53,559.9	573.1	3,663.2	3.7
Far East	2	1,554,615	518,205.0	4.00%	20,728.2	221.8	1,417.7	1.4
Middle East	5	1,909,056	769,681.0	10.00%	76,968.1	823.6	5,264.2	5.3
USA	1	2,466,718	893,080.0	2.00%	17,861.6	191.1	1,221.6	1.2
Belgium	22	781,951	345,605.2	44.00%	152,066.3	1,627.1	10,400.4	10.4
England	1	5,009,508	2,157,404.5	2.00%	43,148.1	461.7	2,951.1	3.0
France	8	2,948,085	1,269,424.8	16.00%	203,108.0	2,173.3	13,891.4	13.9
Netherlands	1	1,295,343	451,618.5	2.00%	9,032.4	96.6	617.8	0.6
Switzerland	3	1,111,143	491,484.5	6.00%	29,489.1	315.5	2,016.9	2.0
Denmark	1	633,196	297,826.7	2.00%	5,956.5	63.7	407.4	0.4
Unknown origin	5	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Grand Total	55	18,848,959	7,640,662.3	1.0	611,918.1	6,547.5	41,851.5	41.9

⁺ **G** = the proportion of searched passengers smuggling bushmeat (as determined from control days) = **1.1%**

⁺⁺I = the average size of bushmeat confiscations from all confiscations of wild meat/bushmeat collected in 2012 (this study and Customs Records) = 6.4 ± 1.1 kg

RESULTS: Rate of Increase for Bushmeat in Switzerland



VII. Rate of Increase – Is More Bushmeat Coming?

Number/Kilograms of Bushmeat Confiscations in the Airport Confiscation Databases

We examined the Customs records for the Zürich and Geneva Airports from 2008 through 2012 to determine a rate of increase for the weight of all confiscations (in kg) that were described by Customs agents as some type of bushmeat or wild meat.

It is interesting that while the amount of overall meat confiscations arriving in Zürich is roughly 10 times that of Geneva, the amount of bushmeat (in kg) that comes into these two airports each year is similar. This result is presented in **FIGURE 25**. However, differences between the two airports show that, in regard to the total amount of meat confiscated, the proportion described by Customs agents as bushmeat is higher in Geneva than in Zürich (see FIGURE 23 and FIGURE 24). The reason for this difference is unknown, but a number of explanations exist. It may be that, as passenger volume is lower in Geneva, more passengers can be effectively searched, or that Geneva customs may target bushmeat smugglers more effectively than Zürich. Conversely, lower amounts of bushmeat in Zürich may reflect the larger proportion of processed meats from non-bushmeat smuggling regions (see pages 68-69), or a focus on other regions/contraband items. There appear to be fewer bushmeat confiscations in 2008-2009 for Geneva, and fewer in Zürich in 2010, with steady increases thereafter. Reasons for these low amounts may include a number of factors; the year 2008 represents an incomplete dataset, as it was the start of confiscations being recorded in an excel database (data entry began in May 2008 in Geneva and in August 2008 in Zürich). The decreases from 2009 to 2010 in Zürich and from 2010 to 2011 in Geneva may reflect a focus on other regions/contraband items. Likewise, increases may indicate that Customs officers were more focused on bushmeat or were beginning to recognize and note bushmeat more effectively in their records. The increases in 2012 may also reflect an increase in search effort because of this study, so that more of the bushmeat being smuggled through the airports was actually found and seized rather than escaping into Switzerland undetected.

Regardless of the differences between the two airports, when the data from these airports is combined, it is clear that there has been a steady increase in the number of recognized bushmeat/wild meat confiscations coming into Switzerland during this 5 year period. The increase from 2011 to 2012 is particularly marked. It is not known if this effect is due to an increase in search effort because of this study, or if the trend in fact indicates a true increase in the amount of bushmeat coming in. However, the overall trend for both airports is positive and when the data are considered together, an exponential trend line is the best fit ($R^2 = 0.9821$); this trend is illustrated in **FIGURE 26**. An exponential rate suggests that bushmeat imports are increasing in a way that is similar to human population growth - with a doubling each year of the amount of bushmeat being smuggled into Switzerland. From these results, we predict that Switzerland can expect more bushmeat to arrive in the coming years.



FIGURE 25: The amount (in kg) of all confiscations recognized/recorded by Swiss Customs agents as bushmeat or wild meat in passenger luggage arriving in Zürich Flughafen and in Genève Aéroport from 2008-2012.

FIGURE 26: The amount (in kg) of all confiscations that were recognized/recorded by Swiss customs agents as bushmeat or wild meat arriving in passenger luggage in Swiss Airports (Zürich Flughafen and Genève Aéroport combined) from 2008-2012, fit to an exponential trend line in Microsoft Excel.



DISCUSSION:



DISCUSSION:

The Problem of Bushmeat Smuggling into Switzerland

One of the main problems with addressing the issue of bushmeat involves *finding and identifying* bushmeat that has been smuggled into Switzerland. We have already shown that bushmeat can be difficult to identify from other types of meats. Therefore, one of the main goals of this study included resolving difficulties in this regard. To this end, we described some predictive morphological features and characteristics of bushmeat. We also identified regions, flights and airlines of concern in regard to bushmeat smugglers. Through the use of advanced DNA techniques, we were able to identify meats to the species level and therefore definitively determine CITES-listings for these smuggled meats. From control day searches and amounts of known bushmeat confiscated, we estimated how much bushmeat may be arriving annually in Switzerland. In this section, we also explore some of the issues of how and why bushmeat travels to Switzerland.

The concerns in regard to the import of wild meat into Switzerland involve two important issues. The first concern is *conservation of species*, as the trade in bushmeat could be having an impact the survival of some highly trafficked species. Results from this study prove that Switzerland is not immune to the illegal trafficking of wild species as bushmeat, putting species at risk from the demand for wild meat inside Switzerland, and this issue is discussed in Section II. The second concern is the risks bushmeat poses to *food security and public health* through the introduction of disease to naïve Swiss populations. Imports of bushmeat can have serious negative effects on public health and the economy of Switzerland, as well as on the health of native species of animals and plants, and this issue is discussed in Section III. It is hoped that the results and recommendations from this study will be used to more effectively search for bushmeat at Swiss borders and to help curtail this problem in Switzerland, as well as in other developed world ports.

I. THE PATH OF BUSHMEAT; FROM AFRICA TO EUROPE

Bushmeat is Being Imported into Many European and Other Developed World Ports of Entry

The hunting of animals inside Africa is considered unsustainable and thought to be one of the greatest and most immediate threats to the survival of African wildlife (Milner-Gulland et al 2003; Robinson and Bennett 2000). *This is without even considering its illegal export to other continents*. While higher profile smuggling of wildlife parts from charismatic megafauna, such as elephant ivory and rhino horns capture the public's attention, the problem of wild meat remains a largely unknown aspect of the international trade in wildlife products. But the depletion of species through this trade is happening on a daily basis in airports the world over. And while global estimates for the trade are rare, it is known to be on the increase - a fact that intuitively makes sense when considered in relation to increases in human population growth (Godfray et al 2010), technological advances which have resulted in ease of global movement, and finally, the high profits provided by the trade (Roe 2008; Dalberg 2012).

Seizures of bushmeat are known to occur with some frequency in many ports of entry in Europe, including but not limited to airports in France (Paris, Toulouse), the U.K. (London), Belgium (Brussels), the Netherlands (Amsterdam), Portugal (Lisbon), Germany (Frankfurt, Münich, Münster, and Berlin) and from this study, Switzerland (Zürich, Geneva, and Basel). Other major developed world ports are also familiar with bushmeat seizures, including many airports in the United States (New York, Los Angeles, Miami, Boston, Chicago, Louisville, Minneapolis and St. Paul, San Francisco and a number of other cities)

and in Canada (Toronto, Montreal) (USFAW 2004; POST 2005; Milius 2005; Marris 2006; Barry 2007; Nasi et al 2008; Wyler 2008; Ogden 2009; Honan 2009; Chaber 2010; Schmadeke 2010; Brashares et al 2011; Elton 2013). While less developed regions with large forest areas in Africa, Asia, and South America may be more likely to be *exporting* bushmeat, the problem of bushmeat *imports* is likely to be occurring in every major developed world airport and shipping port worldwide. The smuggling of wild meats is a widespread, but little publicized problem.

Africa as a Region of Concern in Regard to Bushmeat Imports

Africa, in particular West or Central African countries, were responsible for the majority of bushmeat being smuggled into Switzerland, in both this study and in the analysis of Swiss Customs records from 2008-2011 (Falk et al 2013). Passengers from West and Central African countries (Cameroon, the Democratic Republic of Congo, Nigeria, Ivory Coast, and Togo) smuggled the overwhelming majority (close to 90%) of the bushmeat into Switzerland in this study, with East Africa, and to a lesser extent, South Africa, responsible for most of the remainder. Passengers arriving from all other regions were responsible for only a very small amount of the total wild meat. This trend was also evident in the Chaber study, where the highest proportion of bushmeat was found to arrive in Paris with passengers from Central African Republic and Cameroon, with Cameroon smuggling more kilograms of bushmeat into Paris than any other country (Chaber 2009). In the U.S., a study by Bair-Brake et al (2013) from Customs Records covering the period of 2005-2010 found the majority (95%) of bushmeat that arrives in U.S. ports comes from West African countries, with most of this (80%) arriving from Ghana, Nigeria, Cameroon Ivory Coast, and Togo.

In comparison to other regions, a higher proportion of the total meats confiscated from African countries were found to be bushmeat; 14-17% of meat confiscations arriving from Africa were described in the Swiss Customs Records for 2012 as wild animal meat or bushmeat (see **FIGURE 2**). Again, the Chaber study mirrored this trend; 8-16% of the passengers arriving in Paris on direct flights from West and Central African countries were carrying bushmeat as opposed to domestic meats or fish (Chaber 2009). Our study and the Chaber study also found that bushmeat confiscations tend to be larger than all other types of meat confiscations. These results show that passengers arriving from West and Central African countries are more likely than passengers from other countries to be smuggling bushmeat, and when the smuggled meats were derived from wild animals, they often carried larger amounts of meat than other passengers.

West and Central African Airports; Cameroon and Brussels Belgium as Hubs for Bushmeat Export In this study, by far the majority of bushmeat arrived on flights from Cameroon. The Chaber study also found Cameroon to smuggle the highest amount of bushmeat and estimated that approximately 3 tonnes of bushmeat per week is smuggled into Paris from this one country. The information that Cameroon is responsible for the vast majority of bushmeat arriving on Swiss soil (close to 80% of all illegally smuggled bushmeat in this study) and may be a hub for transporting bushmeat to at least two European countries (Switzerland and France) - is new. It suggests that the airport in Douala, Cameroon may be a hub for bushmeat exports out of Africa. This is an important result, as the identification of regions of concern in the smuggling of bushmeat into and through European airports will allow customs agents to better target which passengers, airlines, and flights may be carrying wild species, of which 1 in 3 species are likely to be CITES-listed. Our results reveal that wildlife from the West/Central African region, especially endangered and threatened species from Cameroon and its surrounding regions, are at highest risk from the bushmeat trade in Switzerland. The domination of the West/Central African region in bushmeat imports is not unexpected, as the bushmeat problem is substantial in this region. Also relevant is the fact that the airport in Douala, Cameroon (Douala International Airport/Aéroport international de Douala) is a central connector for domestic flights in transit to Europe from other African countries and for a number of direct flights to European destinations, some of which run daily. Information from this study identified the airport in Brussels, Belgium (Brussels Airport/Brussel Nationaal/Bruxelles-National/Brussel-Zaventem) as a major transit point for bushmeat coming into Switzerland, suggesting that this airport may be a hub for the distribution of bushmeat *inside* Europe. Brussels Airlines currently offers some of the most inexpensive flights between Africa and Europe (Brussels Airlines 2013), including flights from West/Central African countries which also run daily. The opening of borders in Europe is also likely to have resulted in ease of distribution throughout Europe for bushmeat smugglers. Paris, France was identified in this study as the second most frequent transit point for bushmeat arriving in Switzerland and the Chaber study has already shown that approximately 273 tonnes of bushmeat arrive annually in passenger luggage at Paris' Charles De Gualle Airport (Aéroport de Paris-Charles-de-Gaulle/Roissey) from direct Air France flights from West/Central Africa alone, suggesting that Paris' CDG Airport, which has a number of direct flights from Africa, may be another distribution point for bushmeat moving into Europe.

Native languages may play an indirect role in the regional smuggling of bushmeat. The majority of Cameroon is French speaking, as are the countries of Belgium, France, and parts of Switzerland, including the Canton of Geneva, where one of the airports in this study is located. Bair-Brake's study in U.S. Airports (2013) found the majority of bushmeat confiscations into U.S. in the past 5 years to arrive from West African countries; however, 68% of U.S. confiscations of bushmeat came from Nigeria or Ghana, both of which have major airports with direct flights to U.S., or flights to U.S. via Europe (*Murtala Muhammed International Airport* in Lagos, Nigeria and *Kotoka International Airport* in Accra, Ghana) and both of which are English speaking regions.

The Consumption of Wild Meat – A 'Taste of Home' or a New Trend toward Eating 'Exotic Meats' Why is bushmeat coming into Switzerland at all? For African immigrants, bushmeat may represent a *'taste of home'*. There is cultural significance in eating bushmeat; it is traditionally eaten around Christmas or at special occasions (Cowlishaw et al 2004). Bushmeat is also used in traditional remedies and religious ceremonies (King 1994; Sodeinde and Soewu 1996, 1999; Costa-Neto 2005; Dedeke et al 2006; Soewu 2008). In some cases, 'high end' bushmeat, such as primates or big cats, infers status to the consumer as a statement of power or wealth.

For the developed world consumer, **'exotic' meats** are becoming more and more popular, both in Europe and in the U.S. (Allen 2010; Consumer 2013). The trend toward buying exotic meats is evident; one need only search the term 'exotic meat' (*exotisches fleisch*) online to find numerous websites to purchase various species, as well as articles and online clubs devoted to the preparation and consumption of wild meat, and popular videos/television shows promoting 'adventurous eating'. Consumption of exotic meat by the developed world consumer may satisfy a need for adventure, or bestow uniqueness or luxury status on the consumer. Wild meat has also been touted as 'healthier' as wild species often have higher or lower levels of protein and fat in their meat than domestic species, although this varies dependent on species (Hoffman and Cawthorn 2012). With the present trends in factory farming in some countries that include such unhealthy practices as the addition of antibiotics and growth hormones to increase domestic meat production, wild meat may seem to offer a more natural diet. However, wild meat also has the potential to harbor diseases that can seriously impact public health. The trend toward the consumption of exotic meats by developed world consumers, when the necessity of conserving species is also recognized, is troubling.

Consumers who purchase exotic meats may assume that the meat was obtained through legal, sustainable hunting or game farms and search no further into its origin. In reality, sustainable hunting and practices to procure exotic meat, as well as hygienic and humane animal welfare practices to process it, may not be in place. Even when an online supplier of exotic meats may have obtained the necessary CITES paperwork to import/export wild meats, the supplier as well as the consumer may have little idea of the true source of the meat, or of the quality control measures in place in its country of origin. The recent scandal involving horsemeat mislabeled as ground beef (Food Safety Authority of Ireland 2013a, 2013b, Hickman 2013; UK House of Commons 2013), and other studies from regions across the world documenting the presence of species other than what is labeled on the packaging, highlight that this problem is widespread. In the U.S., seafood studies showed that as much as 25-70% of the fish commonly sold in supermarkets and restaurants are mislabeled, and in sushi restaurants, the figures were even higher (Buck 2010; Stiles et al 2011; Abelson and Daley 2011; Zisser et al 2012; Warner et al 2013). In a follow-up to the horsemeat study in South Africa, 68% of processed meat samples from markets and butchers contained species not declared on the packaging, including donkey and water buffalo (Cawthorn et al 2012, 2013). Another study by Peppin authenticated meats sold by an exotic meat supplier in the U.K. found that meats labeled as 1.) Kudu, 2.) Impala, 3.) Bison and 4.) Springbuck were instead identified in DNA analysis as 1.) Roe Deer, 2.) Blue Wildebeest, 3.) Domestic Cow, and 4.) Bontebok (Ogden 2009). The exotic meat industry, often sourcing meats from many different places, provides ample opportunity for fraud.

Mislabeling can even be demonstrated using an example from this study; 1 confiscation (a canned tin of 'Mai Ling chicken luncheon meat') originated in China on the label, and was carried to Switzerland by a South African passenger via a flight from Israel. In our DNA analysis, the meat inside the can was identified not as chicken, but rather as mallard duck (*Anas platyrhynchos*). Besides mislabeling, the product is also likely to be a counterfeit of a popular canned luncheon meat brand known as 'Ma Ling', similarly packaged and made by a Shanghai-based food company. Other incidents of counterfeit Ma Ling luncheon meat cans have been reported in Asian news, and were alleged to contain cat and rat meat (Lo 1999; Macairan 2007; GMA News 2007). This one example demonstrates the uncertainty present in all aspects of meat origin.

More resources need to be put toward those quality controls which regulate the import of meats, as well as toward the development of educational materials to inform people of the risks they are exposing themselves to when they buy and consume these 'exotic' meats, including the potential risks to human health and the over-exploitation of wild populations where these meats are sourced. Whether it be consumption by West/Central African immigrants yearning for a 'taste of home', or people from other cultures looking for something new and different, the practice of eating 'exotic' meats is one of concern. Changing the behavior of people, however, may be one of the most difficult aspects of the trade.

Ease of Transport and Ports of Entry – How Does Bushmeat Travel to Switzerland?

Trafficking in bushmeat and other wild animal products is a problem now occurring on a global scale, and facilitated by the growing ease of transport via air travel and other methods of fast, long distance movement over established trade routes. Animal products such as bushmeat leave their country of origin via this global network, where planes, ships and other modes of transport move between countries with ease. This means that the most important locations for controlling illegal wildlife smuggling are at a given country's ports of exit and entry. However, the regulatory personnel in these ports of arrival have numerous areas of concern (i.e. drug trafficking, human trafficking, arms trafficking, regulation/taxation of imported and counterfeit goods, etc.), and environmental protection is unfortunately often of lower priority in regard to a country's policies. Countries which allow the *illegal* *export* of wild animal products have inadequate export laws and regulations protecting species inside their country, and countries that unknowingly *import illegal* wild animal products often have inadequate policies in place to protect species at border points of entry, or few resources to devote to this concern. The net result of this is that illegal wildlife smuggling often meets little to no resistance all the way along the routes it travels.

In addition to air traffic passengers smuggling bushmeat in personal luggage, a substantial amount of bushmeat in this study – close to 20% - was found in air cargo shipments. Over 200,000 tonnes of cargo arrived in Flughafen Zürich in 2012 (Flughafen Zürich 2012) and close to 75,000 tonnes in Geneva (Geneve Aeroport 2012). Cargo shipments via air are typically larger in volume than passenger luggage, and therefore more difficult and less likely to be searched. One confiscation in this study included pieced bushmeat, wrapped and *hidden* inside a sack of peanuts within a larger cargo consignment of *legally* imported food products from Cameroon (SDA 2011), demonstrating that organized smuggling methods for bushmeat are already present in Switzerland. The *legally* imported food in this shipment was headed for Swiss markets – making it very possible that the bushmeat was heading for a counterpart *illegal* black market for bushmeat inside Switzerland.

Very few studies have published information in regard to wildlife smuggling into Switzerland (Geser 2004; Läubli 2010). The study by Läubli (Vetsuisse) addressed the likelihood of bird flu entering Switzerland via live animals or wildlife products; seizure records from Swiss borders in 2006 showed that the most frequently smuggled animal item was *meat and meat products* (77% of all seizures). The Läubli study also showed that the personal luggage of airport passengers described only a small portion (4%) of the overall seizure records of live animals and animal products confiscated at Swiss borders, with road traffic responsible for the highest proportion of seizures (93% of the total seizures - significantly more than that seized from commercial air passengers). An incidence of bushmeat smuggling by road was recently documented; 16 kg of bushmeat, including crocodile, python, and CITES-listed pangolins from Cameroon, was seized by Customs agents as it was being smuggled over the border between St. Louis France and Basel, Switzerland, wrapped in plastic in the trunk of a car (SDA 2014). Roads are particularly worrisome as they provide multiple entry points for bushmeat smuggling. Cargo containers aboard ships are another route for smugglers; 90% of the world's trade is carried via ships (Kaluza 2010) and refrigerated containers are known to have been used for smuggling bushmeat and other illegal wildlife products into U.S. ports, where illegal items are often hidden under legally imported products (Goldman 2007; Ferrior 2009; Bair-Brake et al 2013). Our study documents only the problem of bushmeat smuggling into 2 Swiss airports. However, other types of trade routes need to be rigorously investigated to determine the risk from the various methods of transport in regard to illegal bushmeat imports. It is quite likely that a number of methods other than the passenger luggage and cargo of planes may be used for smuggling wildlife products into Switzerland, including trains (freight/cargo), commercial trucks, mail, and private cars.

Wildlife Trafficking – Monetary Gains Drive the Trade into Europe

According to CITES, the **legal** international wildlife trade today alone is "estimated to be worth billions of dollars and to include hundreds of millions of plant and animal specimens" (CITES 2013b). A report by the non-governmental organization TRAFFIC (Trade Records Analysis of Flora and Fauna in Commerce), a wildlife trade-monitoring program of the IUCN (International Union for the World Conservation of Nature) and WWF (World Wildlife Fund), estimated that the component of the **legal** trade of wildlife products into the EU alone was worth nearly €100 billion Euro/300 billion \$USD in 2005 (Roe 2008; TRAFFIC 2013a). While consumption of some wild species may be legal inside Africa, export of those wild species that are considered threatened/endangered is not permitted, and in Europe the import of any

type of meat, regardless of species, is not permitted, making bushmeat a commodity which must be *illegally smuggled* into Europe. However, it is estimated that the bushmeat trade *inside West and Central Africa* represents 6 million tons of animals consumed annually (Fa et al 2002) at a value in millions of \$USD (Cowlishaw et al 2004; POST 2005; Brashares et al 2011; Nasi et al 2011).

By its very nature, the *illegal* trade in bushmeat into Europe is problematic to quantify. As part of a black market trade, information becomes difficult or dangerous to obtain and substantiated figures don't exist. The most recent independent reports by Haken (2011) and Dalberg/WWF (2012) rank the trade in illegal wildlife products below only drugs, humans, counterfeit products, and oil in profits for the smugglers and estimate its value at \$7.8 to \$10 billion \$USD, although this is likely to be an underestimate. Most estimates for the proportion of the wildlife trade that is *illegal* put it somewhere around 10–20%, or up to 1/3 (33%) of the legal traffic (Cook 2002; Shactman 2012a, 2012b; Cota-Larson 2013), with the result that illegal trade in wildlife would approximate \$30-100 billion \$USD. Others have suggested the proportion may be even higher; Karesh et al (2005) estimates 25% of wildlife traffic is illegal, and the Coalition Against Wildlife Trafficking (CAWT 2013) cites a figure of 25-75% of the legal trade. It is important to note that most estimates of the volume of illegal trade in developed world countries are *based on records of Customs seizures at ports of entry* (TRAFFIC 2013a, 2013b; Interpol 2010, 2013; DEFRA 2011; Ferrior 2009; USFAW 2004, 2011). Because *seizures represent only a small proportion of the total illegal traffic*, estimates derived from these may not be adequate to measure the volume and more in depth investigations into the illegal component of the trade must occur.

Economics of the Bushmeat Trade - A Lucrative Market and Organized Sales

The international bushmeat trade is likely to be influenced by the same type of high profits that can be garnered for other types of illegal wildlife smuggling and a demand by *consumers in developed countries* is a key component driving the bushmeat trade. While some of the wild meat that is smuggled into Europe is on a small scale (i.e. for personal consumption only), some is likely being smuggled on a larger, trade scale (i.e. to be sold in specialty markets or restaurants in Europe); this part of the bushmeat trade is financially lucrative, as certain species or types of meat can bring much higher prices in Europe than they do in Africa (Chaber 2009, 2010; ZSL 2010; UK Bushmeat Working Group 2009).

Market value of a product is based on the interaction between consumer demand and availability of the product - in the case of bushmeat, the rarity/difficulty of obtaining a species - and prices reflect this. A recent study by Brashares et al (2011) defined the complexity of economic drivers for bushmeat and showed that the further meat travels from the forest, the higher its cost. While poverty stricken people dwelling far from urban areas were found to be more likely to consume meat they hunted, it was wealthier people living near urban areas who ate the most bushmeat. And the closer a hunter lived to an urban area, the more likely he was to sell bushmeat for profit rather than consume it. The most extreme example of this trend would of course be black market sales in Europe, where a smoked duiker was found to be **17-25 times more expensive** than in Africa. The Chaber (2010) study looked briefly into Paris markets and found that bushmeat was part of an organized trade there and considered a luxury item for buyers. For example, prices for a 4kg monkey in a Paris market were 20 times higher than if the same monkey was bought in Cameroon - approximately €100 in France, compared with €5 in Cameroon (Chaber et al 2009, 2010; UK Bushmeat Working Group 2009). Chaber also noted cane rats and porcupines were available in Paris markets for 40€, crocodiles and smoked fish for 20-30€ per kg, and that bushmeat could be found in restaurants in Paris as well. A 2005 Customs intelligence assessment in the UK found that 2% of illegally smuggled meats were from wild species and suggested that organized groups may be involved, as cane rats purchased for £7 in Ghana could be sold in the UK for up to £150 (NAO 2005). The BBC also uncovered sales of illegal wild meat in London's markets (BBC 2001a, 2001b)

and Ogden (2009) priced cane Rats there at £80/kg. These European prices for bushmeat are much higher than the same meat would generate anywhere in Africa. Brashares ongoing work has documented bushmeat markets in a number of developed world cities, including Paris, Brussels, London, New York, Los Angeles, Toronto, and Montreal (Elton 2013). Over a 20 month survey period, a total of 6,000 kilograms of illegally smuggled bushmeat was moved through these markets each month (Marris 2006). Others have documented bushmeat in European markets and restaurants in Paris, Brussels, and London (Cumiskey and Woods 1999; Tan 2004; Southern 2004; Ellicott 2011; Oger 2011; Lynn 2012). Bushmeat sales in specialty shops have even been exposed in Switzerland (Szenogrady 2008; Stadt Opfikon 2008; Schweizer 2009; SDA 2011).

While there is a current international focus on the illegal trade in some high value wildlife products, such as rhino horn and elephant ivory, there is much less awareness of wild meat as a globally traded commodity. The high profits generated by the wildlife trade have resulted in more organized criminal elements becoming involved (Sellar 2007; Koski 2007; Haken 2011; South and Wyatt 2011; Dalberg/WWF 2012; Wyler 2013), which in turn is likely to result in increases in amounts being smuggled. Because sales of bushmeat in the developed world result in very high profit margins and the penalities in place to curb it are few, it becomes very likely that bushmeat is one of the wildlife products whose trafficking is becoming more organized and for which the amounts being smuggled are increasing. This study has already provided some evidence for this – the amount of bushmeat smuggled into Swiss airports is increasing each year. Confiscations of bushmeat were heavier than all other meat confiscations, with those that included CITES-listed species the heaviest confiscations in the study. CITES-listed species cost more than other wild species in European markets, increasing the incentive for smugglers, who can profess ignorance if caught by Customs and are less likely to incur penalties or fines than with other types of smuggling. As a result, bushmeat smugglers have very high profit margins.

II. THE CONSERVATION OF SPECIES

Species at Risk from the Bushmeat Trade in Switzerland

Estimated monetary values for bushmeat take into account *only* the *consumptive value* of the meat (i.e. its value to the human consumer). Animals perform a number of diverse, functional ecosystem services, such as seed dispersal and its subsequent effect on forest plant structure (Moore 2001; Brodie et al 2009; Harrison 2011; Wilkie et al 2011). A change in the numbers of one species often has an impact on another species; for example, the number of predators can impact the number of prey species and likewise, a change in herbivorous patterns of grazing and browsing species can affect the composition of plants (Nasi et al 2011). In short, loss of a species within an ecosystem can impact many other species. The relationship between species within ecosystems being exploited for bushmeat is complex and not well-studied, and while the value of each species within its ecosystem is difficult to measure, the loss of one species can impact overall ecosystem function, species composition, and biodiversity.

The Smuggling of CITES-Listed Species

In this study, we have shown that a number of species are at risk from the bushmeat trade in Switzerland. Three of the most frequently found animal groups in Swiss airports – *ungulates, rodents,* and *primates* – are also the most common types of animals found in bushmeat markets in West and Central Africa (Ntiamoa-Baidu 1997; Fa et al 2006; Nasi et al 2011). These 3 animal groups with the addition of a fourth – *pangolins* – ranked highest in the number of samples and the total kilograms of bushmeat found during this study. Most surprisingly, *1/3 of the bushmeat arriving in Switzerland came from CITES-listed species*. Two animal groups for which all species are included in the CITES Appendices

are *primates* and *pangolins*; these were found at a high frequency during this study and because of this, we consider these two CITES-listed animal groups to be at highest risk. To a lesser extent, species of *duikers, carnivores* (otters) and *reptiles* (tortoises) have species listed under the CITES convention Appendices that were found during the study and are therefore also considered at high risk. The specific CITES-listed species found during this study as part of the illegal bushmeat trade in Swiss airports include African pangolins (*Manis* spp.), Guenon monkeys (*Cercopithecus* spp.), the Blue duiker (*Philantomba monticola*), the Bay duiker (*Cephalophus dorsalis*), the African forest hinge-back tortoise (*Kinixys erosa*), and the African clawless otter (*Aonyx capensis*). Our result that approximately 1/3 of the bushmeat arriving in Swiss Airports originated from CITES-listed species was also found in the Chaber study. Over one-third (39%) of bushmeat species identified in the CDG airport in Paris were CITES-listed. The species found in CDG airport were also very similar to those species found in Swiss Airports.

Another important finding in regard to CITES-listed species was that *confiscations containing CITES-listed species weighed significantly more* than bushmeat confiscations that did not contain CITES-listed species. This is a disturbing but important finding, as it suggests that CITES-listed species are being more heavily trafficked on an international level than non-CITES species. It may be that CITES-listed species are more desirable to developed world bushmeat eaters, or more expensive and therefore a more lucrative type of bushmeat to traffic. Regardless of the reasons, this finding suggests the trade focuses on CITES-listed species over other wild species.

Of Primates, Pangolins, and other Protected Fauna

We used primates as an indicator species in this study because all species of primates are listed in the CITES Appendices and therefore finding them in Swiss airport implies that the international bushmeat trade may be having an impact on vulnerable species of primates. A market demand for vulnerable species guarantees that as they become rarer/depleted in forests (and subsequently in markets) they are likely to become more expensive, and therefore more rewarding for hunters to procure. A study by Reid et al (2005) looked at primates in Bioko, Equatorial Guinea markets and found that as the demand for primate bushmeat rose, supply became more difficult (i.e. populations on Bioko were decreasing). As supply fell, the cost of primates in the market increased, as did hunter profits for killing rarer species, creating a circular problem. Rarity drives prices up, and higher profits are then the incentive to more actively hunt these rare species. Due to their tendency to live in social groups, a large number of individuals may be killed at one time, making primates particularly lucrative when they are found by hunters (Linder and Oates 2011).

Primates

Primates were indeed found as bushmeat in Swiss airports, with at least 3 species of Guenon (*Cercopithecus* spp.) confiscated in 2012. *Cercopithecus* species are underrepresented in the online DNA databank and was the reason they were identified only to genus level in this study. However, there are at least 24 known species of guenon and approximately 55 subspecies, of which around 40% are considered vulnerable, endangered, or critically endangered (Butynski 2002a; Oates et al 2008; IUCN 2013a). Most are not well-studied and there is inadequate information to assess the level of threat to many of these species in the wild (Bourlière et al 1988; Glen and Cords 2002; Butynski 2002b; Oates et al 2008). However, *Cercopithecus* species are known to be under heavy hunting pressure in Africa as the larger-bodied primates become locally hunted out, and in the regions where the specimens found during this study are likely to have originated, they are one of the more commonly found species in bushmeat markets, as well as a preferred taste (Ntiamoa-Baidu 1997; Fa et al 2006; Wilcox and Nambu 2007; Wright and Priston 2010; Covey et al 2011).

A search of the bushmeat literature for West and Central African markets shows that primates can represent anywhere from 0-1% of market catch in heavily depleted areas up to 40% of market catch (Fa et al 2005, 2006, 2009; Fa and Brown 2009; Nasi et al 2011; van Vliet et al 2012). The lower proportions in some areas may reflect the fact that as primate populations are being locally overexploited they are no longer easily found by hunters (Oates et al 2000; Peres 2000; Maisels et al 2001; Hearn and Morra 2001; Isaac and Cowlishaw 2004; Reid et al 2005). In the developed world bushmeat consumer, there is evidence that there may even be a preference for primate meat; Brashares' ongoing study of underground markets in developed world cities estimates that primates may represent as much as **30%** of the black market bushmeat for sale (Elton 2013) - a figure higher than many African markets. In this study, *primates were the fourth most frequently found animal group and represented 6% of the total bushmeat kilograms*; all arrived on flights originating in Cameroon, where bushmeat market studies show from 1% up to 19.9% of market catch to be primates, with most around 1-4% (Fa et al 2006; Nasi et al 2011). When primates are being found in seizures of wild meats in Switzerland in proportions equal or higher to some local Cameroonian markets, we believe they are especially vulnerable to the international component of the bushmeat trade.

Pangolins

The pangolin (Manis spp.) was the second most frequently found type of animal in this study, surpassed only by rodents (the Cane Rat and the African Brush-tailed porcupine). At least 16 individual pangolins were found during the study, all originating from Cameroon, and representing 14% of the bushmeat kilograms arriving in Switzerland. All pangolin species are CITES-listed and known to be at extremely high risk from illegal trade, both in Africa and Asia (Challender 2011; Challender et al 2012; IUCN SSC Pangolin Specialist Group 2013; African Pangolin Working Group 2013). The trade in pangolins includes meat for consumption, but also scales and other parts for use in traditional remedies (Sodeinde and Adedipe 1994; Dedeke et al 2006; Soewu 2008; Soewu and Adekanola 2011), with pangolin scales in especially high demand in Asia. At a recent global conference of the IUCN/SSC Pangolin Specialist Group, the status of pangolins were reassessed for the IUCN Red List and all species were evaluated as being in steep decline (Challender 2013). The current trade in pangolins mirrors the situation in rhinos, where illegal trade has increased by over 5000% since 2007 (WWF 2013). Pangolin smuggling figures indicate that thousands of tons of pangolins are being globally traded on an annual basis (Cota-Larson 2013). There is growing evidence that, as Asian pangolins become rarer due to overexploitation, an intercontinental trade in pangolins from Africa to Asia is now in place (Challender and Hywood 2012), with Europe as a transit point for the African pangolins being carried to Asia (Cota-Larson 2013; Mulango 2013). Because of this intercontinental trade, in 2014, CITES has begun to take measures to address the illegal trade in pangolins (CITES 2014) and the IUCN recently upgraded Asian pangolin species to endangered or critically endangered status and all African species to vulnerable (Challender et al 2014). Certainly, this study provides evidence that there is substantial trade in pangolins occurring between Africa and Europe - all of the pangolins found in this study originated from Cameroon and of the CITES*listed species found during this study, the pangolin ranked 1st in total number of kilograms* being smuggled into Swiss airports. Because of this, the Pangolin is the animal we consider at highest risk from the bushmeat trade in Switzerland.

Duikers

Duikers ranked as the **3**rd **most commonly found type of bushmeat in this study** and they are also noted in many bushmeat studies in Africa to be one of the most common market species and a preferred meat. Two of the three most frequently found duiker species in this study, the bay duiker (*Cephalophus dorsalis*, known collectively with some of its sister taxa as 'red duiker' by hunters in Africa), and the blue duiker (*Philantomba monticola*) are CITES-listed because they are heavily hunted for their meat (Wilkie and Carpenter 1999; Hearn and Morra 2001; van Vliet and Nasi et al 2008; Mockrin 2009) and to a lesser extent for their horns, which are used in traditional medicines (Colyn 2010). One of the species found in this study, the Walter's duiker (*Philantomba walteri*), was only recently discovered as distinct from the Maxwell's Duiker (*P. maxwelli*). Walter's duiker occurs in Togo and the Niger Delta Region of Nigeria, where duiker populations are considered vulnerable, and in Benin, where they are endangered (Colyn 2010). According to a study by Wilkie and Carpenter (1999), the ratio of duikers to rodents found in urban markets may provide a rough index of bushmeat over-exploitation; it is thought that rodents gain popularity in markets when duikers become locally extirpated. The fact that *seven different duiker species* were discovered in Swiss airports in a roughly 1 year period, representing *12% of the total bushmeat kilograms*, is of concern. Couple this with the fact that illegal bushmeat imports into Switzerland were high for both duikers and rodents, and it is an indication that duiker species may be under high pressure from their export out of Africa and onto dinner plates in Switzerland and other European countries.

Carnivores and Reptiles

Two other vulnerable animal groups which included at risk CITES-listed species and were found during this study were small carnivores (otters) and reptiles (land tortoises). The African Clawless Otter (*Aonyx capensis*), a CITES-listed small carnivore found during this study, is hunted and eaten over much of its range (IUCN Otter Specialist Group 2013b). In most regions where it occurs, *Aonyx capensis* is listed under CITES Appendix II; however, the specimen found during this study may have originated from a region where the population is genetically distinct enough to be considered a unique subspecies known as the Congo Clawless Otter (*Aonyx capensis congicus*) and listed under CITES Appendix I (Jacques et al 2009). The CITES-listed reptile found during the study was a Forest hinge-back tortoise (*Kinixys erosa*). Land tortoises (*Testudinidae*) are a family for which all species are CITES-listed due to global overexploitation (Swingland and IUCN/SSC 1989). The conservation status of the Forest hinge-back tortoise (*Kinixys erosa*), the species found during this study, is unknown and they are categorized as 'data deficient' by the IUCN (Tortoise & Freshwater Turtle Specialist Group 1996). However, where this species occurs in West and Central Africa, they are opportunistically utilized for meat (Swingland and IUCN/SSC 1989; Marcot 2004; Luiselli et al 2013; Eniang and Ijeomah 2011; Kindler 2012).

Non-CITES Species Found as Bushmeat during this Study

Other wild animal groups found during this study were diverse and included species of rodents, wild pig, antelope, small carnivores, snakes, crocodiles, birds, fish, snails, and insects. A number of domestic species were also discovered being smuggled as illegal meats, contributing to the risk of disease introduction.

Our result of rodents being the most frequently found type of bushmeat was not unexpected, as the African Brush-tailed porcupine and the Cane rat are also two of the more commonly reported bushmeat species observed in African markets. Neither of these rodents are CITES listed, but both have large body sizes, and together, they represented a substantial portion of the total kilograms of meat found during the study. These species may be two of the more common species hunted in African forests, with the porcupine especially prized for its taste. There have been attempts to create viable alternative protein sources in areas of West and Central Africa by farming both of these species (Falconer 1990; Hardouin 1995; Jori and Chardonnet 2001), along with the Giant African Land Snail (*Achatinidae*) (Ngenwi et al 2010; Hance 2010; Owen and Dike 2012; Wilson 2012). While cane rat and snail farming are moderately successful, the porcupine has been found to have a very low reproductive rate in captivity (Jori 1998). Also problematic is the fact that all of these species still have large enough populations in the wild that

they are considered more easily hunted/collected from the forest than farmed; a deterrent to stimulating captive production.

Besides the duikers, one other ungulate, the Red River Hog (*Potamochoerus porcus*), appears to be at some risk from the international bushmeat trade. While not CITES-listed, this was the *6th most frequently found species in this study* and was found in more than one confiscation. In Congo Basin bushmeat studies, the most frequently found ungulates were duikers (*Cephalophinae*) and Red river hogs (*Potamochoerus porcus*)(Wilkie and Carpenter 1999). Together with the duikers, the Red river hog, also known as the 'bush pig', is a preferred meat, and a study in Gabon found Red river hogs to account for 40% of the bushmeat recorded in local markets (IUCN SSC Wild Pig Specialist Group 2013). Another antelope species found during the study was the Sitatunga (*Tragelaphus spekii*), a large antelope often recorded in markets. While neither of these species is CITES-listed, they are both threatened by hunting and forest degradation.

Besides tortoises, two other types of reptiles were confiscated during this study – snakes and crocodile. Reptiles are often found in the international wildlife trade, both in the legal trade (as farmed or wild individuals) and illegally smuggled from the wild; they are utilized for their skins in the fashion trade, but also for their meat. While the Gaboon viper found in our study is not a CITES-listed species, in one study in Nigeria, Gaboon vipers were found in every bushmeat market surveyed (Eniang and Ijeomah 2011). For the specimens identified as *Crocodylidae* in this study, DNA was not able to be extracted and therefore CITES listing is unknown, but a number of species of African crocodiles are included in the CITES Appendices (CITES 2013d).

Although wild fish were not considered bushmeat in this study, it is possible that some indigenous fish species may be threatened by the trade in wild meat. Most fish confiscations that occurred during this study and those described in the customs databases, were species of smoked or dried fishes from Africa, such as the 2 species of African catfish (Clarias spp.) identified in the DNA analysis (Froese 2011; FAO 2013). Many native fish populations in West Africa are known to be over-exploited (Kaczynski and Fluharty 2002; Rowcliffe et al 2005; Smith et al 2009; Olusegun 2013) and as local waters become overfished, inexpensive dried or frozen fishes from Nordic regions known as 'ice fish' and 'stockfish', are becoming increasingly popular (Falola 2011). In a 2004 study, only 40% of the 400,000 tonnes of fish imported into Nigeria came from within Africa while the rest were imported from the EU and Norway (Watson and Brashares 2004) - a trend that was demonstrated during this study when two species of fish arriving with bushmeat species from Nigeria (Porcupine and Cane Rat) were identified in our DNA results as 2 species of fish typically found in Nordic waters (Brosme brosme and Molva molva) (FAO 2013). Recent research indicates there may be a link between bushmeat and fish consumption in Africa; analysis of a 30 year database from Ghana revealed that years with a poor fish supply coincided with increased hunting in nature reserves and sharp declines in biomass for 41 wildlife species (Brashares et al 2004). In regard to wild species of fish arriving in Swiss airports, it is also noteworthy that in Switzerland and the EU, up to 20 kilograms of fish are allowed to be imported by any given passenger and it is not possible for Customs officers to identify whether these fish are endangered or threatened species. An example of this is a confiscation of unknown meat from Singapore on one of the control days, later identified in the DNA analyses as a species of stingray (Himantura spp.), a genus which includes a number of vulnerable and endangered species (IUCN 2013b).

All of the wild species found in Swiss airports, especially those that are CITES-listed, we consider to be at risk from the bushmeat trade in Switzerland. However, this report cannot fully assess the level of risk to each species from the trade. Our information merely quantifies amounts confiscated, and identifies

those species we consider at highest risk from the bushmeat trade in Switzerland. Our hope is that this report will generate a response both in Switzerland and in other EU countries to improve the procedures that help identify and quantify species at risk from the international trade in bushmeat. The end result of this will be better protection for species in airports and other ports of entry.

III. FOOD SECURITY AND PUBLIC HEALTH

Illegal Meat Smuggling and Disease

Substantial amounts of meats come daily into Swiss airports. The majority of these meats are from domesticated species, but a variety of wild species were also present. While meats from domestic species are not a concern in regard to conservation, all illegally smuggled meats are a concern in regard to disease. Meats carried into Swiss airports are illegally smuggled and as such are *unregulated*. The fate of domestic and wild meats that are not found and confiscated, but instead leave the airport undetected and travel into Switzerland, is unknown, but of significant concern.

The majority of the confiscated meats in this study, including domestic meats, arrived from regions outside Europe, and included countries in Africa, Asia, Eastern Europe, and the Middle East - all areas where livestock diseases that are controlled for or have been eradicated in Switzerland may still be present or endemic. The economics of disease outbreaks in livestock show that they are very costly for countries (Otte et al 2004; Karesh et al 2005; Jones et al 2008; Marsh Inc 2008); Foot and mouth disease, for example, is problematic in Sub-Saharan Africa as it is endemic in African cattle and also present in wild animals, including the African buffalo, which can be a carrier of this disease (Vosloo et al 2002, 2004; Karesh 2012). The addition of illegally imported meats to pig swill is thought to have caused the 2001 outbreak Foot and Mouth Disease (Scudamore and Harris 2002; Wooldridge 2006; Hartnett 2008) which cost the U.K. an estimated 3.1 billion dollars and forced the slaughter of close to 7 million cattle and sheep (Thomson et al 2002; BBC 2002; Watkiss and Smith 2005). Since that time, the U.K. has had a much higher awareness and tighter controls in place in regard to the import of illegal meats, including bushmeat (DEFRA 2002; Wooldridge 2006; McEwing and Ogden 2006; UK Bushmeat Working Group 2013a, 2013b; DEFRA 2011). Switzerland has effectively eradicated FMD and a number of other diseases (FVO/BVET 2012). But the examples provided by the U.K. 2001 FMD outbreak and the recent discovery of widespread, worldwide mislabeling of meats, reveal that meat origin is difficult to trace, even for legal imports. Stricter regulatory oversight and more resources may be needed to effectively address this problem.

The smuggling of *wild meats* is of particular concern as they can play a role in the emergence of littleknown infectious diseases from previously undisturbed animal reservoirs (Kimball 2006; Brown 2010). Bushmeat has a higher potential to cause an emergent disease outbreak than meats from domesticated animals, which have co-existed beside man for centuries (Karesh et al 2005; Marano et al 2007; Pavlin et al 2009; Peeters et al 2002; Chomel 2007; Belant and Deese 2010). One of the small carnivores found in this study was the African palm civet (*Nandinia binotata*); this species is similar to another small carnivore, the Asian Palm civet (*Paguma larvata*), which gained notoriety during the 2003 SARS epidemic when the disease was first detected in this species and other small carnivores being sold in Asian markets (Guan et al 2003; Bell 2004; Van Rompaey et al 2008). Although recent research indicates that bats may be the natural reservoir for SARS (Li et al 2005; Wang et al 2006), the disease is thought to have passed between humans and small carnivores in the markets, where wildlife species were being traded. Evidence of exposure to the virus was higher in animal traders than in all other human populations in the region (Bell 2004), implying that the wildlife market trade can play a role in the emergence of new diseases by placing species that would not interact in the wild in very close proximity to one another.

Rodents and primates, two types of wild animals that were smuggled as bushmeat into Switzerland, are of particular concern in regard to disease transmission. Primates, especially the great apes, are a known risk in regard to emergent disease because of their genetic similarities to humans (Peeters et al 2002). Species of primates were also found in the Chaber (2010) study at CDG airport in Paris and the Smith (2011) study of diseases entering U.S. airports; in this study, primates ranked 4th highest in total kilograms, demonstrating a potential entry route for emergent disease. In regard to rodents, in both the Smith study, as well as in the Chaber study, rodents were the most frequently found species; in our study also, rodents ranked first, with over 100 kilograms of two rodent species - the African brush-tailed porcupine (*Atherurus africanus*) and the Greater Cane Rat (*Thryonomys swinderianus*) - found in luggage or cargo coming into Switzerland. Another frequently found species in this study, the Giant African Land Snail (*Achatina* and *Archachatina* spp.) is known to carry a number of diseases of concern. In addition to disease concerns, in regions of the U.S., the Caribbean, and South America where these species of snails have been accidentally introduced, they eat hundreds of plant species and are considered one of the most destructive invasive species to agriculture and the environment (USDA-APHIS 2005; Thiengo et al 2007; USDA 2011).

According to a study by Keesing et al (2010), at least 2% of emergent infectious disease events during the period from 1940 to 2005 have been traced directly to bushmeat consumption. Outbreaks of Ebola in Africa (WHO 2014; CDC 2014) are a good example of one of the worst case scenarios for handling, transport, and consumption of wild meats. An outbreak of Ebola in Gabon in 1996 was traced to 19 villagers who skinned and ate a dead chimpanzee found in the forest, many of whom later died from the virus (Georges et al 1999). During outbreaks from 2001-2003 in Gabon and the Democratic Republic of Congo, an increase in animal mortality in the nearby forests always preceded the first human cases of Ebola (Georges et al 1999; Leroy 2004b) and outbreaks were linked to the handling of dead animals by hunters or villagers. During this period, gorilla researchers found that over 90% of their study group as well as other groups in the surrounding region disappeared (over 200 animals) and they estimated that it is likely 3500-5500 gorillas died of Ebola during this period (Walsh et al 2003; Bermejo et al 2006; Leroy 2004b). The natural host of Ebola is currently thought to be fruit bats (Leroy et al 2004, 2009; FAO 2010; WHO 2014), who may carry the virus without illness, while other animals such as primates and duikers become ill, which may make them more likely to be caught by hunters. Dead animals (gorillas, chimpanzees, and duikers) found in the forest during outbreaks tested positive for the virus, which can live for 3-4 days in carcasses (Leroy et al 2004a, 2004b, 2005; Rouquet et al 2005). Ebola is a good example of how easily one of the most virulent diseases known to man could be transported via airplane to an uninfected region inside an animal carcass. Duikers and primates were both found in Swiss airports during this study and fruit bats are also a very popular bushmeat in Africa that have been discovered in developed world airports and underground markets (Bair-Brake et al 2013; Elton 2013). During the most recent outbreak of Ebola (CDC 2014), the West Africa countries of Guinea, Ivory Coast, Liberia, and Sierra Leone, took a proactive step by initiating 'bushmeat bans', although the effectiveness of these campaigns among Africans who have grown up eating bushmeat and have routinely continued to do so is negligible (Fletcher 2014; Haque 2014).

Smith et al (2011) described their study of viruses found in bushmeat arriving in U.S. Ports of entry as a 'pilot study'; due to the results of their study, the Centre for Disease Control (CDC) has now begun a monitoring project in major U.S. ports to identify viruses found in illegally trafficked bushmeat (Vastag 2012). We describe our study then as 'a pilot study for Switzerland' which identifies important aspects

of the bushmeat problem in Switzerland and prompts further action. This study has already generated a response in regard to emergent disease; the Spiez Laboratory, a Swiss Federal Institute for NBC-Protection (nuclear, biological and chemical hazards) is currently examining some of the bushmeat samples collected in this study for the presence of viruses (Humbel 2013).

Summary Conclusions

Our study is only the first step; more work on the issue is necessary. In this report, we have identified those at risk African species threatened by the import of illegal bushmeat, and described the threat to species conservation and to the people, livestock, agriculture, wildlife, and the economy of Switzerland through the potential introduction of disease. The study has provided a number of insights into the problem of bushmeat smuggling into Switzerland. We have identified those problematic regions from which smuggling occurs and species that are at risk from the trade. Our results demonstrate that bushmeat is present in Switzerland, in amounts that may impact species, and that the amount being smuggled into Switzerland may be increasing at an exponential rate. Our results also suggest it is likely that behind the amount of bushmeat found and confiscated each year by customs, some greater amount is not discovered and arrives on Swiss soil undetected. A number of recommendations to curb the bushmeat problem in Switzerland, and in the larger picture of Europe and the world, are provided in the next section.

RECOMMENDATIONS:



RECOMMENDATIONS:

An Overview of Recommendations from this Study

The problem of illegal bushmeat imports should first be addressed via efforts by those developed world countries into which bushmeat is being illegally smuggled. The collection of information on the bushmeat trade in European countries is essential for both food safety/public health and for the conservation of at risk species. More rigorous analyses of known data sources (i.e. customs records of seizures) will help to monitor and quantify the scale of the problem. Better control of the trade could be accomplished with more effective tools to fight the trade, such as DNA analysis of suspect meats, adequate customs training and staffing, and the presence of trained detection dogs in ports of entry. The most important role of this paper is to provide impetus for changes in those existing protocols, regulations/laws, and national policies that would help to prevent bushmeat being transported into Switzerland and other developed world countries and as a result, more effectively protect species and the public. From the insights gained in this study, we have provided a number of recommendations in this section.

I. CHANGING POLICIES

Switzerland as an Example for Europe – Curbing the Bushmeat Problem on our soil

Bushmeat arriving in Swiss airports is a part of an international, organized trade in wildlife and addressing this issue calls for a coordinated and committed response by Cantonal/ State and National agencies in Switzerland. Once the issues in regard to this problem have been identified, then those political policies that regulate the system can be reviewed, and a determination made as to how they might be changed to better address the bushmeat problem. Switzerland is a world leader, and has some of the strongest environmental/green policies in the world (EPI 2012). It is also the headquarters of CITES, which regulates wild animal traffic worldwide. Switzerland also has a unique and judicious political system, with the potential to effectively change those policies that would curb bushmeat smuggling. These changes could have a positive impact on the health of Switzerland's human and animal populations, and may also have a positive impact in the broader picture of EU and world policies to conserve species.

National Policies; Changes in Penalties and Prosecutions

One of the most critical components of deterring bushmeat smuggling is to have adequate penalties and an effective process in place for prosecuting offenders. At present, environmental crimes such as wildlife trafficking tends to be of lower priority for policy makers in most countries, who focus on higher profile crimes, such as smuggling of drugs, guns, and counterfeit goods (Koski 2007). Even when a case is prosecuted, the fines for smuggling wildlife products tend to be much lower than the expected return for the smuggler when the animal products are sold. Low penalties vs. high profit margins and low risk of getting caught clearly encourage smuggling.

In the case of bushmeat, the status of illegal bushmeat imports under Swiss law is not a crime, but only a misdemeanor; this is the main problem with these imports. If the meat being smuggled is recognized as coming from a CITES-listed or endangered species, fines and prosecution can take place; however, we have already shown that species recognition is difficult. Current fines/penalties for smuggling bushmeat are determined on a case by case basis; if a passenger has not declared the meat, then a fine or penalty can be incurred. However, it is also possible for passengers to declare ignorance of the laws, and in most cases excepting those with large amounts of bushmeat, recognizable CITES-listed species, or repeat offenders, the meat is confiscated, but the passenger is not fined or prosecuted. If the matter is

pursued, the case is first reviewed by Customs, then Border Veterinarians (GTU) and other personnel (BVET/FVO and CITES) are consulted. These agencies determine if a smuggled meat is from a CITES-listed species, and make recommendations to the Swiss Federal Customs Administration (Eidgenössische Zollverwaltung, Oberzolldirektion), who then determine fines and penalties in accordance with Federal laws on marketing of protected species of animals and plants (*Bundesgesetz über den Verkehr mit Tieren und Pflanzen geschützter Arten, BGCites; SR 453*). If prosecuted, the legal process can take up to 3 years, and while fines can be up to 40,000 CHF for smuggling CITES-listed species or for a habitual offender, typical fines incurred for bushmeat are small - between 1,000 and 3,000 CHF, after taking into account the financial circumstances of the smuggler (Pavel 2013).

Existing policies need to be revised and the penalties for smuggling increased in order to more effectively protect species. The smuggling of endangered species should be a *criminal act*, on par with the smuggling of drugs, guns or counterfeit goods. When the smuggling of wildlife is not considered a crime, fines are small and prosecutions rare. This allows trafficking in wildlife products to generate very high profit margins. Because of this, opportunities to trade are targeted by criminals who use or establish efficient trade routes and smuggling methods. In fact, there is a growing body of evidence that, because of the high and growing profits in wildlife products, trafficking is increasingly attracting more organized criminal elements (Sellar 2007; Koski 2007; Haken 2011; South and Wyatt 2011; Dalberg/WWF 2012; Wyler 2013). The United Nations (UN) recently recognized the problem and adopted a resolution titled "Crime prevention and criminal justice responses to illicit trafficking in protected species of wild fauna and flora" (E/CN.15/2013/L.20/ Rev - CITES 2013f; UNODC 2013, UN CCPCJ 2013). It is time for Switzerland to adopt a similar stance and directly address those policies which will discourage organized wildlife crime and result in better and stronger protection for vulnerable species. The results from this study have already begun to generate a response - a discussion titled '13.3887 Massnahmen gegen den illegalen Buschfleischhandel' (in English – 'Measures again the illegal bushmeat trade') was introduced in Swiss Parliament during the 2013 Nationalrat Wintersession (Humbel 2013) and is the first step in beginning to address the problem in regard to the policies and procedures which must be changed to more effectively protect Swiss citizens and also protect those wild species being trafficked as bushmeat.

Airline and Trans-border Responsibilities

In the Chaber study of bushmeat arriving in Paris via Charles De Gaulle Airport, only *direct Air France* flights from Africa were targeted. In our study, there were very few direct flights from West/Central Africa, the region where most bushmeat originates; instead, targeted flights in the study had connecting flights to Africa or other regions, with surprising results - the four most frequent carriers of bushmeat into Switzerland were SWISS, Brussels Airlines, Air France and cargo flights from Africa. While the origin of most bushmeat is known to be West or Central Africa, the departure point of the majority of flights carrying bushmeat into Switzerland is *inside Europe*. Over half the kilograms identified as bushmeat in this study (62%) arrived in Zürich or Geneva on flights that departed from European Airports, with most from Brussels, Belgium (via SWISS and Brussels Airlines flights) or from Paris, France (via Air France flights). While flights from Brussels and Paris are a very short step within the EU; they nevertheless carried the majority of the bushmeat into Switzerland, complicating the finding of bushmeat.

Brussels Airlines currently provides inexpensive flights from Africa to Europe, and according to our results, may have garnered a large share of the bushmeat traffic from Africa to Europe as well. After the discontinuation of the SWISS direct flight to Cameroon (the LX 275, which carried close to 1/5 of the total bushmeat kilograms into Switzerland during this study, even though this flight ran only until March of 2012), the most frequent flights smuggling bushmeat into Switzerland were codeshare flights of

SWISS and Brussels Airlines (see **TABLE 6**). SWISS planes smuggled the most bushmeat during our study, with Brussels Airlines flights responsible for smuggling the 2nd largest amount. In summary, the majority of bushmeat arrived with transit passengers from Africa, who flew through Brussels Belgium on either a SWISS or Brussels Airlines flight, and disembarked in Switzerland with bushmeat. And about 1/5 of bushmeat smugglers came to Switzerland via Paris, France rather than Belgium. Although this result may be driven by Brussels Airlines and Air France having a higher proportion of *direct* flights from Africa, it still means that Brussels and Paris likely serve as hubs for bushmeat distribution inside Europe.

Clearly, the movement of bushmeat *within Europe* complicates the finding of bushmeat. Within the EU, it is *legal* for passengers to carry meat for personal consumption across borders - under current legislation, meat moving *within* EU countries (including Switzerland) is not subject to seizure (unless it is in large amounts and therefore subject to import laws). The majority of passengers in this study, regardless of their country of origin, were smuggling some type of meat in their luggage that they described as *originating from a country outside of the European Union*, but that nevertheless *arrived in Switzerland on a flight from within Europe*. Complicating the issue further is that fact that bushmeat may leave Africa on the first leg of a passenger's flight unchecked - while regulations do exist in Africa to protect endangered and threatened species and to control the movement of CITES-listed species, some types of meats may be carried within certain countries. Ultimately, the responsibility for whether a meat can be carried/imported is on the *passenger*, who must know the regulations and restrictions in the country they are traveling to. On arrival in Europe, travelers from Africa often protest when meats are confiscated, provide false veterinary certificates, or claim ignorance when the meat is discovered and confiscated.

Airlines and airports can play a role in controlling this problem. Those airlines which have direct or connecting flights from African countries to Europe should be included in the scope of responsibility. Educational campaigns in the form of highly visible posters or brochures in both bushmeat source countries in Africa, where connecting flights depart from, could inform travelers and tourists about what types of meat and meat products cannot be taken into Europe. These posters/brochures could be placed in European airports as well, to inform transit passengers what is not importable *within* Europe. Airlines and flights which have been shown to have a high probability of carrying bushmeat in this and other studies may need to have more stringent measures in place to inform and control passengers. Airlines and Customs agencies could work more closely together on this problem; bushmeat smuggling could be reduced through more effective baggage checks via cooperation efforts between the airlines and Customs agencies to control those bags that are *in transit within Europe* on known problem flights. It is somewhat alarming that, in this study we found that once bushmeat leaves Africa on any flight, regardless of layovers or flight changes, it may not be found until its arrival in Switzerland.

Changes in CITES Regulations at the International Level

On the international level, better enforcement of existing laws by CITES member states is a necessary component in stopping the bushmeat trade. However, this step is fraught with difficulties; false veterinary certifications or false CITES paperwork from third countries, or in some cases, correct paperwork which misrepresents the species being exported, is sometimes provided by wildlife smugglers. While enforcement may be difficult in those CITES member countries outside the developed world, where corruption of law enforcement and government officials provides opportunities for smuggling, the goal of better controls within *all* CITES member countries must nevertheless be in place. For developed world CITES member countries such as Switzerland, which is the headquarters of CITES International, the opportunity to provide an example for others, and play a key role in stopping wildlife trafficking through more effective policies and procedures at ports of entry, is possible.

CITES regulations are in place to protect species via limiting legal trade; the addition of stronger protection from internal and external investigations into cases of heavily exploited wild species are a necessity in today's world of organized global trade. High risk species in the bushmeat trade, such as pangolins and duikers should be reevaluated in the CITES listings. We found seven duiker species in one year in Swiss airports - only two of these species are listed in the CITES Appendices as being at risk from the international trade. If possible, all duiker species should be included in the Appendices, as they are one of the most frequently found types of bushmeat. Pangolins were recently described Challender (2013) as being "eaten to extinction" and the threat to these species is compounded by their use in traditional medicines in both Africa and Asia. There is growing evidence that, as pangolins become rarer in Asia through over-hunting, an intercontinental trade from Africa to Asia has begun. Recent confiscations of tonnes of African pangolins in Malaysia and Hong Kong from Cameroon and Kenya provide clear evidence that this intercontinental trade is occurring (Cota Larson 2014a, 2014b; Lo 2014) and our study provides evidence that this trade may be passing through Europe as well. The surprisingly dramatic increases in the trafficking of certain select species of wildlife, such as rhinos, elephants, pangolins and primates over the past several years (Stiles et al 2013; WWF U.K. 2013; CITES 2014a), calls for much more rigorous investigation into what is becoming a far-reaching global problem if these species are to be saved. The addition of a formal investigative body within CITES, with funding to investigate trade violations, is called for.

II. FINDING THE BUSHMEAT: TOOLS TO FIGHT THE TRADE

DNA Testing as a Tool to Fight Bushmeat Smuggling

Wildlife forensics is a growing discipline which promises to aid in the fight against wildlife trafficking (Ogden et al 2009). In the case of bushmeat, genetic techniques can help link illegally seized meats to a species, specific individual, or region, resulting in a prosecutable case. Genetic techniques have long been in use in human criminal investigations and the same techniques have been modified for use in wildlife forensics (Linacre and Tobe 2011; Linacre et al 2010). There are currently a very small number of institutions that specialize in wildlife forensics, but the field is growing in interest and a number of practical techniques for species and individual identification exist (Cooper and Cooper 2007; Linacre 2009; Ogden 2010; Wilson-Wilde 2010; Huffman and Wallace 2011; Cooper and Cooper 2013).

In the Chaber (2010) study of bushmeat arriving at Charles de Gaulle airport in Paris, species were identified visually, and when this was not possible, they were identified using skeletal examination of bone fragments. Our study was substantially strengthened through the use of mtDNA typing of seized meat samples to identify those species at risk in Switzerland from the bushmeat trade (Morf et al 2013), especially in the case of pieced, unrecognizable bushmeat. While fresh muscle tissue is the best case scenario for DNA analysis, the method used in this study proved to be a very versatile one, and worked even with degraded samples. The vast majority of our non-commercially processed meats were identified with ease in the DNA analysis, including those meats that had been aged or unrefrigerated for indeterminate periods, dried, smoked, cooked, and/or spiced, and then placed in refrigeration for long periods of time. The majority of cases in this study for which DNA analyses failed to identify meats were samples from commercially processed and packaged meats from the control days. The method used in this study was robust and very effective in identifying bushmeat to species.

DNA Testing of Meats to Determine a More Accurate Quantity of Bushmeat

In the current scenario, when meat is suspected of originating from a wild species and is confiscated by Customs, it is sent to Border veterinarians (FVO/BVET 2013e) and an attempt is made to identify if it is a

CITES-listed species before disposal. However, as already discussed, identification to species level is often difficult, especially with pieced/smoked bushmeat, and DNA testing is not routinely performed. Meats from CITES-listed species, if not recognized by such as Customs agents or by Border veterinarians, are treated no differently from any other confiscated meats, which are disposed of daily in a bio-safe container, and sent to be burned. Essentially, at risk species such as primates and pangolins may be disposed of along with all other non-descript meats. A great deal of information about the risk to species from the wildlife trade is being lost in this process. The use of DNA is an important step in linking suspect meat to CITES-listed species threatened by illegal trade. With DNA typing, species at risk from the bushmeat trade can be more accurately evaluated. It is also important for creating a strong legal basis in the prosecution of bushmeat cases by Swiss authorities.

The samples that customs agents collected from suspected bushmeat during our study included only those confiscations *recognized or suspected* by customs agents as bushmeat. Outside of our 5 control days (where all confiscated meats were sampled) no samples from any other type of meat product not suspected of being bushmeat were collected for DNA testing. This is a whole other class of meat products that were not fully addressed in this study. For the majority of the confiscations suspected of being bushmeat and collected during 2012, customs agents were correct in their recognition of bushmeat. However, features described in this study such as fresh or smoked whole carcasses, partial carcasses and pieces with heads, limbs, bones or pelts attached, or the presence of a foul odor (Pavel 2012) are characteristics that, rather than identifying bushmeat confiscations, may just make this type of bushmeat confiscation easier to find than others. It is very possible that some 'cryptic' presentations of bushmeat go unrecognized. In Africa, a typical presentation of bushmeat is a soup or stew; often in a sauce with greens and chopped bushmeat pieces that resemble domestic meats. It is also possible that, in the case of organized smugglers and bushmeat sales slated for higher end markets, meat may be better preserved and packaged to resemble filet-type cuts of domestic meats (Karl Ammann, pers. comm.). It is likely that these presentations or cuts of meat from wild species that more closely resemble domestic meats will be overlooked, or described in the customs records only as 'meat' and immediately disposed of. In fact, the majority of meat confiscations in the 2012 customs records are described using only a generic meat label (i.e. 'flesich' or 'viande'); 95% of the meats confiscated in Zürich and 60% of meats collected in Geneva were described as a generic 'meat' (or some type of meat cut or meat product) with no mention of species from which the meat was derived. Therefore, some proportion of bushmeat confiscations, such as the aforementioned soups/stews or filet cuts of bushmeat, may not be recognized or described by customs agents as bushmeat. Only 3 meat 'preparations' (soups/stews) were tested in this study, 1 of which included bushmeat (see FIGURE 16). A study which collects a greater number of samples from all types of confiscated meats over a longer period of time would help clarify what proportion of the generically labeled 'meat' confiscations collected by Customs agents could in fact be cryptic presentations of bushmeat arriving in Switzerland.

On the Frontlines in Finding Bushmeat – Support for Customs

It is not a secret that only a small proportion of the contraband moving through ports the world over is discovered and confiscated. With few resources and thousands of people to process daily, customs agents worldwide have the odds stacked against them in the fight against wildlife trafficking. As an example of this, in the United States in 2010, there were 15 U.S. Fish and Wildlife (USFAW) inspectors at JFK Airport in New York City, where 46 million passengers and 1.4 million tons of air cargo were processed that year, thousands of tons of which were animals and animal products (Shactman 2012a, 2012b). The effort required for 15 agents to search 46 million passengers would mean that each agent must cover at least 5000 passengers each day of the year (this is not taking into account the 1.4 million tons of cargo).

In this study, search efforts were well coordinated and Swiss customs officials were thorough in their searches of selected passengers. Individual searches can take anywhere from 5-20 minutes, depending on whether or not contraband items are found, and considering that 1.) bags must be x-rayed and thoroughly searched by hand (usually 1 to 3 bags), 2.) passengers must be questioned about suspicious or confiscated items, 3.) agents must confiscate, weigh and dispose of all confiscated items and 4.) enter information about each confiscation into a database, and 5.) agents must fill out paperwork for items which result in fees or prosecutions, and finally, 6.) deal appropriately with often disgruntled passengers throughout this process. Searches are a difficult task, carried out in a very busy environment. Priorities for customs agents are not focused on bushmeat only, but rather on multiple foci, including drug smuggling, arms smuggling, and smuggling of other contraband items, such as tobacco and counterfeit goods. Some items earn hefty fines/fees, and may take focus away from bushmeat and other types of smuggling that have lesser penalties. The sheer volume of people moving through an airport guarantees that finding and confiscating illegally smuggled products is possible for only a small proportion of the total. The same exercise as performed for USFAW above can be done for Swiss Customs; using overall airport volumes of arriving passengers in Zürich and Geneva, if 10 customs agents attempted to capture all illegally smuggled products, each agent would need to search close to 138 passengers per hour in Zürich, and 79 per hour in Geneva - a physical impossibility that would quickly cause long delays on exit.

Because of the time constraints within passenger searches, it is unlikely that a greater number of searches than are currently being conducted are possible. Not all passengers or bags exiting the airport can be searched and therefore not all bushmeat coming into Switzerland is confiscated. Rather, *only a small proportion of the total smuggled bushmeat is discovered and confiscated*. Therefore, the following recommendations are proposed to more efficiently find wildlife items at Swiss borders/ports of entry;

1. Installation of conservation experts at the borders, including cargo and mail shipments

Wildlife experts are a necessary component of customs searches, especially if wildlife trafficking is to be addressed. An on-site wildlife expert, who could work directly with customs during searches and be present when seizures of wildlife products occur, would greatly increase the chances of finding bushmeat and instill a much needed focus on this type of smuggling.

2. More training programs for customs authorities to optimize the visual detection of bushmeat.

A joint effort between Tengwood Organization and BVET has resulted in the creation of a training booklet for Customs and BVET personnel that will help with bushmeat recognition (BLV and Tengwood Organization 2014), a project that was a direct result of this study. Other training programs about bushmeat could expand the knowledge base for customs personnel, and those who are on the frontline of this problem, and are essential to more successfully finding bushmeat.

3. Increased bushmeat controls for passengers, cargo and mail

More *control days* focusing specifically on bushmeat from more flights of African origin, and cargo shipments from Africa, may be necessary. Information which allows for more accurate targeting of bushmeat flights is provided in this study and greater knowledge about which European flights connect to African flights is also a key component. Careful evaluation by Customs in selecting the most likely carriers of bushmeat and specific days with a dedicated focus on the bushmeat issue are essential to help curb the problem. A study by Bair-Brake et al (2013) showed that four to seven times more bushmeat was found during a one month period of enhanced surveillance in U.S. Ports of Entry.

4. Increased Resources for Airports (staffing)

Searches take both effort and time; when making a confiscation, customs agents must thoroughly search multiple bags, request information from passengers as to the region of origin and nature of the smuggled products, enter items into a database, and fill out paperwork for those passengers who incur fines or prosecution. Increased staffing may be necessary for agents to more effectively search for and record bushmeat confiscations.

5. Detection dog program for bushmeat at the border with dogs specifically trained to detect bushmeat

'Sniffer' dogs or detection dogs trained in illegal drug detection are already in place in most major airports. The use of dogs in detecting scents is intuitive; dogs can be trained to detect a variety of different scents, including wildlife (USDA 2004; Rolland et al 2006; Wasser 2008; Wasser et al 2009; Vynne 2010; Wasser et al 2012) and a review of their use in wildlife detection is available in Braun (2013). Searching for wild meat is already feasible; a program after the 2001 Foot and Mouth outbreak in the U.K. used 10 dogs to search for illegal meats (UK Bushmeat Working Group 2011). One dog's nose may be more effective in targeting the luggage of offenders than several pairs of human eyes. According to a dog handler for the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Agency based in Louisville, Kentucky, a port where United Parcel Service (UPS) packages arrive, 1 inspector on average can search roughly 75-100 packages per day, while a dog can go through that many packages in minutes, and can search thousands per day (USFAW 2013a, 2013b). The USFAW Agency only recently created a detector dog program to train dogs in the detection of illegal wildlife products (USFAW 2013c; Grace 2013), with 4 dogs in 4 ports where wildlife smuggling is a known problem (Los Angeles, Miami, Chicago, and Lousiville). In contrast, the U.S. Customs and Border Protection Canine Training Program has approximately 1500 dog teams trained to search for narcotics and other contraband smuggling in a number of U.S. ports, and they are known to be highly effective (CBP 2013). The addition of even 1 dog at each airport, trained in the detection of common types of bushmeat, can be an economical alternative to additional staffing and their presence alone can be an effective deterrent to smugglers. One of the responses to this study is a program to train detection dogs to target wildlife products on the Swiss border (Humbel 2013). In 2014, 3 dogs had completed training and will be used in searches (Bütler 2014; van Beek 2014). This is a promising start and the effectiveness of the detection dog program should be monitored and ultimately continued if proven effective in finding bushmeat, with more dogs added as necessary.

6. Incentives for customs agents/airport personnel for finding bushmeat

The focus of the agencies which guard ports tends to be on high profile types of smuggling or those types of smuggling which generate revenue and environmental crimes tend to be a lower priority. Priorities for customs agents include finding drugs, arms, and other contraband items, such as tobacco and counterfeit goods, which earn hefty fees for Switzerland, and for which incentives may be in place for finding these items. In contrast, bushmeat is often a distasteful item to discover, the odor of which can linger for hours, and for which adequate fines and *incentive programs* are not in place. In addition, if bushmeat smuggling was considered a criminal act, this would also provide stronger incentive to capture offenders.

7. Standardization of Customs Data Collection

Information from records of meat confiscations at Flughafen Zürich and Genève Aéroport was provided for this study by the Swiss Customs Administration and allowed us to more accurately estimate the amount of bushmeat being illegally smuggled into Switzerland. It must be noted that *standardization* of these seizure databases, in particular the description of meat and meat products, and most critically, the description of bushmeat/wild meat products, will allow them to be used more effectively by Customs or

others to quantify and qualify bushmeat smuggling. Because many confiscations are described using a generic 'meat' label in the database, it is likely that the number of confiscations which included wild meats were underestimated. Even when meat was recognized by customs agents as suspected bushmeat, species was rarely noted, and the confiscation was most often given a generic one word 'bushmeat' descriptive in the database. Customs records are not typically open to the public or scientists, but can be very useful to gain insight into the problem of illegal meat smuggling, and standardized descriptions for suspected bushmeat, as well as other types of meat confiscations, would allow for more rapid and accurate examination of the records. Detailed files and photos of bushmeat confiscations in particular would result in more precise analyses of the data.

III. COOPERATION BETWEEN ALL PARTIES IN REGARD TO BUSHMEAT SMUGGLING

Trafficking of Bushmeat – A Global Problem

The globalization of goods and services, facilitated by ease of transport via planes and other methods of global movement (i.e. cargo ships, trains, mail, etc.) has changed the way the world economy moves, including the trafficking of wildlife. Ease of communication via the internet, a growing and anonymous portal for the transfer of goods, exacerbates the problem and results in the online sale of many types of wildlife products (IFAW 2005), including live animals, animal parts for use in traditional medicines or fashion, and *'exotic' or wild meat*, the focus of this study. The volume of internet traffic makes monitoring difficult and allows people to make contact and arrange illegal animal sales with ease. This global trafficking of wildlife products is one of the most serious concerns in the conservation of wildlife today. Not only does it deplete animal populations *in situ*, some to the point of no return, but it also introduces new diseases from these species to previously unaffected global regions, or allows their introduction to a region as invasive species.

As human populations increase, the demand for a product may also be on the increase. In the case of animals with known declining populations in the wild, the implications are clear. In today's world of global movement, bushmeat consumption is no longer feasible, especially in the case of species which do not have a worldwide range. While the volume of bushmeat exports vs. the amounts eaten inside source countries is not known, the illegal trade in bushmeat is most likely to be on the increase due to high profits margins and low costs for smugglers. The *international* demand for wild meat may add an unsustainable burden on some animal populations, exceeding supply, and potentially making the trafficking of wild meat on an international scale one of the highest concerns in the conservation of species. While the consumption of bushmeat inside Africa may provide sustenance for indigenous people living in poverty close to forests, the consumption of this meat on a global scale is unthinkable.

Bushmeat Arriving in European Airports

The problem of bushmeat in Swiss airports is not isolated, but rather relevant to most major airports in Europe and also worldwide. In comparison to other major European airports, such as Paris, London and Frankfurt, Zürich and Geneva airports are relatively small (Swiss Federal Office for Civil Aviation 2012). Outside of our study, however, only the Chaber (2010) study has attempted to estimate the proportion of overall confiscated meats from wild species arriving in an international airport, and for only one country (France). The simple methodologies in this study could be applied to any country with a major international airport, allowing a more accurate picture of the global trade in wild meat. Data from other airports within Europe would allow for a better comparison, both within Europe, and worldwide. With more information about species and quantities, steps can be taken to more adequately control bushmeat smuggling. Assistance from NGOS/scientists, such as occurred in this study, can help to record

and analyze the necessary data and cooperation between border agencies, veterinary authorities, and political systems within Europe is the key to controlling the problem.

Cooperation with Africa – An Important Step in a Global Problem

The problem of bushmeat smuggling is a global problem. Therefore, the solution must also be global. This means not just stopping bushmeat from being imported into Switzerland, but also in addressing the issues where bushmeat is exported. In Switzerland, hunting of wildlife is strongly regulated and animal populations are monitored to assure that the amount harvested does not threaten a population's survival. Inside Africa, protection in source countries is often sporadic or non-existent; local and national laws which protect vulnerable animal populations are often not enforced by local police or military. Recent surveys by WCS Nigeria of bushmeat markets in South-eastern Nigeria found that protected and/or endangered species were openly sold in all markets surveyed (Bassey 2010; Nkonyu 2014), including endangered great apes (The Cross-River Gorilla, Gorilla gorilla diehli, and the Nigeria-Cameroon chimpanzee, Pan troglodytes ellioti), other endangered primates (the Drill monkey, Mandrillus leucophaeus, and Cercopithecus spp.), forest elephants (Loxodonta cyclotis), pangolins (Manis spp.), and other protected species. This is unfortunately the case in most African markets and this lack of enforcement of laws, coupled with high profits for poachers and traders, and sometimes corruption of high officials as well, curtails the effectiveness of protective measures for species. In regions where markets are monitored because of active involvement in the problem by local conservation NGOs or law enforcement, the problem of sales of endangered and threatened species does not stop, but only goes underground, creating black markets.

In Africa, the problem of bushmeat is multi-faceted; growing human populations are impoverished and lack jobs. Energy sources and unreliable, and therefore refrigeration is also unreliable, and meat processing and preservation techniques are also limited. Unlike other regions where bushmeat originates, such as South America and East Africa, there is no culture of farming in West/Central Africa, and traditional methods to grow food crops use slash-and-burn agricultural techniques (Oates 1999) - a method that involves farming a plot of land by first cutting down all large trees, and then burning these trees/brush to clear and fertilize the land for planting crops such as banana and cassava, a practice that destroys some 130.000 km² of humid tropical forests annually (Palm et al 2005). Plantation crops such as cocoa and oil palm also contribute to loss of natural forests and commercial and illegal logging practices in place in the West/Central Africa region also play a role in the bushmeat trade by opening roads into previously undisturbed forest areas and providing ease of transport for meats on logging trucks (Rose et al 2003; Peterson and Ammann 2004).

Human populations have traditionally relied on hunting wildlife for protein, especially when alternative protein sources are not readily available, and studies estimate that up to 90% of total animal protein consumed in West/Central Africa may still be derived from wild meats (Ntiamoa-Baidu 1997; Davies 2002; Fa et al 2002, 2003; Cowlishaw et al 2004). Fresh local meat from the forest can be an important contributor to protein needs and food security for poverty-stricken, rural communities where alternative protein sources remain largely unavailable (Ntiamoa-Baidu 1997; Mainka 2002; Fa et al 2003; Cowlishaw et al 2008). However, West and Central African regions are concurrently being impacted by growing human populations, and there are direct and indirect links between bushmeat consumption and increasing human populations (Brashares 2001; Barnes 2002; Fa et al 2003; Fa et al 2006). In the case of bushmeat, when profits for selling bushmeat are high, it becomes less likely to be consumed by impoverished local residents, but rather becomes a source of profits, from which other goods, including less expensive protein sources, can be purchased. For example, Africa purchases a volume of meats from Europe that are less desirable to Europeans, including low-grade 'stockfish'

from Nordic regions and chicken parts from Germany (Watson and Brashares 2004; Nasi and Brown 2008; Hilse 2014).

All of these issues result in the practice of eating bushmeat being a perilous one that threatens species survival, especially for those species found in the forested regions of West and Central Africa. The international transport of these species to developed countries in Europe and the U.S. for consumption is an additional stressor on animal populations already heavily hunted locally. The failure of African countries to regulate traffic of wildlife *inside* their country, coupled with a demand for an animal *outside* its particular range by consumers in developed world countries like Switzerland, which also may not adequately protect these species upon entry, results in bushmeat being smuggled out of Africa, often quite easily. An increasing number of expatriates in Europe contribute to the demand for wild meats (Mbotiji 2002), as do developed world consumers buying 'exotic' meats for novelty. High profit margins for bushmeat in the developed world become an incentive for organized criminals to traffic in wild meats, assuring that the international transport of bushmeat will continue unless stricter regulations are put in place.

Political Cooperation with Africa:

A dialogue between International conservation and government organizations in Switzerland and those in Africa is necessary in order to more effectively control the illegal trade of bushmeat. This includes, but is not limited to, political cooperation to address issues impacting the movement of species, issues that impact food security, and finally, issues of species conservation. It is important to address the problem of bushmeat both *in situ* and *ex situ*. Conservation and government organizations in the developed world have a wealth of knowledge in regard to species conservation. This collective knowledge must be used to help African governments in regulating the problem. It can also be used to train local conservationists in methodologies which can help to protect wildlife. The following issues are some which need to be addressed cooperatively;

1. Cooperation between Governments and Other Organizations: Cooperation between African governments and organizations with those in developed world countries (i.e. CITES, animal conservation NGOs, etc.) to review and revise those policies which address protection of species and bushmeat exports/imports.

2. CITES Regulations and Paperwork: More effective monitoring and enforcement of existing CITES member regulations/paperwork, especially those from less developed countries with a known problem in regard to bushmeat smuggling. An overseer in CITES international to monitor the volume of paperwork may be a necessary addition.

3. CITES Investigative Group: The addition of an investigation group to CITES to detect fraudulent acts involving CITES regulations and wildlife would monitor and discourage violations. Currently, an infringement within a member country is investigated by that country - in the case of corruption within a country, the problem may be denied or ineffectively managed.

4. Training Programs in Africa for Customs: Cooperation between Customs agencies in Africa and in the developed world can be helpful; for example, in Switzerland, Swiss Customs agents hosted a Gapin (World Customs Organization) training program in Zürich Flughafen where Customs staff from 7 African countries learned about methods of illegal wildlife smuggling (SDA 2012a, 2012b; TeleTop 2012). These types of programs could also be carried out in African airports to better train customs agents in controlling the problem at *ports of exit* in Africa.

5. Law Enforcement Assistance: The development of law enforcement strategies, especially in regard to hunting laws, regulations, and policies inside Africa that will more effectively protect species are important. More effective protection of forest habitat and species through the use of eco-guards, camera traps, and other monitoring strategies may also be important.

6. Training Programs in Africa to help Conservation Oriented Programs: Training programs which impart knowledge of sophisticated conservation methodologies to local talent in Africa, and educational programs that will instill a conservation ethic in local people, are invaluable in changing the mindset and skill level of local conservationists.

7. Development of Alternative Protein Sources: The development of alternative protein sources; i.e. the farming of indigenous species (i.e. cane rats/snails) or of appropriate domestic species, such as goats and chickens, to alleviate dependence on wild meats is a necessity.

8. Improved Food Security: Improvements in agricultural methods that are more effective in food production and energy sources that are more efficient in preservation will decrease dependence on fresh meat from the forest.

IV. FURTHER STUDY OF THE BUSHMEAT TRADE BY CONSERVATIONISTS

Further Study of the Bushmeat Issue inside Africa

Further study of the bushmeat problem inside Africa can provide important information about the international trade in this meat. While efforts to bring disparate information about the bushmeat industry together can be found in the literature, information from these studies is fragmented. Details of bushmeat consumption in one region may not be relevant to another. Studies also show a lack of standardization in the quantitative measurement of bushmeat, making comparisons difficult, although comparison should be the goal (Wilkie and Carpenter 1999; Bowen-Jones 1999; Fa and Peres 2001; Bowen-Jones et al 2002; Fa et al 2002; Milner-Gulland et al 2003; Fa et al 2006; Brashares 2011; Nasi et al 2011). Methods to study the bushmeat trade in Africa which standardize the measurement of bushmeat, and which also address the quantity being exported out of Africa, are a necessity. A focus on exports to Europe and other developed world countries, including those up and coming Asian countries which are seeing a boom in their economies, would help to describe the bigger picture of bushmeat smuggling. Understanding trends in wild meat consumption are one of the keys to stopping it.

Species representation is not yet complete in the DNA gene databanks; enough samples must be collected from all regions where a species occurs in order to represent the genetic diversity present in that species. In the case of some highly studied species, this has already been accomplished, but for many species, there is not enough interest or funding for such sampling. The collection of DNA samples from species indigenous to West/Central African countries is important, including the various species and subspecies of the *Cercopithecidae* which are found frequently in the bushmeat trade, as well as other rare and endangered West and Central African primates. Also important is DNA from all species of African pangolins, and for some West/Central African duiker species and other ungulates found in forests in this region. With a large enough sample size of individuals, regional differences in populations can also be identified, as species considered endangered in one region or country may not be in another. Non-invasive sampling is important to animal welfare, and therefore collection of hair or tissue from bushmeat markets in Africa may be possible. The collection of samples for those species at high

risk from the trade and currently underrepresented in gene databanks would allow for more accurate species identifications and subsequent criminal prosecutions of cases involving illegal animal meat smuggling.

Further Study in Switzerland

In order to more completely address the issue of bushmeat smuggling, further study of the problem in Switzerland may also be necessary. We are currently cooperating with the University of Bern to create a more sophisticated model of bushmeat smuggling for Switzerland; sample sizes for control days were small, and a larger sample size, randomly collected from all meats over the year, would more accurately determine the proportion of illegally smuggled meats that are bushmeat and identify all species at risk from the trade. Information from the Spiez Laboratory (Swiss Federal Institute for NBC-Protection) about potential health hazards present in our bushmeat samples should also be disseminated to interested parties. The collection of a larger sample size of fresh bushmeat may be necessary to fully address the level of health threat posed by bushmeat. As mentioned above, cooperative programs between Switzerland and African countries would be a helpful step in addressing the issue of bushmeat smuggling. Training programs between Swiss and African Customs Agencies, such as those that took place at Flughafen Zürich (SDA 2012a, 2012b), would allow for the transfer of necessary knowledge to African Customs Agencies and would result in more effective control of the illegal export of species *before* the problem arrives on Swiss soil.

Finally, the participation of Conservation NGOS, Universities, and Governments agencies together, such as was accomplished in this study, allows for a much broader perspective on all the issues involved. It is certain that this study will play a role in increasing awareness about bushmeat smuggling in Switzerland, and in other developed world countries worldwide. It is hoped that it will also play a role in inspiring other countries to address the issues described here within their own infrastructures, and by doing so, better protect those species vulnerable to the international trade in wild and exotic meat.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was carried out by Tengwood Organization, a non-governmental Animal Conservation organization in Switzerland (registration number CH02060014713), in collaboration with Zürich Institute of Forensic Medicine, University of Zürich, Forensic Genetics. Funding was provided by Zürich Institute of Forensic Medicine, University of Zürich, Forensic Genetics, and by Tengwood organization. Tengwood Organization is funded a number of donors, with special thanks to the Marianne & Benno Lüthi Foundation, Comp Tax Treuhand Wallisellen, and the Reformierte Church Opfikon.

In addition, the authors would like to thank the following organizations and individuals, who facilitated this study and provided support in their areas of expertise: Mathias Lörtscher and CITES (Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora) in Switzerland, for allowing participation and data collection on CITES/FVO control day exercises at Zurich airport and Genève Aéroport, and for helpful comments on the manuscript. Many thanks to the Federal Veterinary Office (FVO/BLV) including Mirjam Walker, Bruno Mainini, and FVO employees, for technical support during the study. Thanks also to Susan Stierlin and team (Border Veterinary Service at Geneva Airport), and a special thanks to Rudolf Müller and team (Border Veterinary Service Airport Zurich), who were essential to the ongoing data collection of bushmeat. A generous thanks to Walter Pavel and Swiss Customs Administration (Federal Customs Administration), to Heinz Widmer, Daniel Tschudin and team (Swiss Customs Office, Zurich Airport), and to Arno Rüdisühli and Team (Swiss Customs Office, Geneva airport), all of whom were invaluable in the ongoing collection of bushmeat turing this study. A special thanks to those Customs Agents on the frontlines in controlling the bushmeat trade, who assisted with sample collection during the control day exercises, and continued to collect bushmeat throughout 2012 to help identify species at risk from the trade.

Thanks also to René Köppel and team (Official Food Control Authority of the Canton of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland) for the development of the cyt b multiplex, and for encouraging support and valuable technical discussion during DNA analyses. Additional thanks to Harriet Falk and colleagues from the Vetsuisse (University of Bern) who collected data during the first 2 control days, to Dan Challender, Darren Pietersen and the IUCN Pangolin Specialist Group, who helped identify the pangolins found during the study, and to Zoo Basel, who contributed bloodbank samples to help identify species. Several other people assisted in their various areas of expertise, including Karl Ammann, staff at Zoo Zürich, and Alain Hauser and the University of Bern Bioinformatics Department. A special thanks to Jennifer Goldstein, for tireless editing, as well as several anonymous reviewers for their valuable comments and suggestions on this manuscript.

The findings and conclusions in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of CITES, FVO/BLV, Swiss Customs Administration, or the University of Zürich.

REFERENCES:


BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Abdul IW, Amoamah MO, Abdallah A (2014) Determinants of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in smoked bushmeat. International Journal of Nutrition and Food Sciences, 3(1): 1-6.
- Abelson J, Daley B (2011) On the menu but not on your plate. Boston Globe. Available: <u>http://www.boston.com/business/articles/2011/10/23/on the menu but not on your plate</u>, Accessed 06 Jul 2012.
- 3. African Pangolin Working Group (2013) African Pangolin Working Group. Available: <u>http://pangolin.org.za/</u>, Accessed: 20 Feb 2013.
- 4. Aghokeng AF, Ayouba A, Mpoudi-Ngole E, Loul S, Liegeois F, Delaporte E, Peeters M (2010) Extensive survey on the prevalence and genetic diversity of SIVs in primate bushmeat provides insights into risks for potential new cross-species transmissions. Infection, Genetics and Evolution, 10(3): 386-396.
- Akpambang VOE, Purcaro G, Lajide L, Amoo IA, Conte LS, Moret S (2009). Determination of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in commonly consumed Nigerian smoked/grilled fish and meat. Food Additives and Contaminants, 26(7): 1096-1103.
- 6. Alberts SC, Altmann J (2003) Matrix models for primate life history analysis. *Primate life histories and socioecology*, Chicago:University of Chicago Press, pp. 66-102.
- Allen L (2010) Is your dinner endangered? DNA detectives investigate. Popular Science (11/05/2010). Available: <u>http://www.popsci.com/science/article/2010-10/scientists-deploy-dna-forensics-protect-overhunted-animals</u>, Accessed 05 Nov 2010.
- 8. Altherr S (2007) Going to pot the Neotropical Bushmeat Crisis and its Impact on Primate Populations. Kingsfold, W Sussex and Munich: Care for the Wild International Pro Wildlife, 15p.
- Ammann K (2013) The Website of Karl Ammann. Available: <u>http://karlammann.com</u>, Accessed June 11 2013.
- 10. Ammann K, Pearce J (1995). Slaughter of the Apes: How the Tropical Timber Industry is Devouring Africa's Great Apes. London: World Society for the Protection of Animals.
- 11. Ammann K, (2000) Exploring the bushmeat trade. In: K. Ammann (ed.) Bushmeat: Africa's Conservation Crisis. London: World Society for the Protection of Animals, pp. 16–27.
- 12. Ammann, K. & Pearce, J. (1995) Slaughter of the Apes: How the tropical timber industry is devouring Africa's great apes. World Society for the Protection of Animals, London.
- 13. Amori G, Gippoliti S (2002) Rodents and the bushmeat harvest in Central Africa. Links between biodiversity conservation, livelihoods and food security: the sustainable use of wild meat. Occasional Paper of the IUCN Species Survival Commission, 24: 95-100.
- 14. Ape Alliance (1998) The African Bushmeat Trade—A Recipe for Extinction. London: Ape Alliance. 47p.
- 15. AZA (2013) American Association of Zoos and Aquaria (AZA). Available: <u>http://www.aza.org</u>. Accessed June 15 2013.
- Bailey ND (2000) Global and Historical Perspectives on Market Hunting: Implications for the African Bushmeat Crisis. Sustainable Development and Conservation Biology, University of Maryland and Bushmeat Crisis Task Force, Silver Spring, Maryland. 44p.
- 17. Bair-Brake H, Bell T, Higgins A, Bailey N, Duda M, Shapiro S, Eves HE, Marano N, Galland G (2013). Is that a rodent in your luggage? A mixed method approach to describe bushmeat importation into the United States. Zoonoses and public health, pp.1-8.
- 18. Barnes RF (2002) The bushmeat boom and bust in West and Central Africa. Oryx 36(3): 236-242.
- Barry E (2007) A Taste of Baboon and Monkey meat, and Maybe of Prison, Too. New York Times, Available: <u>http://www.nytimes.com/2007/11/17/nyregion/17meat.html?pagewanted=all</u>, Accessed: 17 Nov 2007.
- Bassey E, Nkonyu L, Dunn A (2010). A Reconnaissance Survey of the Bushmeat Trade in Eight Border Communities of South-East Nigeria, September-October 2009. An unpublished report to the Arcus Foundation and Wildlife Conservation Society, 21 pgs.
- 21. BBC (2001a) Illegal 'bushmeat' traders face jail. BBC News. Available: <u>http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/uk_news/1390125.stm</u>, Accessed: 25 May 2001.

- 22. BBC (2001b) Illegal 'bushmeat' traders jailed. BBC News. Available: http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/uk_news/1390125.stm, Accessed: 15 June 2001.
- BBC (2002) 'Bush meat' disease warning. BBC News World Edition Tuesday, 23 July, 2002, 17:29 GMT 18:29 UK, Available: <u>http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/uk_news/politics/2146158.stm</u>, Accessed: 10 Oct 2013.
- 24. Belant JL, Deese AR (2010) Importance of Wildlife disease surveillance. Human-Wildlife Interactions 4(2): 165-169.
- 25. Bell D, Roberton S, Hunter PR (2004) Animal origins of SARS coronavirus: possible links with the international trade in small carnivores. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences, 359(1447): 1107-1114.
- 26. Benson DA, Karsch-Mizrachi I, Lipman DJ, Ostell J, Sayers EW (2010) GenBank. Nucleic acids research, 38(suppl 1): D46-D51.
- 27. Bermejo M, Rodríguez-Teijeiro JD, Illera G, Barroso A, Vilà C, Walsh PD (2006) Ebola outbreak killed 5000 gorillas. Science, 314(5805): 1564-1564.
- 28. BirdLife International (2012a) *Collocalia fuciphaga*. In: IUCN 2013. IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2013.2. <<u>www.iucnredlist.org</u>>. Downloaded on 05 June 2013.
- 29. BirdLife International (2012b) *Anas platyrhynchos*. In: IUCN 2013. IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2013.2. <<u>www.iucnredlist.org</u>>. Downloaded on 05 June 2013.
- 30. Bourlière F, Gautier JP, Kingdon J (1988) A primate radiation: evolutionary biology of the African guenons. New York: Cambridge University Press, 576p.
- 31. Bowen-Jones E (1998) A review of the commercial bushmeat trade with emphasis on Central/West Africa and the great apes. African Primates 3: S1–S42.
- 32. Bowen-Jones E, Pendry S (1999) The threat to primates and other mammals from the bushmeat trade in Africa, and how this threat could be diminished. Oryx 33(3): 233–246.
- 33. Bowen-Jones E, Robinson E, Brown D (2002) Assessment of the solution-orientated research needed to promote a more sustainable bushmeat trade in Central and West Africa. A Report produced for Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA), U.K., 127p.
- Bowen-Jones E (2002) What are the impacts of the bushmeat-trade on biodiversity, and what entry points can the EU most effectively use to reduce these. In: Carroll B, editor. EAZA Bushmeat Campaign 2000-2001 Report. European Association of Zoos and Aquaria. Available: http://www.eaza.nl/download/summebj, Accessed April 20 2013.
- Bowen-Jones E, Brown D, Robinson EJ (2003) Economic commodity or environmental crisis? An interdisciplinary approach to analysing the bushmeat trade in Central and West Africa. Area, 35(4), 390-402.
- 36. Brashares JS (2003) Ecological, Behavioral, and Life-History Correlates of Mammal Extinctions in West Africa. Conservation Biology, 17(3): 733-743.
- 37. Brashares J (2013) Brashares Group; What We Do. 2) Causes and ecological consequences of wildlife utilization. Available: <u>http://cnr.berkeley.edu/BrasharesLab/research.html</u>, Accessed: 01 Dec 2013.
- 38. Brashares JS, Arcese P, Sam MK, Coppolillo PB, Sinclair AR, Balmford A (2004) Bushmeat hunting, wildlife declines, and fish supply in West Africa. Science, 306(5699): 1180-1183.
- Brashares JS, Golden CD, Weinbaum KZ, Barrett CB, Okello GV (2011) Economic and Geographic Drivers of Wildlife Consumption in Rural Africa. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 108(34): 13931-13936.
- 40. Braun B (2013) Wildlife Detector Dogs; A guideline on the training of dogs to detect wildlife in trade. Report to TRAFFIC, Berlin, Germany: WWF Germany Species Conservation Section, 16p.
- 41. Brodie JF, Helmy OE, Brockelman WY, Maron JL (2009) Bushmeat poaching reduces the seed dispersal and population growth rate of a mammal-dispersed tree. Ecological Applications, 19(4): 854-863.
- 42. Brown C (2010) Emerging Diseases: The Global Express. Veterinary Pathology 47(1): 9-14.
- Brussels Airlines (2013) Share our Passion for Africa. Brussels Airlines. Available: <u>http://www.brusselsairlines.com/en_ch/look-for/destinations/african-corner</u>, Accessed: 30 Dec 2013.
- 44. Buck EH (2010) CRS Report for Congress: Seafood Marketing: Combating Fraud and Deception, July 2, 2010. Congressional Research Service: www.crs.gov, 15p.

- 45. Bundesamt f
 ür Gesundheit/BAG (2010) Lebensmittel und Gebrauchsgegenst
 ände; Die Organisation der Lebensmittelsicherheit in der Schweiz. Available: http://www.bag.admin.ch/themen/lebensmittel/index.html?lang=de, Accessed: 08 Feb 2010.
- 46. Bundesamt für Lebensmittelsicherheit und Veterinärwesen (BLV), Tengwood Organization (2014)
 Bushmeat Informations- und Identifikationsbroschüre. Eidgenössisches Departement des Innern /EDI: Switzerland, 31p.
- 47. Bushmeat Crisis Task Force (2009) About BCTF. Available: http://www.bushmeat.org/about_bctf. Accessed Jun 17 2009.
- 48. Bütler L (2014). Dossiers | Artenschutz: «Gonzo», «Winner» und «Unique» drei Spürhunde im Einsatz für geschützte Tiere. Forum Z., das Magazin des Schweizer Zolls, Forum Z. 1/14, p. 18-19. Available: www.ezv.admin.ch/dokumentation/04033/04037/index.html?lang=de, Accessed: 30 Feb 2014.
- 49. Butynski TM (2002a). The guenons: An overview of diversity and taxonomy. The guenons: Diversity and adaptation in African monkeys, 3-13.
- 50. Butynski TM (2002b) Conservation of the guenons: an overview of status, threats, and recommendations. In: The guenons: Diversity and adaptation in African monkeys, U.S.: Springer, pp. 411-424.
- 51. Carroll B (2002) EAZA Bushmeat Campaign Report 2000-2001. Available: http://www.eaza.net/campaigns/Pages/Bushmeat.aspx, Accessed June 16 2013.
- Carroll B (2009) EAZA Bushmeat Campaign: Lots done, plenty to do. EAZA. Available: <u>http://www.eaza.net/News/EAZA_Magazine/EAZA%20NEWS%20Magazine/ZA68.pdf</u>. Accessed June 16 2013.
- 53. CAWT (Coalition Against Wildlife Trafficking) (2013). Wildlife Crime: Illegal Wildlife Trade. Available: http://www.cawtglobal.org/wildlife-crime, Accessed 30 Dec 2013.
- 54. Cawthorn DM, Steinman HA, Witthuhn RC (2012) DNA barcoding reveals a high incidence of fish species misrepresentation and substitution on the South African market. Food Research International, 46(1): 30-40.
- 55. Cawthorn DM, Steinman HA, Hoffman LC (2013) A high incidence of species substitution and mislabeling detected in meat products sold in South Africa. Food Control, 32(2): 440-449.
- 56. CBP (U.S. Customs and Border Protection, Canine Program) (2013) Program Background. U.S. Customs and Border Protection, Canine Program. Available:
- <u>http://www.cbp.gov/xp/cgov/border_security/canine/background.xml</u>, Accessed: 07 May 2013.
 57. CDC (2010a) Marburg Hemorrhagic Fever Fact Sheet. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention website, Available:

```
http://www.cdc.gov/ncidod/dvrd/spb/mnpages/dispages/Fact_Sheets/Marburg%20Hemmorhagic%20Fe
ver%20Fact%20Sheet.pdf. Accessed: 27 Feb 2012.
```

- 58. CDC (2010b) Ebola Hemorrhagic Fever Information Packet; Ebola Hemorrhagic Fever Case Count and Location List. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 12p. Available: http://www.cdc.gov/ncidod/dvrd/spb/mnpages/dispages/ebola.htm, Accessed: 9 Apr 2010.
- 59. CDC (2014) Ebola Hemorrhagic Fever; Chronology of Ebola Hemorrhagic Fever Outbreaks. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention website, Available: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/vhf/ebola/resources/outbreak-table.html</u>, Accessed: 01 Aug 2014.
- Chaber A-L (2009) Investigation of the African bushmeat traffic in France: a threat to both biodiversity and public health. Meeting report: 24th April - Bushmeat trade from Africa to Europe. U.K. Bushmeat Working Group, 38p. Available: <u>http://static.zsl.org/secure/files/al-chaber-bushmeat-traffic-1458.pdf</u>, Accessed: 22 Apr 2012.
- 61. Chaber A-L, Allebone-Webb S, Lignereux Y, Cunningham AA, Rowcliffe JM (2010) The Scale of Illegal Meat Importation from Africa to Europe via Paris. Conservation Letters 3: 317–321.
- Chapman CA, Gautier-Hion A, Oates JF, Onderdonk DA (1999) African primate communities: determinants of structure and threats to survival. In: Fleagle JG, Janson C, Reed K (eds.) Primate communities. Cambridge University Press, pp. 1-37.
- 63. Challender DWS (2011) Asian Pangolins: Increasing Affluence Driving Hunting Pressure. TRAFFIC Bulletin Vol. 23(3): 92-93.

- 64. Challender DWS, Baillie JEM, Waterman C, IUCN-SSC Pangolin Specialist Group (2012) Catalysing conservation action and raising the profile of pangolins the IUCN-SSC Pangolin Specialist Group (PangolinSG). Asian Journal of Conservation Biology, December 2012. 1(2): 140 -141.
- 65. Challender DW (2013) The most traded wild mammal the Pangolin is being eaten to extinction. IUCN. Available: <u>http://www.iucn.org/news_homepage/news_by_date/?13434/The-most-traded-wild-mammal-</u> --the-Pangolin---is-being-eaten-to-extinction, Accessed: 22 July 2013.
- 66. Challender DWS, Hywood L (2012) African Pangolins; Under Increased Pressure From Poaching and Intercontinental Trade. TRAFFIC Bulletin 4(2): 53-55.
- 67. Challender DWS, Waterman C, and Baillie JEM (2014) Scaling Up Pangolin Conservation; IUCN-SSC Pangolin Specialist Group Conservation Action Plan. IUCN-SSC Pangolin Specialist Group, London UK: Zoological Society London, 24p.
- 68. Chapman CA, Lawes MJ, Eeley HA (2006) What hope for African primate diversity? African Journal of Ecology 44(2): 116-133.
- Chomel BB, Belotto A, Meslin FX (2007) Wildlife, Exotic Pets, and Emerging Zoonoses. Emerging Infectious Diseases 13(1): 6-11. Available: <u>http://wwwnc.cdc.gov/eid/article/13/1/pdfs/06-0480.pdf</u>, Accessed 10 Jun 2012.
- 70. CITES (2011a) CBD Activities. Group Joint Meeting of the CBD Liaison Group on Bushmeat and the CITES Central Africa Bushmeat Working Group, 7 - 10 June 2011 - Nairobi, Kenya. UNEP/CBD/LG-Bushmeat/2/4. Available: <u>http://www.cbd.int/doc/meetings/for/lgbushmeat-02/other/lgbushmeat-02-cbd-en.pdf</u>, Accessed: 01 Dec 2013.
- 71. CITES (2011b) Outcomes of the Joint Meeting of the CBD Liaison Group on Bushmeat and the CITES Central Africa Bushmeat Working Group Joint Meeting of the CBD Liaison Group on Bushmeat and the CITES Central Africa Bushmeat Working Group, 7 - 10 June 2011 - Nairobi, Kenya. UNEP/CBD/LG-Bushmeat/2/4. Available: <u>http://www.cbd.int/doc/?meeting=LGBUSHMEAT-02</u>, Accessed: 01 Dec 2013.
- 72. CITES (the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora) (2013a) Member countries. Available: <u>http://www.cites.org/eng/disc/parties/index.php</u>, Accessed 14 Jan 2013.
- 73. CITES (the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora) (2013b) What is CITES? CITES (the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora). Available: <u>http://www.cites.org/eng/disc/what.php</u>, Accessed 14 Jan 2013.
- 74. CITES (the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora) (2013c) The CITES species. CITES (the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora). Available: <u>http://www.cites.org/eng/disc/species.php</u>, Accessed 14 Jan 2013.
- 75. CITES (2013d) Appendices I, II and III, valid from 12 June 2013. CITES; Geneva, Switzerland. Available: http://www.cites.org/eng/app/2013/E-Appendices-2013-06-12.pdf, Accessed: 12 Jun 2013.
- 76. CITES (2013e) Species + now available. CITES, Available: <u>http://www.cites.org/eng/news/sundry/2013/20131113_species%2B.php</u>, Accessed: 14 Jan 2013.
- 77. CITES (2013f) CITES Secretary-General welcomes adoption of UN Commission on Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice draft resolution recognizing wildlife crime as a serious crime. Available: <u>http://www.cites.org/eng/news/sundry/2013/20130502_ccpcj_resolution.php</u>. Accessed 26 April 2013.
- 78. CITES (2014a) Elephant Conservation, Illegal Killing and Ivory Trade (SC65 Doc. 42.1), Sixty-fifth meeting of the Standing Committee, Geneva (Switzerland), 7-11 July 2014, Interpretation and implementation of the Convention, Species trade and conservation, Elephants. Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES) Report, 38p.
- 79. CITES (2014b) Mandate of the intersessional working group on pangolins (SC65 Com. 8), Sixty-fifth meeting of the Standing Committee, Geneva (Switzerland), 7-11 July 2014, Interpretation and Implementation of the Convention; Compliance and Enforcement, Enforcement Matters. Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES) Report, 1p.
- Colyn M, Hulselmans J, Sonet G, Oudé P, de Winter J, Nata A, Nagy Z, Verheyen E (2010) Discovery of a new duiker species (Bovidae: Cephalophinae) from the Dahomey Gap, West Africa. Zootaxa 2637: 1–30.
- Congo Basin Forest Partnership (2010) The Situation of Forests in the Amazonian, Congo and South-East Asia Basins. Kinshasa Congo: CBFP, 274p. Available: <u>http://www.pfbc-cbfp.org/Stateoftheforest.html</u>, Accessed: 17 Jun 2013.

- Consumer (2013) Consumers are seeking health, adventure in the meat aisle. Nielsen.com. Available: <u>http://www.nielsen.com/us/en/newswire/2013/consumers-are-seeking-health-adventure-in-the-meat-aisle.html</u>, Accessed: 12 Mar 2013.
- 83. Cook BL (1982) The Scope of the Wildlife Trade in the United States. Proc. Annu. Conf. Southeast. Assoc. Fish and Wildl. Agencies 36: 723-736.
- 84. Cooper JE, Cooper ME (2007) Introduction to veterinary and comparative forensic medicine. Wiley-Blackwell, 432p.
- 85. Cooper JE, Cooper ME (eds.) (2013) Wildlife Forensic Investigation: Principles and Practice. CRC Press. 770p.
- 86. Costa-Neto EM (2005) Animal-based medicines: biological prospection and the sustainable use of zootherapeutic resources. Anais da Academia Brasileira de Ciências, 77(1): 33-43.
- Cota-Larson R (2013a) Pangolin Trafficking: 2011 to October 2013 [Infographic]. Annamiticus.com. Available: <u>http://annamiticus.com/2013/10/24/pangolin-trafficking-2011-to-october-2013-infographic</u>, Accessed: 22 Oct 2013.
- Cota-Larson R (2013b) Four Pangolin Smuggling Busts in Four Countries in 10 Days. Annamiticus.com, Available: <u>http://annamiticus.com/2013/05/01/four-pangolin-smuggling-busts-in-four-countries-in-10days</u>, Accessed: 01 May 2013.
- Cota-Larson R (2014a) 2 Tons of Pangolin Scales from Cameroon Seized in Hong Kong. Annamiticus, Available: <u>http://annamiticus.com/2014/06/16/2-tons-pangolin-scales-cameroon-seized-hong-kong/</u>, Accessed: 16 Jun 2014.
- 90. Cota-Larson R (2014b) 6 Months of Pangolin Trafficking in Asia: 17 Seizures in 6 Countries. Annamiticus, Available: <u>http://annamiticus.com/2014/06/18/6-months-of-pangolin-trafficking-in-asia-17-seizures-in-6-countries/</u>, Accessed: 18 Jun 2014.
- Covey R, McGraw S, Monah I (2011) Abundance of primates in a West African bushmeat market: implications for cercopithecid conservation in eastern Liberia. American Journal of Physical Anthropology, 144: 114.
- 92. Cowlishaw G, Dunbar RI (2000) *Primate conservation biology*. University of Chicago Press: Chicago U.S. 498p.
- 93. Cowlishaw G, Mendelson S, Rowcliffe JM (2004) The Bushmeat Commodity Chain: patterns of trade and sustainability in a mature urban market in West Africa. Wildlife Policy Briefing, (7): 4p.
- Cumiskey A, Woods R (1999) Chimps on the Menu in Brussels restaurants; Bushmeat chops a favourite in some backstreet cafes. The Sunday Times, Europe. Available: http://bushmeat.net/chimpsonmenu599.htm, Accessed 16 May 1999.
- 95. Cunningham AA (2005) A Walk on the Wild Side Emerging Wildlife Diseases; they increasingly threaten human and animal health. BMJ Volume 331(7527): 1214-1215.
- 96. Cunningham AA, Daszak P, Rodríguez JP (2003) Pathogen pollution: defining a parasitological threat to biodiversity conservation. J Parasitol, 89: S78-83.
- 97. Dalberg/WWF (2012) Fighting illicit wildlife trafficking: A consultation with governments. Gland, Switzerland: WWF International. 34p.
- 98. Daszak P, Cunningham AA, Hyatt AD (2000) Emerging infectious diseases of wildlife—threats to biodiversity and human health. Science 287: 443-9.
- 99. Davies G (2002) Bushmeat and international development. Conservation Biology 16(3): 587-589.
- 100.Dedeke GA, Soewu DA, Lawal OA, Ola M (2006) Pilot survey of ethnozoological utilisation of vertebrates in Southwestern Nigeria. Indilinga. Afr J Indigenous Knowl Syst, 5(1): 87-96.
- 101.DEFRA (2002) Report on the Origin of the UK Foot and Mouth Epidemic in 2001. Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, June 2002, 36p.
- 102.DEFRA (2011) Annual Review of Controls on Imports of Animal Products, April 2010-March 2011. London: Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, 20p.
- 103.DEFRA (Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs) (2011) Annual Review of Controls on Imports of Animal Products; April 2010-March 2011. Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, London: TSO (The Stationary Office), 17p. Available: <u>http://www.defra.gov.uk/animal-trade</u>, Accessed: 01 Nov 2012.

- 104.EAZA (2013) European Association of Zoos and Aquaria (EAZA). Available: <u>http://www.eaza.net/campaigns/Pages/Bushmeat.aspx</u>. Accessed: 15 Jun 2013.
- 105.EAZA (2010) EAZA Bushmeat Campaign 2000-2001; Fact sheet. EAZA Executive Office, 2 p. Available: http://www.eaza.net/campaigns/factsheets/bushmeat0610.pdf Accessed: 16 Jun 2013.
- 106. Eidgenössisches Finanzdepartement/EFD, Eidgenössische Zollverwaltung/EZV (2013) Medienmitteilung; Zoll 2012: gegen organisierten Schmuggel grenzüberschreitende Kriminalität und illegal Migration. Medienmappe 2012. Eidgenössisches Finanzdepartement/EFD, Eidgenössische Zollverwaltung/EZV, Available: <u>http://www.news.admin.ch/NSBSubscriber/message/attachments/29500.pdf</u>, Accessed: 12 Dec 2013.
- 107.Ellicott C (2011) Meat from chimpanzees 'is on sale in Britain' in lucrative black market. Mail Online. Available: <u>http://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-1361149/Chimpanzee-meat-discovered-British-restaurants-market-stalls.html</u>, Accessed: 11 Mar 2011.
- 108. Ellis LJ, Turner JL. (2007) Where the Wild Things Are... Sold. In: China Environment Series 2007: Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars, 131-134. Available: <u>http://www.wilsoncenter.org/sites/default/files/CES%209%20Forward%20and%20Table%20of%20Contents.pdf</u>, Accessed: 01 Nov 2013.
- 109.Elton S (2013) Monkeys on the Menu. Macleans. Available: <u>http://www2.macleans.ca/2013/04/15/gorillas-in-our-midst/</u>, Accessed: April 15, 2013.
- 110.Engler M, Parry-Jones R (2007) Opportunity or Threat: The Role of the European Union in Global Wildlife Trade. TRAFFIC Europe, Brussels: Belgium, 56p.
- 111. Eniang EA, Ijeomah HM (2011) Clandestine Bushmeat Trade in Cross River State, Nigeria: Implications on Herp Diversity and the Environment. Global Approaches to Extension Practice: A Journal of Agricultural Extension, 7(2): 1-10.
- 112.EPI (Environmental Performance Index)(2012) 2012 Environmental Performance Index. Yale Center for Environmental Law and Policy, New Haven, CT USA: Yale University, Center for International Earth Science Information Network, NY USA: Columbia University, in collaboration with World Economic Forum, Geneva, Switzerland, and Joint Research Centre of the European Commission, Ispra Italy. Available: <u>http://epi.yale.edu/epi2012/summary</u>, Accessed: 10 Jan 2013.
- 113. European Commission (2004) Official Journal of the European Union; Annex III of the Commission Regulation (EC) No 745/2004 of 16 April 2004.
- 114.European Commission (2009) TRAde Control and Expert System (TRACES), Available: <u>http://ec.europa.eu/food/animal/diseases/traces/index_en.htm</u>, Accessed: 10 Jul 2009.
- 115. European Commission (2010) Wildlife Trade Regulations in the European Union. European Union; Belgium, 24p. Available: <u>http://ec.europa.eu/environment/cites/pdf/trade_regulations/short_ref_guide.pdf</u>, Accessed: 01 Dec
- 2010. 116.European Commission (2013) Environment; EU Wildlife Trade Legislation. Available: http://ec.europa.eu/environment/cites/legislation_en.htm, Accessed: 11 Apr 2013.
- 117. Eves HE, Hutchins M, Bailey ND (2008). The bushmeat crisis task force (BCTF). In *Conservation in the 21st Century: Gorillas as a Case Study*. Springer: U.S., p. 327-344.
- 118.Fa JE, Péres CA, Meeuwig J (2002) Bushmeat Exploitation in Tropical Forests: An Intercontinental Comparison. Conservation Biology 16(1): 232-237.
- 119.Fa JE, Currie D, Meeuwig J (2003). Bushmeat and food security in the Congo Basin: linkages between wildlife and people's future. Environmental Conservation 30(1): 71-78.
- 120.Fa JE. Ryan SF, Bell, DJ (2005). Hunting vulnerability, ecological characteristics and harvest rates of bushmeat species in afrotropical forests. Biological Conservation, 121(2): 167-176.
- 121.Fa JE, Seymour S, Dupain J, Amin R, Albrechtsen L, Macdonald D (2006) Getting to grips with the magnitude of exploitation: bushmeat in the Cross–Sanaga rivers region, Nigeria and Cameroon. Biological Conservation 129(4): 497-510.
- 122.Fa JE, Brown D (2009). Impacts of hunting on mammals in African tropical moist forests: a review and synthesis. Mammal Review, 39(4): 231-264.

- 123.Fa JE, Albretchsen L, Brown D (2009). Bushmeat: the challenge of balancing human and wildlife needs in African moist tropical forests. In: MacDonald D, Service K (eds.). Key Topics in Conservation Biology, pgs.206-221.
- 124. Falconer J (1990) Chapter 4; Forest Resources as a source of cash income: The marketing of gathered and processed forest products. In: The Major Significance of 'Minor' Forest Products: The Local Use and Value of Forests in the Humid Forest Zone, Community Forestry Note 6. Rome, Italy: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United States, 38p.
- 125.Falconer J, Koppell CR (1990). The major significance of minor'forest products: the local use and value of forests in the West African humid forest zone. FAO Community Forestry Note: FAO Corporate Document Depository, (Chapter 6): 232p. Available: <u>http://www.fao.org/docrep/t9450e/t9450e00.htm</u> Accessed: 22 Mar 2012.
- 126.Falk H, Dürr S, Hauser R, Wood K, Tenger B, Lörtscher M, Schüpbach-Regula G (2013) Illegal import of meat and meat products including bushmeat into a European country by private air travel, OIE (International Office of Epizootics) Plurithematic issue, Scientific and Technical Review (Revue scientifique et technique), 32(3): 727-739.
- 127.Falola T, Paddock A (eds.) (2011) Environment and Economics in Nigeria. Vol. 4. Routledge African Studies, pp.119.
- 128.FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations) Fisheries and Aquaculture Department (2013) FAO FishFinder Search: Aquatic Species Fact Sheets. FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Department, Available: <u>http://www.fao.org/fishery/species/search/en</u>, Accessed: 11 Aug 2013.
- 129. Faris S (2007) Heroes of the Environment; Karl Ammann. *TIME* October 2007. Available: <u>http://www.time.com/time/specials/2007/article/0,28804,1663317_1663320_1669914,00.html</u> Accessed: 17 Oct 2007.
- 130.Federal Food Safety and Veterinary Office (FSVO)/ Bundesamt für Lebensmittelsicherheit und Veterinärwesen (BLV) (2014) Wilkommen beim BLV. Available: <u>www.blv.admin.ch</u>, Accessed: 10 Jan 2014.
- 131. Federal Office for Civil Aviation (FOCA) (2013) Swiss civil aviation 2012. Neuchâtel: Federal Statistical Office (FSO), 10p. Available:

http://www.bfs.admin.ch/bfs/portal/en/index/themen/11/07/blank/02/01.html, Accessed: 20 Aug 2013.

- 132.Ferrior P (2009) The Economics of Agricultural and Wildlife Smuggling. U.S. Dept. of Agri., Econ. Res. Serv. DIANE Publishing. (No. 81) ERR-81, 26p. Available: <u>http://www.ers.usda.gov/media/185391/err81 1 .pdf</u>. Accessed August 6 2010.
- 133.Fletcher P (2014). Beware of bats: Guinea issues bushmeat warning after Ebola Outbreak. Reuters. Available: <u>http://www.reuters.com/article/2014/03/27/health-ebola-bushmeat-</u> <u>idUSL5N0M02NF20140327</u>, Accessed: 27 Mar 2014.
- 134. Flughafen Zürich (2012) Statistiksbericht, Flughafen Zürich. Available: <u>http://www.zurich-airport.com</u>, Accessed: 01 Jan 2013.
- 135.Flughafen Zürich (2013) Cargo; Jeden Tag über 1000 Tonnen Luftfracht. Flughafen Zürich, Available: <u>http://www.flughafen-zuerich.ch/business-und-partner/flugbetrieb/cargo</u>, Accessed: 22 Dec 2013.
- 136.Food Safety Authority of Ireland (2013a) FSAI Survey Finds Horse DNA in Some Beef Burger Products. Available: <u>http://www.fsai.ie/news_centre/press_releases/horseDNA15012013.html</u>, Accessed: 15 Jan 2013.
- 137.Food Safety Authority of Ireland (2013b) CEO Statement to the Joint Oireachtas Committee on Agriculture, Food and the Marine. Available:

http://www.fsai.ie/news_centre/oireachtas_05.02.2013.html, Accessed: 05 Feb 2013.

- 138. Formenty P, Hatz C, Le Guenno B, Stoll A, Rogenmoser P, Widmer A (1999) Human infection due to Ebola virus, subtype Côte d'Ivoire: clinical and biologic presentation. Journal of Infectious Diseases, 179(Suppl 1): S48-S53.
- 139.Formenty P, Boesch C, Wyers M, Steiner C, Donati F, Dind F, Walker F, Le Guenno B (1999). Ebola virus outbreak among wild chimpanzees living in a rain forest of Cote d'Ivoire. Journal of Infectious Diseases, 179(Suppl 1): S120-S126.
- 140.Froese R, Pauly D (eds.) (2011) Species of *Clarias*.FishBase. Available: <u>http://www.fishbase.org/identification/SpeciesList.php?genus=Clarias</u>, Accessed: 10 Sep 2012.
- 141. Furniss C (2005) Taking bushmeat off the menu. Geographical 69-73.

- 142. Fuss D (2012). Rekord: 4452 kamen die Grenzer Schmugglern auf die Schliche. Basellandschaftliche Zeitung. Available: <u>http://www.basellandschaftlichezeitung.ch/basel/baselbiet/rekord-4452-kamen-die-grenzer-schmugglern-auf-die-schliche-120371639</u>, Accessed: 08 Feb 2012.
- 143.FVO/BVET (2007) Importing food of animal origin from EU Member States (also applicable for imports from Norway and for fishery products from Iceland). Federal Veterinary Office: Swiss Confederation. Available: <u>http://www.bvet.admin.ch/themen/01614/01886/index.html?lang=en</u>, Accessed: 24 Jan 2007.
- 144.FVO/BVET (2008) General rules for importing live animals and animal products into Switzerland (version of January 1st 2008). Federal Veterinary Office: Swiss Confederation. Available: <u>http://www.bvet.admin.ch/ein_ausfuhr/04035/index.html?lang=en</u>, Accessed: 01 Jan 2013.
- 145.FVO/BVET (2009) Import and transit of foods of animal origin from third countries. Federal Veterinary Office: Swiss Confederation. Available:

http://www.bvet.admin.ch/ein_ausfuhr/01190/index.html?lang=en, Accessed: 27 Jan 2009.

- 146.FVO/BVET (Federal Veterinary Office/FVO) (2012) List of diseases that Switzerland is free of. Federal Department of Economic Affairs (DEA) / Schweizerische Eidgenossenschaft. Available: http://www.bvet.admin.ch/gesundheit tiere/index.html?lang=en, Accessed 19 Mar 2012.
- 147.FVO/BVET (2013a) Travelling with pets souvenirs food; Foodstuffs / fishermen / hunters. Federal Veterinary Office: Swiss Confederation. Available:
- <u>http://www.bvet.admin.ch/themen/01614/01886/index.html?lang=en</u>, Accessed: 01 Jan 2013.
 148.FVO/BVET (2013b) CITES: Wild Fauna and Flora. Federal Veterinary Office: Swiss Confederation. Available:
 <u>http://www.bvet.admin.ch/themen/handel_wild/index.html?lang=en</u>, Accessed: 01 Jan 2013.
- 149.FVO/BVET (2013c) Edible snails. Federal Veterinary Office: Swiss Confederation. Available: http://www.bvet.admin.ch/ein_ausfuhr/01190/01206/index.html?lang=en, Accessed: 01 Jan 2013.
- 150.FVO/BVET (2013d) General conditions import bans TRACES. Federal Veterinary Office: Swiss Confederation. Available: <u>http://www.bvet.admin.ch/ein_ausfuhr/01190/02046/index.html?lang=en</u>, Accessed: 01 Jan 2013.
- 151.FVO/BVET (2013e) Imports from Third Countries. Federal Veterinary Office: Swiss Confederation. Available: <u>http://www.bvet.admin.ch/ein_ausfuhr/01718/01720/index.html?lang=en</u>, Accessed: 13 Dec 2013.
- 152.Gaber W, Goetsch U, Diel R, Doerr HW, Gottschalk R (2009) Screening for Infectious Diseases at International Airports: The Frankfurt Model. Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine 80(7): 595-600(6).
- 153.Gage TB (1998) The comparative demography of primates: with some comments on the evolution of life histories. Annual Review of Anthropology 27(1): 197-221.
- 154.Gaudin TJ, Emry RJ, Wible JR (2009). The phylogeny of living and extinct pangolins (*Mammalia, Pholidota*) and associated taxa: a morphology based analysis. Journal of mammalian evolution, 16(4): 235-305.
- 155.Genève Aéroport (2012) Statistics of the Traffic Report, Statistical Report 2012, Genève Aéroport. Available: <u>http://www.gva.ch</u>, Accessed: 01 Jan 2013.
- 156. Georges AJ, Leroy EM, Renaut AA, Benissan CT, Nabias RJ, Ngoc MT, Obiang PI, Lepage JPM, Bertherat EJ, Benoni DD, Wickings EJ, Ambiard JP, Lansoud-Soukate JM, Milleliri JM, Baize S, Georges-Courbot MC (1999). Ebola hemorrhagic fever outbreaks in Gabon, 1994-1997: epidemiologic and health control issues. Journal of Infectious Diseases. 1999: 179:S65-75.
- 157.Geser S (2004) Vollzug von CITES in der Schweiz: Analyse von Handelsdaten geschützter Tiere und deren Produkte. Bern, Switzerland : Bundesamt für Veterinärwesen (BVET) 51p.
- 158. Giovanini D (2006) Taking Animal Trafficking Out of the Shadows: RENCTAS Uses the Internet to Combat a Multi-Billion Dollar Trade. Innovations: Technology, Governance, Globalization, 1(2): 25-35.
- 159.Glenn ME, Cords M (eds.) (2002) The guenons: Diversity and adaptation in African monkeys (Vol. 2). U.S.: Springer, 438p.
- 160. Glawogger M (2006) Workingman's Death, Vienna Austria; Mandelbaum Verlag, 280p.
- 161.GMA News (2007) Nation: Fake 'Ma-Ling' seized. GMA News Online. Available: <u>http://www.gmanetwork.com/news/story/35508/news/nation/fake-ma-ling-seized</u>, Accessed: 23 Mar 2007.

- 162.Godfray H, Charles J, Beddington JR, Crute IR, Haddad L, Lawrence D, Muir JF, Pretty J, Robinson S, Thomas SM, Toulmin C. (2010) Food security: the challenge of feeding 9 billion people. Science 327, no. 5967 (2010): 812-818.
- 163.Goldman R (2007). Bushmeat: Curse of the Monkey's Paw. ABC News, Available: <u>http://abcnews.go.com/Health/story?id=2952077</u>, Accessed: 15 Mar 2007.
- 164.Grace E (2013) To Sniff Out Illegal Wildlife Trade: Follow Their Noses. United States Fish and Wildlife Service Director's Corner. Available: <u>http://www.fws.gov/director/dan-ashe/index.cfm/2013/4/5/To-Sniff-out-Illegal-Wildlife-Trade-Follow-their-Noses</u>, Accessed: 05 Apr 2013.
- 165.Groombridge B, Jenkins MD, UNEP-WCMC (2002) World atlas of biodiversity. Prepared by the UNEP World Conservation Monitoring Centre. *University of California Press, Berkeley*, 256p.
- 166.Grubb P, Butynski TM, Oates JF, Bearder SK, Disotell TR, Groves CP, Struhsaker TT (2003) Assessment of the diversity of African primates. International Journal of Primatology, 24(6): 1301-1357.
- 167.Guan Y, Zheng BJ, He YQ, Liu XL, Zhuang ZX, Cheung CL, Luo SW, Li PH, Zhang LJ, Guan J, Butt KM, Wong KL, Chan KW, Lim W, Shortridge KF, Yuen KY, Peiris JSM, Poon LLM (2003) Isolation and characterization of viruses related to the SARS coronavirus from animals in southern China. Science, 302(5643): 276-278.
- 168.Guarner J, Johnson BJ, Paddock CD, Shieh W-J, Goldsmith CS, Reynolds MG, et al (2004) Monkeypox transmission and pathogenesis in prairie dogs. Emerg Infect Dis. 2004(10): 426–31.
- 169. Haken J (2011) Transnational crime in the developing world. Washington: Global Financial Integrity. 68p.
- 170. Hance J (2010) Farming snails to save the world's rarest gorillas. Mongabay.com. Available: http://news.mongabay.com/2010/0428-hance_gorilla_snail.html, Accessed: 23 Jan 2010.
- 171. Haque N (2014). Anger as Ivory Coast bans bushmeat; West African governments ban sale of bushmeat to limit spread of fatal Ebola virus amid outbreak in Guinea and Liberia. Aljazeera Africa. Available: <u>http://www.aljazeera.com/video/africa/2014/04/anger-as-ivory-coast-bans-bushmeat-</u> <u>201442364130631150.html</u>, Accessed 23 Apr 2014.
- 172.Hardouin J (1995) Minilivestock: from gathering to controlled production. *Biodiversity & Conservation*, 4(3): 220-232.
- 173. Harrison RD (2011) Emptying the forest: hunting and the extirpation of wildlife from tropical nature reserves. BioScience, 61(11): 919-924.
- 174. Hartnett E, Adkin A, Seaman M, Cooper J, Watson E, Coburn H, England T, Marooney C, Cox A, Wooldridge M (2007) A quantitative assessment of the risks from illegally imported meat contaminated with foot and mouth disease virus to Great Britain. Risk Analysis, 27(1): 187-202.
- 175. Hearn GW, Morra WA (2001) The Approaching Extinction of Monkeys and Duikers on Bioko Island, Equatorial Guinea, Africa; a brief report prepared by Arcadia University's Bioko Biodiversity Protection, Program, Publication #7 Version 1.0. Glenside PA, USA: Arcadia University Bioko Biodiversity Protection Program. 27p.
- 176. Heinz G, Hautzinger P (2007) Meat Processing Technology for Small- to Medium-Scale Producers, RAP Publication 2007/20. Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations, Regional Office for Asia and the Pacific, Bangkok, 2007. Bangkok: FAO Regional Office for Asia and the Pacific (RAP). RAP Publication 2007/20: 456p.
- 177.Herz R (2013) Achatinidae. Available: <u>http://www.achatinidae.com</u>, Accessed: 04 Apr 2012.
- 178. Hickman, M (2013) Horsemeat scandal: Findus leak reveals horse in 'beef' for six months. *The Independent* (London). Available: <u>http://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/home-news/horsemeat-scandal-findus-leak-reveals-horse-in-beef-for-six-months-8486602.html</u>, Accessed: 09 Feb 2013.
- 179.Hilse G (2014) Europe's meat waste on African menu. Duetsche Welle (DW) Available: <u>http://www.dw.de/europes-meat-waste-on-african-menu/a-17374899</u>, Accessed: 20 Jan 2014.
- 180.Hoffman LC, Cawthorn DM (2012) What is the role and contribution of meat from wildlife in providing high quality protein for consumption? Animal Frontiers, 2(4): 40-53.
- 181.Hoffmann M (2008a) *Aonyx capensis*. In: IUCN 2013. IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2013.1. <<u>www.iucnredlist.org</u>>. Downloaded on 22 Mar 2013.
- 182.Hoffmann M (2008b) *Phataginus tricuspis*. In: IUCN 2013. IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2013.1. <<u>www.iucnredlist.org</u>>. Downloaded on 18 Jan 2013.
- 183.Hoffmann M (2008c) *Smutsia gigantean/Smutsia temminckii*. In: IUCN 2013. IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2013.1. <<u>www.iucnredlist.org</u>>. Downloaded on 18 Jan 2013.

- 184.Hoffmann M (2008d) *Thryonomys swinderianus*. In: IUCN 2013. IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2013.1. <<u>www.iucnredlist.org</u>>. Downloaded on 12 Feb 2013.
- 185.Hoffmann M (2008e) *Uromanis tetradactyla*. In: IUCN 2013. IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2013.1. <<u>www.iucnredlist.org</u>>. Downloaded on 18 Jan 2013.
- 186.Hoffmann M, Cox N (2008) *Atherurus africanus*. In: IUCN 2013. IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2013.1. <<u>www.iucnredlist.org</u>>. Downloaded on 12 Feb 2013.
- 187.Honan E (2009) Bushmeat, an African delicacy, facing NY crackdown. Reuters. Available: <u>http://www.reuters.com/article/2009/02/22/us-usa-bushmeat-idUSTRE51L1A720090222</u>, Accessed: 22 Feb 2009.
- 188. Hsieh HM, Chiang HL, Tsai LC, Lai SY, Huang NE, Linacre A, Lee JCI (2001) Cytochrome *b* gene for species identification of the conservation animals. Forensic science international 122(1): 7-18.
- 189. Huffman JE, Wallace JR (2011) Wildlife Forensics: Methods and Applications, Vol 6, Wiley. 396 p.
- 190.Hufnagel L, Brockmann D, Geisel T (2004) Forecast and control of epidemics in a globalized world. Proceedings of The National Academy of Sciences, October 19, 2004. 101(42): 15124–15129.
- 191.Humbel R (2013) Massnahmen gegen den illegalen Buschfleischhandel. 13.3887 Interpellation. 26.09.2013. Available:

http://www.parlament.ch/d/suche/seiten/geschaefte.aspx?gesch_id=20133887%20, Accessed: 26 Aug 2013.

192.IFAW (International fund for animal welfare) (2005) Caught in the web: wildlife trade on the internet. Available:

http://www.ifaw.org/sites/default/files/Report%202005%20Caught%20in%20the%20web%20UK.pdf, Accessed: 22 Apr 2012.

- 193.Interpol (2010) 2010: Environmental Crime Programme, Strategic plan 2011-2013. Available: <u>http://www.interpol.int/Crime-areas/Environmental-crime/Resources</u>, Accessed: 27 Jun 2011.
- 194.Interpol (2013) Environmental Crime. Interpol. Available: <u>http://www.interpol.int/Crime-areas/Environmental-crime/Environmental-crime</u>. Accessed 27 Jun 2011.
- 195.IRIN (pc/kr/rz) (2012). DRC: Bushmeat blamed for Ebola outbreak. IRIN Humanitarian News and Analysis, UN Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs, Available: <u>http://www.irinnews.org/report/96160/drc-bushmeat-blamed-for-ebola-outbreak</u>, Accessed: 23 Aug 2012.
- 196.Isaac NJB, Cowlishaw G (2004) How species respond to multiple extinction threats. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London, Series B: Biological Sciences, 271(1544): 1135-1141.
- 197.IUCN (2013a) IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2013.2. International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources, Cambridge U.K.: IUCN Global Species Programme Red List Unit. Available: <u>www.iucnredlist.org</u>, Accessed 02 Apr 2013.
- 198.IUCN (2013b) IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. *Himantura* spp. Version 2013.2. <<u>www.iucnredlist.org</u>>. Downloaded on 02 Apr 2013.
- 199.IUCN SSC Antelope Specialist Group (2008a) *Cephalophus* spp. In: IUCN 2013. IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2013.1. <<u>www.iucnredlist.org</u>>. Downloaded on 28 Apr 2013.
- 200.IUCN SSC Antelope Specialist Group (2008b) *Philantomba* spp. In: IUCN 2013. IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2013.1. <<u>www.iucnredlist.org</u>>. Downloaded on 28 Apr 2013.
- 201.IUCN SSC Antelope Specialist Group (2008c) *Sylvicapra grimmia*. In: IUCN 2013. IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2013.1. <<u>www.iucnredlist.org</u>>. Downloaded on 28 Apr 2013.
- 202.IUCN SSC Antelope Specialist Group (2008d) *Tragelaphus spekii*. In: IUCN 2013. IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2013.1. <<u>www.iucnredlist.org</u>>. Downloaded on 28 Apr 2013.
- 203.IUCN Otter Specialist Group (2013a) IUCN Otter Specialist Group. Available: http://www.otterspecialistgroup.org, Accessed: 17 Nov 2013.
- 204.IUCN Otter Specialist Group (2013b) Otter Specialist Group Annual Report 2013. IUCN Otter Specialist Group. Available: <u>http://www.otterspecialistgroup.org/Library/OSG Annual Report 2013.pdf</u>, Accessed: 22 Mar 2013.
- 205.IUCN-SSC Pangolin SG (2013) IUCN-SSC Pangolin Specialist Group. Available: <u>http://www.pangolinsg.org</u>, Accessed: 20 Oct 2013.

- 206.IUCN SSC Wild Pig Specialist Group (2013) Available: <u>https://sites.google.com/site/wildpigspecialistgroup</u>, Accessed 10 June 2013.
- 207.Jacques H, Veron G, Alary F, Aulagnier S, (2009) The Congo clawless otter (*Aonyx congicus*) (Mustelidae: Lutrinae): a review of its systematics, distribution and conservation status. African Zoology 44(2): 159-170.
- 208.Jahrling PB, Geisbert TW, Johnson ED, Peters CJ, Dalgard DW, Hall WC (1990). Preliminary report: isolation of Ebola virus from monkeys imported to USA. The Lancet, 335(8688): 502-505.
- 209.Jones KE, Patel NG, Levy MA, Storeygard A, Balk D, Gittleman JL, Daszak P (2008) Global trends in emerging infectious diseases. Nature, 451(7181): 990-993.
- 210.Jori F, Lopez-Béjar M, Houben P (1998) The biology and use of the African brush-tailed porcupine (Atherurus africanus, Gray, 1842) as a food animal. A review. Biodiversity & Conservation, 7(11): 1417-1426.
- 211.Jori F, Chardonnet P (2001) Cane rat farming in Gabon. Status and perspectives. Presentation 5th International Wlidlife Ranching Symposium, Pretoria, South Africa, March 2001, pp. 33-80.
- 212.Kaczynski VM, Fluharty DL (2002) European policies in West Africa: who benefits from fisheries agreements? Marine Policy, 26(2): 75-93.
- 213.Kaluza P, Kölzsch A, Gastner MT, Blasius B (2010). The complex network of global cargo ship movements. *Journal of the Royal Society Interface*, 7(48): 1093-1103.
- 214.Karesh WB, Cook RB, Bennett EL, Newcomb J (2005) Wildlife Trade and Global Disease Emergence. Emerging Infectious Disease 11(2005)7: 1000-1002.
- 215.Karesh WB (2012) Wildlife and Foot and Mouth Disease. A look from the Wild Side. William B. Karesh, DVM. Exec. Vice President - EcoHealth Alliance, USA. President – FAO/OIE Global Conference on Foot and Mouth Disease Control, Bangkok, Thailand 27-29 June 2012. Available: <u>http://www.oie.int/doc/ged/D12147.PDF</u>, Accessed: 17 Nov 2012.
- 216.Kappeler PM, Pereira ME (eds.) (2003) *Primate life histories and socioecology*. Chicago:University of Chicago Press. 416p.
- 217.Keesing F, Belden LK, Daszak P, Dobson A, Harvell CD, Holt RD, Hudson P, Jolles A, Jones KE, Mitchell CE, Myers SS, Bogich T, Ostfeld RS (2010) Impacts of biodiversity on the emergence and transmission of infectious diseases. Nature, 468(7324): 647-652.
- 218.Kimball AM (2006) Risky Trade: Infectious Disease in the Era of Global Trade. Burlington VT U.S.A.: Ashgate Publishing Company, 212p.
- 219.Kindler C, Branch WR, Hofmeyr MD, Maran J, Vences M, Harvey J, Hauswaldt S, Schleicher A, Stuckas H, Fritz U (2012) Molecular phylogeny of African hinge-back tortoises (Kinixys): implications for phylogeography and taxonomy (Testudines: Testudinidae). Journal of Zoological Systematics and Evolutionary Research, 50(3): 192-201.
- 220.King S (1994) Utilisation of wildlife in Bakossiland, West Cameroon with particular reference to primates. Traffic Bulletin, 14(2): 63-73.
- 221.Kohn AE, Eves HE (2006) The African Bushmeat Crisis: A Case for Global Partnership. Berkeley Electronic Press Legal Series. Paper 1758, 24p.
- 222.Koski P (2007) Handle with care: The lethal, yet ignored, threat of illegal international animal trafficking. In: International Trafficking; The Illegal Movement of Drugs, Weapons, Resources, and People; *The Stanford Journal of International Relations.* Vol. VIII(1): 49-50.
- 223.Läubli C (2010) Estimation of illegal imports and their contribution to the introduction of avian influenza virus into Switzerland. Inaugural-Dissertation zur Erlangung der Doktorwürde der Vetsuisse-Fakultät Universität Bern, 68p.
- 224.Le Guenno B, Formenty P, Wyers M, Gounon P, Walker F, Boesch C (1995) Isolation and partial characterisation of a new strain of Ebola virus. Lancet, 345: 1271–1274.
- 225.Lederberg J, Shope RE, Oakes SC Jr. (1992) Emerging infections: microbial threats to health in the United States. Washington, DC: Institute of Medicine, National Academy Press, 312p.
- 226.Leiss A (2007) Achatschnecken; Die Familie Achatinidae. Art fur Art; Natur und Tier Verlag GmbH, 64p.
- 227.Leroy EM, Telfer P, Kumulungui B, Yaba P, Rouquet P, Roques P, Gonzalez J-P, Ksiazek TG, Rollin PE, Nerrienet E (2004a) A serological survey of Ebola virus infection in central African nonhuman primates. Journal of Infectious Diseases, 190(11): 1895-1899.

- 228.Leroy EM, Rouquet P, Formenty P, Souquiere S, Kilbourne A, Froment JM, Bermejo M, Smit S, Karesh W, Swanepoel R, Zaki SR, Rollin PE (2004b) Multiple Ebola virus transmission events and rapid decline of Central African wildlife. Science, 303(5656): 387-390.
- 229.Leroy EM, Kumulungui B, Pourrut X, Rouquet P, Hassanin A, Yaba P, Délicat A, Paweska JT, Gonzalez J, Swanepoel R (2005). Fruit bats as reservoirs of Ebola virus. *Nature* 438(7068): 575-576.
- 230.Leroy EM, Epelboin A, Mondonge V, Pourrut X, Gonzalez JP, Muyembe-Tamfum JJ, Formenty P (2009). Human Ebola outbreak resulting from direct exposure to fruit bats in Luebo, Democratic Republic of Congo, 2007. Vector-borne and zoonotic diseases, 9(6): 723-728.
- 231.Li W, Shi Z, Yu M, Ren W, Smith C, Epstein JH, Wang H, Crameri G, Hu Z, Zhang H, Zhang J, McEachern J, Field H, Daszak P, Eaton BT, Zhang S, Wang L-F (2005) Bats are natural reservoirs of SARS-like coronaviruses. Science, 310(5748): 676-679.
- 232.Linacre A (editor) (2009) Forensic science in wildlife investigations (Vol. 18). CRC Press. 178 p.
- 233.Linacre A, Tobe SS (2011) An overview to the investigative approach to species testing in wildlife forensic science. Investigative Genetics 2(2): 1-9. Available: <u>http://www.investigativegenetics.com/content/2/1/2</u>, Accessed: 22 Oct 2013.
- 234.Linacre A, Gusmao L, Hecht W, Hellmann AP, Mayr WR, Parson W, Prinz M, Schneider PM, Morling N (2010) ISFG: Recommendations regarding the use of non-human (animal) DNA in forensic genetic investigations. Forensic Science International: Genetics (FSIGEN), 670: 1-5.
- 235.Linder JM, Oates JF (2011) Differential impact of bushmeat hunting on monkey species and implications for primate conservation in Korup National Park, Cameroon. Biological Conservation, 144(2): 738-745.
- 236.Lo C (1999) Fake pork luncheon meat alert. South China Morning Post. Available: <u>http://www.scmp.com/article/298855/fake-pork-luncheon-meat-alert</u>, Accessed: 06 Nov 1999.
- 237.Lo C (2014). Pangolin scales worth HK\$17m found hidden in shipments from Africa. South China Morning Post, Hong Kong, Available: <u>http://www.scmp.com/news/hong-kong/article/1534140/pangolin-scales-worth-hk17m-found-hidden-shipments-africa</u>, Accessed: 17 Jun 2014.
- 238.Luiselli L, Petrozzi, F, Akani GC (2013) Long-term comparison reveals trends in turtle trade in bushmeat markets of southern Nigeria. HERPETOZOA, 26(1-2): 57-64.
- 239.Lynn G (2012) Cane rat meat 'sold to public' in Ridley Road Market. BBC News, London, Available: http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-london-19622903, Accessed: 17 Sep 2012.
- 240.Macairan E (2007) Trader charged for fake canned meat. The Philipine Star. Available: <u>http://www.philstar.com/metro/395337/trader-charged-fake-canned-meat</u>, Accessed: 20 Apr 2007.
- 241. Mainka S, Trivedi M (eds.) (2002) Links Between Biodiversity Conservation, Livelihoods and Food Security: The Sustainable Use of Wild Species for Meat:[a Workshop from 17-20 September 2001 at the Hotel Mont Fébé in Yaoundé, Cameroon. IUCN:Occasional Paper of the IUCN Species Survival Commission (No. 24): 129p.
- 242.Maisels F, Keming E, Kemei M, Toh C (2001) The extirpation of large mammals and implications for montane forest conservation: the case of the Kilum-Ijim Forest, Northwest Province, Cameroon. Oryx 35: 322–331.
- 243. Mangili A, Gendreau MA (2005). Transmission of infectious diseases during commercial air travel. The Lancet, 365(9463): 989-996.
- 244. Marano N, Arguin PM, Pappaioanou M (2007) Impact of Globilization and Animal Trade on Infectious Disease Ecology. Emerging Infectious Diseases 13(12): 1807-1809.
- 245.Marcot, B (2004) Two turtles from Western Democratic Republic of Congo: *Pelusios chapini* and *Kinixys erosa*. *World Chelonian Trust Newsletter*, 2(4): 1-8.
- 246.Marris E (2006) Bushmeat surveyed in Western Cities. Nature News. Available: http://www.nature.com/news/2006/060629/full/news060626-10.html , Accessed 29 Jun 2006.
- 247.Marsh Inc. (2008) The Economic & Social Impact of Emerging Infectious Disease: Mitigations though detection, research & response. Available: <u>http://www.healthcare.philips.com/main/shared/assets/documents/bioshield/ecoandsocialimpactofeme</u> <u>rginginfectiousdisease_111208.pdf</u>, Accessed: 09 Jun 2013.
- 248. Mbotiji J (2002) Sustainable use of wildlife resources: The bushmeat crisis. In Wildlife Management Workshop paper (No. 5). Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), 19p. Available: <u>ftp://ftp.fao.org/docrep/fao/010/ai569e/ai569e00.pdf</u>, Accessed: 12 Nov 2013.

- 249. McEwing R, Ogden R (2006) Imported bushmeat species identification using DNA typing; Defra project WC05011. Wildlife DNA Services Ltd, University of Wales, Bangor, 2p. Available: <u>http://randd.defra.gov.uk/Default.aspx?Menu=Menu&Module=More&Location=None&ProjectID=14294</u> <u>&FromSearch=Y&Publisher=1&SearchText=bushmeat&SortString=ProjectCode&SortOrder=Asc&Paging=1</u> <u>0#Description</u>, Accessed: 10 Dec 2013.
- 250. Milieu (2006) Study on the Enforcement of the EU Wildlife Trade Regulations in the EU-25. European Commission: Environment.
- 251. Milius S (2005) Bushmeat on the Menu-Untangling the influences of hunger, wealth, and international commerce. Science News, 167(9): 138-140. Available: <u>https://www.sciencenews.org/article/bushmeat-menu</u>, Accessed 22 Feb 2005.
- 252.Milner-Gulland EJ, Bennett EL, [S.A.M.W.M. Group Abernethy K, Bakarr M, Bodmer R, Brashares JS, Cowlishaw G, Elkan P, Eves H, Fa J, Peres C, Roberts C, Robinson J, Rowcliffe M, Wilkie D] (2003) Wild meat: the bigger picture. TRENDS in Ecology and Evolution 18: 351–357.
- 253. Mockrin MH, (2009) Duiker demography and dispersal under hunting in Northern Congo. African Journal of Ecology, 28(1): 239-247.
- 254. Moore PD (2001) Ecology: The rising cost of bushmeat. Nature 409(6822): 775-777.
- 255. Morf NV, Wood KL, Köppel R, Felderer N, Daniels M, Tenger B, Kratzer A (2013) A multiplex PCR method to identify bushmeat species in wildlife forensics. Forensic Science International: Genetics Supplement Series, 4(1): e202-e203.
- 256.Mulango V (2013) French Customs Seize Pangolin Scales from Cameroon heading for Vietnam. Cameroon-Info.Net. Available: <u>http://www.cameroon-info.net/stories/0,45484,@,french-customs-seize-pangolin-</u> <u>scales-from-cameroon-heading-for-vietnam.html</u>, Accessed: 01 May 2013.
- 257. Myers N, Mittermeier RA, Mittermeier CG, Da Fonseca GA, Kent J (2000). Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. Nature 403(6772): 853-858.
- 258. Nasi R, Brown D, Wilkie D, Bennett E, Tutin C, Van Tol G, Christophersen T (2008) Conservation and use of wildlife-based resources: the bushmeat crisis. Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity, Montreal, Canada and Center for International Forestry Research (CIFOR), Bogor, Indonesia. Technical Series (no. 33), 50p.
- 259.Nasi R, Taber A, Van Vliet N, (2011) Empty forests, empty stomachs? Bushmeat and livelihoods in the Congo and Amazon Basins. International Forestry Review. 13(3): 355-368.
- 260. National Audit Office (NAO) (2005) HM Customs and Excise; Stopping illegal imports of animal products into Great Britain. Report by the Comptroller and Auditor General, HC 365 Session 2004-2005, 23 March 2005, London, 40p. Available: <u>http://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2005/03/0405365.pdf</u>, Accessed: 23 March 2005.
- 261.Ngenwi AA, Mafeni JM, Etchu KA, Oben FT (2010) Characteristics of snail farmers and constraints to increased production in West and Central Africa. African Journal of Environmental Science and Technology, 4(5): 274-278.
- 262.Nkonyu L, Okeke F, Dunn A (2014). A Survey of the Bushmeat Trade in Twelve Communities Surrounding Three Protected Areas in Cross River State, South-East Nigeria, July-September 2013. An unpublished report to the Arcus Foundation and Wildlife Conservation Society, 21 pgs.Ntiamoa-Baidu Y (1997) Wildlife and food security in Africa (Vol. 33). Food & Agriculture Organization (FAO), 118 p.
- 263.Nayar A (2009) News Feature: Looking for Trouble. Nature 462: 717-719. Accessed 10 Dec 2009.
- 264.Oates JF (1999) Myth and reality in the rain forest: how conservation strategies are failing in West Africa. Berkeley California USA: University of California Press. 338 p.
- 265.Oates JF, Abedi-Lartey M, McGraw WS, Struhsaker TT, Whitesides GH (2000) Extinction of a West African red colobus monkey. Conserv Biol 14: 1526–1532.
- 266.Oates JF, Bergl RA, Linder JM (2004). Africa's Gulf of Guinea Forests: Biodiversity Patterns and Conservation Priorities Advances in Applied Biodiversity Science No. 6, 95p.
- 267.Oates JF, Gippoliti S, Bearder S (2008) *Cercopithecus* spp. In: IUCN 2013. IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2013.1. <<u>www.iucnredlist.org</u>>. Downloaded on 19 Jan 2013.
- 268.Ogden R (2009) The use of wildlife DNA forensic methods to investigate the illegal meat trade. Meeting report: 24th April Bushmeat trade from Africa to Europe. U.K. Bushmeat Working Group Meeting, 21p. Available: <u>http://static.zsl.org/files/ogden-zsl-bwg-783.pdf</u>, Accessed: 24 Apr 2009.

- 269.Ogden R, Dawnay N, McEwing R (2009) Wildlife DNA forensics bridging the gap between conservation genetics and law enforcement. Endangered Species Research 9: 179-195.
- 270.Ogden R (2010) Forensic science, genetics and wildlife biology: getting the right mix for a wildlife DNA forensics lab. Forensic Sci Med Pathol 6: 172-179.
- 271.Oger G (2011) Illegal bushmeat served up in Parisian restaurant. DW.de Environment. Available: <u>http://www.dw.de/illegal-bushmeat-served-up-in-parisian-restaurant/a-14870602</u>, Accessed: 23 Feb 2011.
- 272.Olayemi A, Oyeyiola A, Antunes A, Bonillo C, Cruaud C, Gaubert P (2011) Contribution of DNA-typing to bushmeat surveys: assessment of a roadside market in south-western Nigeria. Wildlife Research 38: 696– 716.
- 273.Olusegun T (2013) NIGERIA: Fish could play greater role in food security. Inter Press Service News Agency. Available: <u>http://www.ipsnews.net/2009/10/nigeria-fish-could-play-greater-role-in-food-security</u>, Accessed: 12 Dec 2013.
- 274.Otte MJ, Nugent R, McLeod A (2004) Transboundary animal diseases: Assessment of socio-economic impacts and institutional responses. Rome, Italy: Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO). 46p.
- 275.Owen OJ, Dike UA (2012) Grasscutter (Thyonomys swinderianus) husbandry in Nigeria: A review of the potentialities, opportunities and challenges. Journal of Environmental Issues and Agriculture in Developing Countries, April 2012, Vol. 4(No. 1): 104-111.
- 276.Palm CA, Vosti SA, Sanchez PA, Ericksen PJ (2005) Slash-and-burn agriculture: the search for alternatives. New York, NY: Columbia University Press. 480p.
- 277.Pavel W (2012). Arten-/ Seuchenschutz: «Bushmeat» nichts für schwache Nerven. Forum Z. 1/12, p.20-21. Available: http://www.ezv.admin.ch/dokumentation/04033/04037/04038/index.html?lang=de, Accessed Jan 30 2012.
- 278.Pavel W (2013) Endstation Zoll: Konsequenzen von Zoll- und anderen Verstössen im Reiseverkehr. Forum Z. 3/12, p.10. Available: <u>http://www.ezv.admin.ch/dokumentation/04033/04037/04038/index.html?lang=de</u>, Accessed: 10 Jun 2013.
- 279.Pavia AT (2007). Germs on a plane: aircraft, international travel, and the global spread of disease. Journal of Infectious Diseases, 195(5): 621-622.
- 280.Pavlin BI, Schloegel LM, Daszak P (2009) Risk of Importing Zoonotic Diseases through Wildlife Trade, United States. Emerging Infectious Diseases 15(11): 1721-1726. Available: <u>http://wwwnc.cdc.gov/eid/article/15/11/pdfs/09-0467.pdf</u>, Accessed 04 Jan 2012.
- 281.Peeters M, Courgnaud V, Abela B, Auzel P, Pourrut X, Bibollet-Ruche F, Loul S, Liegeois F, Butel C, Koulagna D, Mpoudi-Ngole E, Shaw GM, Hahn BH, Delaporte E (2002) Risk to Human Health from a Plethora of Simian Immunodeficiency Viruses in Primate Bushmeat. Emerging Infectious Diseases 8(5): 451-457.
- 282.Peres CA (2000) Effects of subsistence hunting on vertebrate community structure in Amazonian forests. Conserv Biol 14:240–253.
- 283.Peterson D, Ammann K. (2004) Eating apes (California Studies in Food and Culture Vol. 6). Berkeley, California USA: University of California Press. 329 p.
- 284.POST (Parlimentary Office of Science and Technology) (2005) The Bushmeat Trade. London, UK: Postnote; a publication of the Parliamentary Office of Science and Technology. February 2005, Number 236, 4p.
- 285.Purvis A (2001) Mammalian life histories and responses of populations to exploitation. In: Reynolds JD, Mace GM, Redford KH, Robinson J (eds.) Conservation of exploited species. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp.169-181.
- 286.Querouil S, Leus K (2008) *Potamochoerus porcus*. In: IUCN 2013. IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2013.1. <<u>www.iucnredlist.org</u>>. Downloaded on 18 Feb 2013.
- 287.Quierzy P (2011) Wild meat, livelihoods, and sustainability. Addressing this issue within the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). Msc University of Paris 2011 Available: http://www.univ-paris1.fr/fileadmin/Centre_doc_ufr11/Pauline_Quierzy2011.pdf, Accessed: 01 Aug 2012.
- 288.Redmond, I., Aldred, T., Jedamzik, K., & Westwood, M. (2006) Recipes for Survival: Controlling the bushmeat trade. London, U.K.: World Society for the Protection of Animals, 122p.

- 289.Reid J, Morra W, Bohome CP, Sobrado, DF (2005). The economics of the primate trade in Bioko, Equatorial Guinea. Santa Cruz, CA : Conservation Strategy Fund, 40p. Available: <u>http://www.conservationstrategy.org/en/publication/economics-primate-trade-bioko-equatorial-guinea#.UueiTSw1gnM</u>, or <u>http://www.conservation-strategy.org/sites/default/files/field-file/0_17_BiokoAugust24.pdf</u>, Accessed: 02 Apr 2012.
- 290.Renctas (2001) National network to fight the trafficking of wild animals. 2001. First national report on wild fauna traffic. Brazil: Renctas. Available: <u>http://www.renctas.org.br/pt/home</u>, Accessed 10 Apr 2012.
- 291.Richardson J (2012). Deadly African Ebola Virus Linked to Bushmeat. Food Safety News, Available: <u>http://www.foodsafetynews.com/2012/09/deadly-african-ebola-virus-linked-to-</u> <u>bushmeat/#.U6mTxSyKDZ4</u>, Accessed: 17 Sep 2012.
- 292.Rizkalla C, Blanco-Silva F, Gruver S. (2007) Modeling the impact of Ebola and bushmeat hunting on Western Lowland Gorillas. EcoHealth, 4(2): 151-155.
- 293. Robinson JG, Bennett EL (2000) Hunting for Sustainability in Tropical Forests. Biology and Resource Management Series, Colombia University Press, New York, 1000p.
- 294. Roe D (2008) Trading Nature; A report, with case studies, on the contribution of wildlife trade management to sustainable livelihoods and the Millennium Development Goals. TRAFFIC International and WWF International, 100p.
- 295.Rolland R, Hamilton P, Kraus S, Davenport B, Gillett R, Wasser S (2006) Faecal sampling using detection dogs to study reproduction and health in North Atlantic right whales (Eubalaena glacialis). Journal of Cetacean Research and Management 8(2): 121-125.
- 296. Rose AL (1996) The African Great Ape Bushmeat Crisis. Pan Africa News 3(2): 1-6.
- 297.Rose A (1999) Conservation Organizations, Zoological parks, Animal Welfare Advocates, and Medical Researchers Call for Immediate Action to Address the Commercial Bushmeat Crisis in Tropical African Countries. Hermosa California USA: Biosynergy Institute. [Rose article about bushmeat consortium 1999] Available: <u>http://bushmeat.net/aza_consensus_2-99.htm</u>, Accessed: 14 Jun 2013.
- 298.Rose AL, Mittermeier RA, Langrand O, Ampadu-Agyei O, Butynski TM, (2003). Consuming nature: a photo essay on African rain forest exploitation. Photography K. Ammann. Palos Verdes Peninsula, California USA: Altisima Press, 200p.
- 299. Ross, C. (1998) Primate life histories. Evolutionary Anthropology: Issues, News, and Reviews, 6(2): 54-63.
- 300.Rouquet P, Froment JM, Bermejo M, Kilbourn A, Karesh W, Reed P, Kumulungui B, Yaba P, Délicat A, Rollin PE, Leroy EM (2005). Wild animal mortality monitoring and human Ebola outbreaks, Gabon and Republic of Congo, 2001–2003. Emerg Infect Dis, 11(2), 283-290.
- 301.Rowcliffe JM, Milner-Gulland EJ, Cowlishaw G (2005) Do bushmeat consumers have other fish to fry? Trends in ecology & evolution, 20(6): 274-276.
- 302.Rushton J, Viscarra R, Viscarra C, Basset F, Baptista R, Brown D (2005) How Important is Bushmeat Consumption in South America: Now and in the Future? Odi Wildlife Policy Briefing. Nov 11: February 2005, 4p.
- 303.Sartore Joel (2013). Joel Sartore: Bushmeat Photos. Available: <u>http://www.joelsartore.com/stock/search/?search=bushmeat</u>, Accessed: 03 Jan 2013.
- 304.Shactman B (2012a) Dangerous Trade: Exotic Animals. CNBC, Available: <u>http://www.cnbc.com/id/47102606</u>, Accessed: 16 May 2012.
- 305.Shactman B (2012b) On the Front Lines: U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. CNBC. Available: <u>http://video.cnbc.com/gallery/?play=1&video=3000090466</u>, Accessed: 16 May 2012.
- 306.Schmadeke S (2010) Monkey heads, rats trigger probe of West Side store; Federal agents investigating possible ties to bush-meat smuggling, Chicago Tribune, Available:
 <u>http://articles.chicagotribune.com/2010-07-25/news/ct-met-0725-exotic-animal-imports-</u>20100725 1 west-side-store-meat-monkey, Accessed: 25 Jul 2010.
- 307.Schweizer L (2009) Affenfleisch in den Reisekoffern. Zürcher Unterländer, Available: <u>http://www.netzwelt.info/308025-affenfleisch-in-den-reisekoffern.html</u>, Accessed: 09 May 2009.
- 308.Schweizerische Eidgenossenschaft (2002) Abkommen zwischen der Schweizerischen Eidgenossenschaft und der Europäischen Gemeinschaft über den Handel mit landwirtschaftlichen Erzeugnissen
 (0.916.026.81) [Agreement between the Swiss Confederation and the European Community on the trade in agricultural products]. Die Bundesbehörden der Schweizerischen Eidgenossenschaft; Switzerland.

Available: <u>http://www.admin.ch/opc/de/classified-compilation/19994645/index.html</u>, Accessed: 23 Jul 2013.

- 309.Scudamore JM, Harris DM (2002) Control of foot and mouth disease: lessons from the experience of the outbreak in Great Britain in 2001. Revue scientifique et technique-Office international des épizooties, 21(3): 699-707.
- 310.SDA (Schweizerische Depeschenagentur AG/Swiss National News Agency) (2011) Flughafen: «Bushmeat» unter stinkenden Erdnüssen versteckt. <u>Tages Anzeiger, Zürcher Zeitung</u>. Available: <u>http://www.tagesanzeiger.ch/zuerich/region/Fleisch-unter-stinkenden-Erdnssen-</u> versteckt/story/22546691, Accessed: 13 Dec 2011.
- 311.SDA (Schweizerische Depeschenagentur AG/Swiss National News Agency) (2012a) Afrikaner Lernen von Zürcher Zöllner, wie sie Tierschmuggler entlarven. Tages Anzeiger. Available: <u>http://www.tagesanzeiger.ch/zuerich/region/Afrikanische-Zoellner-druecken-in-Zuerich-die-Schulbank/story/18415140/print.html</u>, Accessed: 20 Jun 2012.
- 312.SDA (Swiss National News Agency) (2012b) Afrikanische Zöllner, warden geschult. 20 Minuten. Available: http://www.20min.ch/schweiz/zuerich/story/27134259, Accessed: 21 Jun 2012.
- 313.SDA (Swiss National News Agency) (2014) SDA Basels erster Fall von <<Bushmeat>>-Schmuggel. Baseler Zeitung. Available: <u>http://bazonline.ch/basel/stadt/Basels-erster-Fall-von-BushmeatSchmuggel-/story/18392438</u>, Accessed: 23 Apr 2014.
- 314.Sellar JM (2007) International Illicit Trafficking in Wildlife. The Police Chief. 74 no. 6 (June 6, 2007). Available:

http://www.policechiefmagazine.org/magazine/index.cfm?fuseaction=print_display&article_id=1203&iss ue_id=62007, Accessed: 21 Oct 2010.

- 315.Smith, KG, Diop MD, Niane M, Darwall WRT (Compilers) (2009) The Status and Distribution of Freshwater Biodiversity in Western Africa. Gland, Switzerland and Cambridge, U.K.: IUCN, 94p.
- 316.Smith KM, Anthony SJ, Switzer WM, Epstein JH, Seimon T, Jia H, Sanchez MD, Huynh TT, Gale Galland G, Shapiro SE, Sleeman JM, McAloose D, Stuchin M, Amato G, Kolokotronis SO, Ian Lipkin W, Karesh WB, Daszak P, Marano N (2011) Zoonotic Viruses Associated with Illegally Imported Wildlife Products. PLoS ONE 7(1): 1-9.
- 317.Sodeinde OA, Adedipe SR (1994). Pangolins in south-west Nigeria-current status and prognosis. Oryx, 28(1): 43-50.
- 318.Sodeinde OA, Soewu DA (1996) An ethnozoological Survey of Wild animals used in traditional medicine by sub-urban communities in south-western Nigeria and implications of the trade for sustainable resource use. Paper of Natural resources and community participation, p.24-27.
- 319.Sodeinde OA, Soewu DA (1999) Pilot study of the traditional medicine trade in Nigeria. TRAFFIC BULLETIN-CAMBRIDGE-TRAFFIC INTERNATIONAL, 18: 35-40.
- 320.Soewu DA (2008) Wild animals in ethnozoological practices among the Yorubas of southwestern Nigeria and the implications for biodiversity conservation. Afr J Agric Res, 3(6): 421-427.
- 321.Soewu DA, Adekanola TA (2011) Traditional-Medical Knowledge and perception of Pangolins (*Manis sps.*) among the Awori People, Southwestern Nigeria. J Ethnobiol Etnhomed, 7: 1-11.
- 322.South N, Wyatt T (2011) Comparing illicit trades in wildlife and drugs: an exploratory study. Deviant Behavior 32(6): 538–61.
- 323.Southern K (2004) Shopkeeper jailed for selling rotten rat meat. Haringey Independent. Available: <u>http://www.bushmeat.org/node/2415</u>, Accessed: 08 Jan 2004.
- 324.Stadt Opfikon. (2008) Rückblickendes Neujahrsblatt 2009: Chronik der Stadt Opfikon über das Jahr 2008; Juni, Politik. Opfikon : Oskar Ledergerber und der Arbeitsgruppe Neujahrsblätter im Auftrag des Stadtrates Opfikon, p.2. Available: <u>http://www.opfikon.ch/dl.php/de/0cpmx-ij9867/BUKAD-Chronik2008.pdf</u>, Accessed: 22 Mar 2012.
- 325.Stiles D, Redmond I, Cress D, Nellemann C, Formo RK (2013). Stolen Apes—The Illicit Trade in Chimpanzees, Gorillas, Bonobos, and Orangutans. A Rapid Response Assessment, United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), GRID-Arendal. www.grida.no, AS Norway : Birkeland Trykkeri, 56p.
- 326.Stiles ML, Lahr H, Lahey W, Shaftel E, Bethel D, Falls J, Hirshfield MF (2011) Bait and Switch: How Seafood Fraud Hurts our Oceans, our Wallets and our Health. Oceana, 40p.

- 327.Swingland IIR, Klemens MW, IUCN/SSC Tortoise and Freshwater Turtle Specialist Group (1989) *The conservation biology of tortoises.* Occasional Papers of the IUCN Species Survival Commission (SSC) (Vol. 5), IUCN, 210p.
- 328.Swiss Customs Administration/Eidgenössische Zollverwaltung (EZV) (2013). Auskunft in Kürze. Available: http://www.ezv.admin.ch, Accessed: 02 Jan 2013.
- 329.Szenogrady A (2008) Kokain und Affenfleisch. Zürcher Landzeitung. Available: <u>http://www.klaeranlage.ch/documents/admis/2006968584/ZuercherUnterlaenderEinzelneFragenoch080</u> <u>9 200991795820.pdf</u>, Accessed: 20 Jun 2008.
- 330.Tan J (2004) 'Bushmeat' shopkeepers jailed. Associated Newspapers Ltd; Part of the Daily Mail, The Mail on Sunday & Metro Media Group. Available: <u>http://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-53681/Bushmeat-shopkeepers-jailed.html#</u>, <u>http://www.bushmeat.org/node/1269</u>, Accessed: 07 Dec 2013.
- 331.Taylor LH, Latham SM, Woolhouse ME (2001) Risk factors for human disease emergence. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 356: 983-9.
- 332.Tele Top News (2012) Afrikanische Zöllner, im Workshop am Flughafen Zürich. YouTube.ch. Available: <u>http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=WUk1UqfFKDY</u>, Accessed: 22 Jun 2012.
- 333. Thiengo SC, Faraco FA, Salgado NC, Cowie RH, Fernandez MA (2007) Rapid spread of an invasive snail in South America: the giant African snail, Achatina fulica, in Brasil. Biological Invasions, 9(6): 693-702.
- 334.Thompson D, Muriel P, Russell D, Osborne P, Bromley A, Rowland M, Creigh-Tyte C, Brown C (2002) Economic costs of the foot and mouth disease outbreak in the United Kingdom in 2001. Revue scientifique et technique-Office international des epizooties, 21(3): 675-685.
- 335.Thomson GR, Vosloo W, Bastos ADS (2003) Foot and mouth disease in wildlife. Virus research, 91(1): 145-161.
- 336.Tobe SS, Kitchener AC, Linacre AMT (2010) Reconstructing Mammalian Phylogenies: A Detailed Comparison of the Cytochrome b and Cytochrome Oxidase Subunit I Mitochondrial Genes. PLoS ONE 5(11): 1-14.
- 337.Tortoise & Freshwater Turtle Specialist Group (1996) *Kinixys erosa*. In: IUCN 2013. IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2013.1. <<u>www.iucnredlist.org</u>>. Downloaded on 11 Feb 2013.
- 338.TRAFFIC (2013a) Scale and Dynamics of the Trade Today. Available: <u>http://www.traffic.org/scale-and-dynamics/</u>. Accessed Mar 12 2013.
- 339.TRAFFIC (Trade Records Analysis of Flora and Fauna in Commerce) (2013b) Latest News from TRAFFIC. TRAFFIC, the Wildlife Trade Monitoring Network. Available: <u>http://www.traffic.org</u>. Accessed: 02 Apr 2013.
- 340.TRAFFIC (2013c) TRAFFIC Bulletin Seizures and Prosecutions: Vol. 16 No. 3 (March 1997) to Vol. 25 No. 2 (October 2013). TRAFFIC, 257p. Available: <u>http://www.traffic.org/media-reports/</u>, Accessed 22_Oct_2013.
- 341.Tsai LC, Huang MT, Hsiao CT, Lin ACY, Chen SJ, Lee CI, Hsieh HM (2007) Species identification of animal specimens by cytochrome b gene. Forensic Sci J, 6(1): 63-65.
- 342.U.K. House of Commons: Environment, Food and Rural Affairs Committee (2013) Contamination of Beef Products: Eighth Report of Session 2012-13, Vol. 1, 14 February 2013. London: Great Britain: Parliament: House of Commons: Environment, Food and Rural Affairs Committee, 23p.
- 343.UK Bushmeat Working Group (2009) U.K. Bushmeat Working Group; Meeting report: 24th April Bushmeat Trade from Africa to Europe. UK Bushmeat Working Group. Available: <u>http://www.zsl.org/sites/default/files/document/2014-02/bwg-minutes-24-04-09-final-781.pdf</u>, Accessed: 06 Feb 2012.
- 344.UK Bushmeat Working Group (2011) U.K. Bushmeat Working Group; Meeting report: 20th January -Meeting on monitoring of illegal imports from Africa to Europe. UK Bushmeat Working Group. Available: <u>http://static.zsl.org/secure/files/ukbwg-minutes-20-01-11-final-1456.pdf</u>, Accessed: 06 Feb 2012.
- 345.UK Bushmeat Working Group (2013a) U.K. Bushmeat in West and Central Africa. ZSL. Available: <u>http://www.zsl.org/conservation/regions/africa/bushmeat-in-west-and-central-africa</u>, Accessed: 06 Feb 2012.
- 346.UK Bushmeat Working Group (2013b) U.K. Bushmeat Working Group; Schedule of Meetings. ZSL. Available: <u>http://www.zsl.org/conservation/bushmeat-in-west-and-central-africa/uk-bushmeat-working-group</u>, Accessed: 06 Feb 2012.

- 347. United Nations Commission on Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice (2013) Crime prevention and criminal justice responses to illicit trafficking in protected species of wild fauna and flora (E/CN.15/2013/L.20/Rev).
- 348.UNEP-WCMC (2013a) EU Wildlife Trade Regulation. Available: <u>http://old-species.unep-wcmc.org/eu/taxonomy/legislation.cfm</u>, Accessed: 01 Jan 2013.
- 349.UNEP-WCMC (2013b) Species+ (a new online resource providing comprehensive information on globally protected species). Available: <u>http://www.unep-wcmc.org/species_702.html</u>, Accessed: 2 Dec 2013.
- 350.UNEP-WCMC (2013c) Species+. Nairobi, Kenya. Compiled by UNEP-WCMC, Cambridge, UK. Available at: <u>www.speciesplus.net</u>, Accessed: 2 Dec 2013.
- 351.UNODC (2010) The Globalization of Crime: A Transnational Organized Crime Threat Assessment. Austria: United Nations Publications, 305 p.
- 352.UNODC (2013) UN Commission on crime prevention and criminal justice adopts draft resolution on wildlife crime. iisd Reporting Services: Biodiversity Policy & Practice. Available: <u>http://biodiversity-l.iisd.org/news/un-commission-on-crime-prevention-and-criminal-justice-adopts-draft-resolution-on-wildlife-crime/201144/</u>, Accessed: 26 Apr 2013.
- 353.USDA (2004) National Detector Dogs Manual. Washington, DC; United States Department of Agriculture, 262p.
- 354.USDA (2011) Giant African Snails: A Foreign Threat to U.S. Agriculture. United States Department of Agriculture, pp.1-2. Available:

http://www.aphis.usda.gov/publications/plant_health/content/printable_version/pa_phgas.pdf, Accessed: 12 Apr 2012.

- 355. USDA–APHIS (2005) New Pest Response Guidelines. Giant African Snails: Snail Pests in the Family Achatinidae. USDA–APHIS–PPQ–Emergency and Domestic Programs–Emergency Planning, Riverdale, Maryland. Available: <u>http://www.aphis.usda.gov/import_export/plants/manuals/index.shtml</u>, Accessed: 12 Apr 2012.
- 356.USFAW (United States Fish and Wildlife Service), Office of Law Enforcement Intelligence Unit (2004) US Wildlife Trade: An Overview for 1997–2003. USDA, 26p.
- 357.USFAW (U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service, Office of Law Enforcement) (2011) Annual Report FY 2011. USFAW: Office of Law Enforcement 28p. Available: <u>http://www.fws.gov/le/annual-reports.html</u>, Accessed: 20 Oct 2012.
- 358.USFAW (United States Fish & Wildlife Service) (2013a) Wildlife Detector Dogs Trained to Sniff Out Illegal Wildlife Shipments. United States Fish and Wildlife Service, Available: http://www.fws.gov/midwest/news/632.html, Accessed: 04 Apr 2013.
- 359.USFAW (United States Fish & Wildlife Service) (2013b) Wildlife Detector-Dog and Inspector Training Program Q & As, Available: <u>https://www.fws.gov/home/feature/2013/pdf/Wildlife-Detection-Dog-Q-and-A.pdf</u>, Accessed: 04 Apr 2013.
- 360.USFAW (United States Fish & Wildlife Service) (2013c) Sniffing out Illegal Wildlife Shipments. United States Fish and Wildlife Service, Available: <u>http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=awx5Z1hiwdE#t=101</u>, Accessed: 04 Apr 2013.
- 361.van Beek E (2014) Grenzkontrolle am Flughafen Genf: 28 Kilogramm illegal eingeführte Lebensmittel konfisziert. Die Bundesbehörden der Schweizerischen Eidgenossenschaf. Bundesverwaltung admin.ch. Available: <u>https://www.news.admin.ch/dokumentation/00002/00015/?lang=de&msg-id=53390</u>, Accessed: 19 Jun 2014.
- 362.Van Rompaey H, Gaubert P, Hoffmann M (2008) *Nandinia binotata*. In: IUCN 2013. IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2013.1. <<u>www.iucnredlist.org</u>>. Downloaded on 12 Mar 2013.
- 363.van Vliet N, Nasi R (2008) Why do models fail to assess properly the sustainability of duiker (*Cephalophus* spp.) hunting in Central Africa? Oryx, 42(3): 392.
- 364.van Vliet N, Nasi R, Abernethy K, Fargeot C, Ndong Obiang AM, Ringuet S (2012) Chapter 6: The role of wildlife for food security in Central Africa: a threat to biodiversity? In:de Wasseige C, de Marcken P, Bayol N, Hiol-Hiol F, Mayaux P, Desclee B, Nasi R, Billand A, Defourny P, Eba'a Atyi R, The Forest of the Congo Basin State of the Forest 2010. CIFOR (Center for International Forestry Research), Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union, pp.123-135.

- 365.Vastag B (2012) CDC expands 'bush meat' tests for viruses. Washington Post, January 14, 2012. Available: <u>http://www.washingtonpost.com/national/health-science/cdc-expands-bush-meat-testing-for-</u> viruses/2012/01/11/gIQAd9ZDzP story.html, Accessed: 14 Jan 2012.
- 366.Vosloo W, Bastos ADS, Sangare O, Hargreaves SK, Thomson GR (2002) Review of the status and control of foot and mouth disease in sub-Saharan Africa. Revue Scientifique Et Technique-Office International Des Epizooties, 21(3): 437-445.
- 367.Vosloo W, Dwarka RM, Bastos ADS, Esterhuysen JJ, Sahle M, Sangare O (2004) Molecular epidemiological studies of Foot-and-Mouth disease virus in sub-Saharan Africa indicate the presence of large numbers of topotypes: implications for local and international control. Report on the European Commission for the Control of Foot-and-Mouth Disease, Session of the Research Group of the Standing Technical Committee, Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations, Chania, Crete, Greece, pp.11-15.
- 368. Vynne C, Skalski JR, Machado RB, Groom MJ, Jacomo ATA, Marinho-Filho J, Ramos Neto MB, Pomilla C, Silveira L, Smith H, Wasser SK (2010) Effectiveness of scat-detection dogs in determining species presence in a tropical savanna landscape. Conservation Biology 25(1): 154-162.
- 369. Walsh PD, Abernethy KA, Bermejo M, Beyers R, De Wachter P, Akou ME, Huijbregts B, Mambounga DI, Toham AK, Kilbourn AM, Lahm SA, Latour S, Maisels F, Mbina C, Mihindou Y, Obiang SN, Effa EN, Starkey MP, Telfer P, Thibault M, Tutin CEG, White LJT, Wilkie DS (2003) Catastrophic ape decline in western equatorial Africa. Nature, 422(6932): 611-614.
- 370. Wang LF, Shi Z, Zhang S, Field H, Daszak P, Eaton BT (2006) Review of bats and SARS. Emerging infectious diseases, 12(12): 1834-1840.
- 371.Warner K, Walker Timme, BL, Hirshfield, M (2013) Oceana Study Reveals Seafood Fraud Nationwide. Oceana, 69p. Available: http://oceana.org/sites/default/files/reports/National_Seafood_Fraud_Testing_Results_EINAL.pdf

http://oceana.org/sites/default/files/reports/National_Seafood_Fraud_Testing_Results_FINAL.pdf, Accessed: 22 Apr 2013.

- 372. Wasser SK, Hayward LS, Hartman J, Booth RK, Broms K, Berg J, Seely E, Lewis L, Smith H (2012) Using Detection Dogs to Conduct Simultaneous Surveys of Northern Spotted (*Strix occidentalis caurina*) and Barred Owls (*Strix varia*). PLoS ONE 7(8): e42892.
- 373. Wasser SK (2008) Lucky dogs: Dogs sniff out scat from endangered animals, trumping more technical tracking methods. Natural History, October, pp.48-53.
- 374. Wasser SK, Smith H, Madden L, Marks N, Vynne C (2009) Scent Matching Dogs Determine Number of Unique Individuals from Scat. Journal of Wildlife Management 73(7): 1233-1240.
- 375. Watkiss P, Smith A (2005) CBA of Foot and Mouth Disease Control Strategies: Environmental Impacts. Report for Risk Solutions, AEA Technology (Environment), January 2005: ED51178001, 31p.
- 376. Watson I, Brashares J (2004) The bushmeat trade and fishing licence agreements in West Africa. Wildlife Policy Briefing, 4p. Available: <u>http://www.odi.org.uk/sites/odi.org.uk/files/odi-assets/publications-opinion-files/3304.pdf</u>, Accessed: 10 Apr 2013.
- 377.WHO (2014) Ebola Virus Disease Fact Sheet. World Health Organization, Available: <u>http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs103/en/</u>, Accessed: 21 Apr 2014.
- 378. Wilkie DS, Carpenter J (1999) Bushmeat hunting in the Congo Basin: an assessment of impacts and options for mitigation. Biodiversity and Conservation 8(7): 927-955.
- 379. Wilkie DS, Bennett EL, Peres CA, Cunningham AA (2011) The empty forest revisited. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1223(1): 120-128.
- 380.Willcox AS, Nambu DM (2007) Wildlife hunting practices and bushmeat dynamics of the Banyangi and Mbo people of Southwestern Cameroon. Biological Conservation, 134(2): 251-261.
- 381.Wilson RT (2012) FAO Diversification booklet 14; Small Animals for Small Farms. Rural Infrastructure and Agro-Industries Division, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations: Rome, Italy, 92p. Available: <u>http://www.fao.org/docrep/015/i2469e/i2469e00.pdf</u>, Accessed: 22 Mar 2012.
- 382. Wilson-Wilde L (2010) Combating wildlife crime Forensic Sci Med Pathol 6:149–150.
- 383.Wolfe ND, Switzer WM, Carr JK, Bhullar VB, Shanmugam V, Tamoufe U, Prosser AT, Torimiro JN, Wright A, Mpoudi-Ngole E, McCutchan FE, Birx DL, Folks TM, Burke DS, Heneine W (2004) Naturally acquired simian retrovirus infections in central African hunters. Lancet 363: 932-937.
- 384. Wolfe ND, Daszak P, Kilpatrick AM, Burke DS (2005) Bushmeat Hunting, Deforestation, and Prediction of Zoonotic Disease Emergence. Emerging Infectious Diseases 11(12): 1822-1827.

- 385. Wooldridge M, Hartnett E, Cox A, Seaman M. (2006) Quantitative risk assessment case study: smuggled meats as disease vectors. Revue Scientifique Et Technique-Office International Des Epizooties, 25(1): 105-117.
- 386.Wright JH, Priston NE (2010) Hunting and trapping in Lebialem Division, Cameroon: bushmeat harvesting practices and human reliance. Endangered species research, 11(1): 1-12.
- 387.WWF U.K. (2013) WWF: Rhino poaching increases 5000% since 2007. Available: http://www.wwf.org.uk/what we do/press centre/?unewsid=6819, Accessed: 22 Sep 2013.
- 388.Wyler LS, Sheikh PA, (2008) CRS Report for Congress; International illegal trade in wildlife: Threats and US policy, Updated August 22, 2008. Washington DC: Congressional Research Service, The Library of Congress, 52p. Available: <u>http://fpc.state.gov/documents/organization/110404.pdf</u>, Accessed 11 Jul 2012.
- 389.Wyler LS, Sheikh PA, (2013) CRS Report for Congress; International illegal trade in wildlife: Threats and US policy, July 23, 2013. Washington DC: Congressional Research Service, The Library of Congress, 26p. Available: <u>http://www.fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/RL34395.pdf</u>, Accessed: 23 Aug 2013.
- 390.Zisser B, Glaser D, Seggerman I (2012) Do You Know Where Your Seafood Comes From? (Seafood traceability in comparison to beef) Available: <u>http://oceana.org/sites/default/files/reports/Seafood_Traceability_Report_FINAL.pdf</u>, Accessed: 06 Jul 2012.
- 391.ZSL (2010) Illegal bushmeat trade rife in Europe. ZSL Institute of Zoology, 22 June 2010. Zoological Society of London, Available: <u>http://www.zsl.org/science/news/illegal-bushmeat-trade-rife-in-europe,715,NS.html</u>. Accessed 22 Jun 2010.
- 392.ZSL (Zoological Society of London) (2013a) Bushmeat Researche Programme. Zoological Society of London, Available: <u>http://www.zsl.org/science/research-projects/bushmeat,1159,AR.html</u>, Accessed: 02 Dec 2013.
- 393.ZSL (Zoological Society of London) (2013b). The UK Bushmeat Working Group. Zoological Society of London, Available: <u>http://www.zsl.org/conservation/regions/africa/bushmeat/the-bushmeat-working-group,547,AR.html</u>, Accessed: 02 Dec 2013.



© 2014 Tengwood Organization Postfach Hertistrasse 26 - 8304 Wallisellen – Switzerland <u>www.tengwood.org</u>